

Khidr, Sahand Kamal (2012) Biology and biological control potential of bethylid wasps. PhD thesis, University of Nottingham.

Access from the University of Nottingham repository:

http://eprints.nottingham.ac.uk/28813/1/588096.pdf

Copyright and reuse:

The Nottingham ePrints service makes this work by researchers of the University of Nottingham available open access under the following conditions.

This article is made available under the University of Nottingham End User licence and may be reused according to the conditions of the licence. For more details see: http://eprints.nottingham.ac.uk/end_user_agreement.pdf

A note on versions:

The version presented here may differ from the published version or from the version of record. If you wish to cite this item you are advised to consult the publisher's version. Please see the repository url above for details on accessing the published version and note that access may require a subscription.

For more information, please contact eprints@nottingham.ac.uk

Biology and Biological Control Potential of Bethylid Wasps

Sahand Kamal Khidr (MSc)

Thesis submitted to the University of Nottingham

for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

May 2012

i

Table of Contents

Table of Contentsii
List of Figuresviii
List of Tablesx
Abstractxi
Impact statementxi
Acknowledgementsxiii
Chapter 1: General introduction1
1.1 The aim of biological control1
1.1.1 Most selected organisms 2
1.1.2 Risks and requirements in biocontrol agents 2
1.2 Parasitoids and evolutionary studies4
1.2.1 Clutch size 6
1.2.2 Sex ratio
1.3 Parasitoid aggressive behaviour 10
1.4 Bethylid parasitoids 13
1.4.1 Biology of <i>Goniozus nephantidis</i> 15
1.4.2 Biology of Goniozus legneri16
1.5 Contest behaviour 16
1.5.1 Contest behaviour in Goniozus legneri and G. nephantidis
1.6 Proton Nuclear Magnetic Reasonance (NMR) and data analysis 21

1.8 From behavioural ecology to population biology and biocontrol. 24		
1.9 Summary of thesis structure 25		
1.9.1 Part one: Resource value, host quality and parasitoid age		
1.9.2 Part two: Kin recognition, aggressive behaviour and chemical cues		
1.9.3 Part three: Molecular genetics and sex ratios		
Chapter 2: Post-paralysis declines in host quality assessed by parasitoid behaviour, development and metabolomics		
2.1 Abstract 28		
2.2 Introduction 29		
2.2.1 Biology of the host-parasitoid study system		
2.3 Material & Methods 31		
2.3.1 Part 1: Longevity of paralysed hosts		
2.3.2 Part 2: Effects of host age on host weight, parasitoid reproductive behaviour and life-history		
2.3.3 Part 3: Effects of host age on parasitoid contest behaviour		
2.3.4 Part 4: Effects of host age on metabolomic state		
2.3.5 Data analysis		
2.4 Results		
2.4.1 Part 1: Longevity of paralysed hosts		
2.4.2 Part 2: Effects of host age on host weight, parasitoid reproductive behaviour and life-history		
2.4.2.1 Host weight change		

parasitoid aggression in resource competition
Chapter 3: Two components of kin recognition influence
2.6 Conclusions 54
2.5 Discussion 50
2.4.4 Part 4: Effects of host age on metabolomic state
2.4.3 Part 3: Effects of host age on parasitoid contest behaviour
2.4.2.6 Offspring size 41
2.4.2.5 Sex ratio 41
2.4.2.4 Developmental mortality 40
2.4.2.3 Clutch size
2.4.2.2 Host acceptance 38

3.1 Abstract 56
3.2 Introduction 57
3.3 Material & Methods 59
3.3.1 Parasitoids
3.3.2 Experiment 1: Identifying determinants of aggression
3.3.3 Experiment 2: Focussing on kin recognition determinants of aggression 61
3.3.4 Statistical analysis
3.4 Results
3.4.1 Experiment 1: Identifying determinants of aggression
3.4.2 Experiment 2: Focussing on kin recognition determinants of aggression 66
3.5 Discussion

3.6 Conclusion 72		
Chapter 4: Cuticular hydrocarbon profiles of <i>Goniozus</i> species and of hosts influence wasp aggressiveness73		
4.1 Abstract 73		
4.2 Introduction 74		
4.3 Material & Methods 76		
4.3.1 Parasitoids		
4.3.2 Culturing		
4.3.3 Sampling programme77		
4.3.4 Sample extraction		
4.3.5 Cuticular hydrocarbons analysis 78		
4.3.6 Statistical analysis		
4.4 Results 79		
4.5 Discussion 88		
4.6 Conclusion 90		
Chapter 5: The development of molecular genetic markers in bethylid wasps		
5.1 Abstract		
5.2 Introduction		
5.2.1 Biology of bethylids		
5.3 Material & Methods 95		

5.3.1 Parasitoid origins and cultures95	
5.3.2 Design and preparation of the primers	
5.3.3 DNA extraction	
5.3.4 Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR)100	
5.3.5 Agarose Gel Electrophoresis101	
5.3.6 Quantitation test of DNA templates and Goniozus individuals101	
5.3.7 Capillary sequencing: Preparing fragment samples for analysis101	
5.4 Results 102	
5.4.1 Primer design in the Microsatellite library102	
5.4.2 Annealing gradient tests102	
5.4.3 DNA quality test103	
5.4.4 Second round of PCR runs104	
5.4.5 Capillary sequencing105	
5.5 Discussion	
5.6 Conclusions	
Chapter 6: Primary and secondary sex ratios in a gregariou parasitoid	
6.1 Abstract114	
6.2 Introduction115	
6.3 Material & Methods117	
6.3.1 Host and parasitoid rearing117	
6.3.2 Primary sex ratio118	

6.3.2.1 Egg laying and DNA extraction118	
6.3.2.2 Establishment of a microsatellite marker for egg sexing118	
6.3.2.3 Polymerase Chain Reaction and gel preparation	
6.3.2.4 PCR products visualized on MetaPhor gel electrophoresis119	
6.3.3 Secondary sex ratio120	
6.3.4 Data analysis121	
6.4 Results 121	
6.4.1 Clutches laid121	
6.4.2 Primary sex ratio122	
6.4.3 Secondary sex ratio123	
6.4.4 Comparison between primary and secondary sex ratios129	
6.5 Discussion130	
6.6 Conclusions134	
Chapter 7: General Discussion and Conclusions	
7.1 Summary of results135	
7.2 Post-paralysis host age influence on Goniozus	
7.3 Agonistic behaviour in association with recognition	
7.4 Cuticular hydrocarbons in <i>Goniozus</i> sp138	
7.5 Microsatellite markers and Goniozus species140	
7.6 Precise sex allocation in parasitoid wasp141	
References142	

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Bethylid phylogeny according to Carr et al. (2010)
Figure 1.2 Goniozus females competing for Corcyra cephalonica host20
Figure 2.1 Cohort survival of paralysed hosts
Figure 2.2 The effect of initial weight and time since paralysis on the weight lost by surviving hosts
Figure 2.3 Probability of egg laying by female <i>G. nephantidis</i> when presented with hosts at different ages
Figure 2.4 Clutch size decisions in relation to host age and weight
Figure 2.5 Effect of host age on adult parasitoid mean dry weight
Figure 2.6 The influences of differences in wasp weight, host weight and host age on the outcomes of owner-owner contests
Figure 2.7 Typical 400 MHz NMR spectrum of aqueous caterpillar extract
Figure 2.8 Scores plot from principal component analysis illustrating clustering of host metabolic composition according to host age
Figure 3.1 Aggressiveness of female-female encounters
Figure 3.2 Effects of host sharing and genetic strain on the aggressiveness of female- female encounters
Figure 4.1 Total ion chromatogram examples showing the cuticular hydrocarbons of an adult female
Figure 4.2 Two dimensional scores plots from Principal component analysis of the cuticular hydrocarbon profiles
Figure 4.3 Two-dimensional loading plots from principal component analysis of the cuticular hydrocarbon profiles
Figure 5.1 Annealing gradient for G. legneri primers102

Figure 5.2 Annealing gradient for <i>G. nephantidis</i> primers103
Figure 5.3 Quality and quantity test for Goniozus DNA templates104
Figure 5.4 Quality and quantity test for individual Goniozus DNA templates104
Figure 5.5 Gel plate of PCR product for different primers of G. legneri
Figure 5.6 Gel plate of PCR product for different primers of G. nephantidis105
Figure 5.7 Examples of capillary tube analysis of primer 7
Figure 5.8 Examples of capillary tube analysis of primer 8
Figure 5.9 Dendogram showing relationship between and within populations of Goniozus legneri109
Figure 6.1 Molecular evaluation of clutch sexual composition
Figure 6.2 Relationships between sexual composition and offspring group size at oviposition
Figure 6.3 Sex ratios within major and minor sub-clutches

List of Tables

Т	Table 2.1 Factors affecting egg-to-adult survival
т	Table 2.2 Assignment of resonances observed in the 1H NMR spectra of caterpillars. 46
т	Table 2.3 Cross-validation results from partial least squares regression 48
т	Table 2.4 Spectral regions with the largest between-day metabolomic changes 49
Т	Table 3.1 Influences on the proportion of behaviours that were aggressive 63
T. W	Cable 3.2 Kin recognition components influenced the proportion of behaviours thatvere aggressive
Та	able 4.1 Inter-specific and inter-strain CHC profile variation
Та	able 4.2 Inter-sexual CHC profile variation 82
Та	able 4.3 Variation in CHC profile according to host species
Ta	able 5.1 Primers designed for <i>G. legneri</i>
Та	able 5.2 Primers designed for <i>G. nephantidis</i>
Та	able 5.3 The six polymorphic primers for <i>G. legneri</i> strains
Ta	able 6.1 Primary sexual composition of clutches laid by mated Goniozus legneri127
Ta /eg	able 6.2 Secondary sexual composition of broods produced by mated <i>Goniozus</i>

Abstract

This thesis presents a series of experiments on the evolutionary ecology of the reproduction, behaviour, chemical and molecular characteristics of bethylid wasps in the genus Goniozus. Part One investigates host quality by varying host age after paralysis. The quality of paralyzed hosts declines with time since paralysis negatively influences life-history characteristics of Goniozus nephantidis. Assessment of host metabolomic profiles show which chemicals change as hosts age. Part Two investigates the effect of kin recognition on contest behaviour among adult females of Goniozus legneri. Competitive behaviour was thus used to study the basis of kin recognition mechanisms. Wasps that are genetic kin and wasps that are reared on the same host behave less aggressively towards each other than do non-kin and nonhostmates. It is likely that cuticular hydrocarbon profiles are used by wasps in kin recognition. The environmental and genetic influences on wasp cuticular hydrocarbon profiles were explored: chemical composition differed according to both wasp species and host species. Part Three investigates genetic characteristics of Goniozus legneri populations on kin recognition behaviour. A molecular genetic marker system was developed for Goniozus species. Microsatellites showed clear polymorphism in six primer pairs and are likely to be a valuable tool in the future for closely related species. One of these markers was utilized to assess sex allocation at oviposition, thus avoiding potentially biasing influences of developmental mortality. Developmental mortality does not differ between the sexes but mortality increased sex ratio variance across offspring groups and can obscure relationships between sexual composition and group size that are present at oviposition. A tendency for Goniozus legneri to lay male and female eggs in spatial separation was also observed. Although the focus of these studies is on fundamental aspects of bethylid biology, advances in all of these areas have potential to enhance the deployment of these parasitoids in biological pest control.

Impact statement

The research reported here could enhance the economy and agricultural research in various aspects because *Goniozus* is used in various biological programmes as well as in evolutionary ecology research. Thus exploring different behaviours, chemical and molecular aspects could further boost scientific knowledge and applied biology

potential. For instance the use of Nuclear Magnetic Resonance could help to save time and costs associated with using different tests to assess the nutritional properties of hosts used in mass rearing programmes. This methodology can be applied to many different host-parasitoid associations. The development of molecular markers and assessment of cuticular hydrocarbon profiles for *Goniozus* has the potential to facilitate insect identification (there are well over 100 species belonging to this genus) especially when species identification on the basis of morphology may require detailed taxonomic training and the number of qualified museum professions appears to be dwindling. Investigations on factors (e.g. host size, host age, female size) that affect clutch size decisions can form the basis for useful advice for biocontrol practitioners on how to increase the reproductive potential of parasitoids to control pests.

Acknowledgments

All experimental chapters were conducted in collaboration with Dr Ian Hardy. Additional collaborators were: Dr Clare Daykin for Chapter 2, Dr Anne Lizé for Chapter 3, Dr Robert Linforth for Chapter 4, Dr Sean Mayes for Chapter 5 and 6.

The research was possible because of funds provided by the Government of the Kurdistan Region and scholarship of Ministry of Higher Education of Iraq. I also thank the University of Nottingham for the funds allocated towards conference fees for students.

Without the help of a great number of people I would never made it to this point. Above all I would like to thank my husband, Muzhda for leaving the job that he has such passion for for four years in order to accompany me, and my lovely children Lavin and Ahmad for their patience and smiles and my parents for their support and encouragement.

I would like to express my deepest and huge appreciation to Dr Ian Hardy for his excellent supervision, valuable guidance and marvellous statistical experience throughout the four year of my study; it was pleasure to work with you.

A big thanks to Sean Mayes for his dedication and guidance: without him the molecular work would not have been possible. I am very grateful to many people in Sean Mayes' laboratory: Fiona Wilkinson for technical help, Katie Mayes for her support, Nariman Ahmad, who inspired my interest in this work and answered my questions, and Julietta Marquez for technical assistance with both molecular work and for diligently maintaining the insect cultures, and also for her lovely chat. Chemical analyses would not have been possible without the help of Rob Linforth. Tania Zaviezo for help in obtaining Chilean strains of *Goniozus*. I further thank Helen West for her efforts as my internal assessor. I would like also to thank Mark Jervis for his valuable adivice as my external examiner.

I thank Sue Golds and Emma Hooley for excellent secretarial help. Many thanks also to my colleagues particularly Qasim, Haifa, Aras, Sophie and Apostolos.

Finally, thank you to all of the wasps who sacrificed their lives for the sake of science; your families would have been proud of you if I hadn't squashed them as well.

Chapter 1 : General introduction

1.1 The aim of biological control

The practice of human agriculture is thought to have started around 10,000 years ago (Tudge 1998, Hunter 2007). It is to be expected that agriculturalists will strive to improve both quality and production. In the present day, demand for enhanced food production is as topical as ever due to human population growth (Zeigler & Mohanty 2010, Ronald 2011). There has been a 'Green Revolution', which started in the late 1960s, to increase agricultural production around the World through adopting new strategies, such as the development of high-yielding varieties of cereal grains (Gaud 1968); it is though that there is probably now need for a second phase to this revolution (Zeigler & Mohanty 2010, Lucas 2011). Global food security involved both improved pruduction and improved protection of agricultural products (Ronald 2011, Benton et al. 2011, Gregory & George 2011). High proportions of produce may be lost to agricultural pest, both pre- and post harvest. Strategies of pest control have thus attracted a great deal of attention. Chemical control for pests might achieve higher yields but a major problem is that their toxicity has a negative impact on both humans as well as the environment in general (Pimentel et al. 1980). There are further reasons for finding alternative methods of chemical pesticides. For instance if biodiversity in agroecosystems declines, many natural enemies as well as pest species will be killed. This can lead to a resurgence of pest problems in the absence of natural enemies. Secondly the poisonous residues on food raise a major concern for food safety. Finally applying of powerful chemical agents might cause the appearance of resistant strains making pesticide application a poor long term solution (Hajek 2004).

Due to problems associated with chemical control, emphasis has been placed on alternative such as biological control. Biological control is the deliberate use of living organisms, termed natural enemies, to reduce the undesirable effects of pests and disease through regulating their population densities (Debach & Rosen 1991, Eilenberg et al. 2001). Natural enemies include parasitoids, predators and pathogens. The latter category includes micro-organisms such as fungi, nematodes, protozoa, bacteria and viruses (Lacey et al. 2001, Hajek 2004). Parasitoid species such as *Bracon hebetor* and *Cotesia glomerata* while predators such as *Coccinella septeumpunctata* and *Rodolia cardinalis* have been frequently used. These natural enemies have the

potential to maintain the pest population below the economic damage threshold within the released environment.

The use of biological control began to attain wide attention when introduction of the vedalia beetle, *Rodolia cardinalis*, against cottony cushion scale (*Icerya purchase*) infestations saved the Californian citrus industry in the late 19th Centuary (Caltagirone and Doutt 1989). In general biological control can be considered a relatively cheap method in which the benefits far outweigh the costs when it is successful with potentially minimal effects on the environment and little or no health risk to humans.

1.1.1 Most selected organisms

Hymenoptera parasitoids appear to be the most effective natural enemies and more than half successful biological control programmes conducted by these organisms (Greathead 1986, Murphy & Moore 1990, Debach & Rosen 1991, Wajnberg & Hassan 1994, Mason & Huber 2001, Jervis 2005). Coccinellid beetles (order Coleoptera) are the most successful predators and have been introduced numerous times as a biological control agents to control arthropod pests in a range of agroecosystems (Caltagirone & Doutt 1989, Grill et al. 1997).

Regarding the pathogenic groups, the bacteria *Bacillus thuringiensis* is considered not only the most successful pathogen but also the most sold biopesticide (Kharbade et al. 1998, Hansen & Salamitou 2000, Lacey et al. 2001). Other microbial natural enemies such as fungus groups (especially, *Beauvaria bassiana* and *Metarhizium anisopliae*) have been used extensively due to their ability to penetrate the target insect's integument (Ihara et al. 2003, Akbar et al. 2004, Gindin et al. 2006).

1.1.2 Risks and requirements in biocontrol agents

Ecologists interested in the effect of biological control and its impact on the environment have shown that using this approach is not without its problems, especially during the implementation of classical biocontrol. In classical biological control, foreign natural enemies are deliberately imported from one region to another to control previously introduced, or native, pests. Indeed, the introduction of exotic natural enemies in order to control a specific pest species might have a negative outcome on the non-target species (Stiling & Simberloff 1999, Follett & Duan 2000) which in turn have intricate consequences on the ecosystem and food web linkages (Simberloff 1992, McEvoy 1996, Thomas & Willis 1998, Louda et al. 2003, Memmott 2000, Henneman & Memmott 2001, McCoy & Frank 2010).

In order to evaluate the jeopardy associated with biocontrol programmes a series of tests was proposed to give an insight of how to establish a concrete strategy to make it more specific as well as safer (Frank 1998, McEvoy & Coombs 1999, Louda et al. 2003, van Lenteren et al. 2003). Thus, there are certain basic criteria that should be available in the organism that will be used as a biocontrol agent, such as short development life cycle in accordance to the pest and their efficiency in reproduction (Huffaker & Messenger 1976, Debach & Rosen 1991). Furthermore, when natural enemies selected should take in consideration how feasible it is to mass rear them in the laboratory in order to be ready for release into the field when necessary. However, to achieve satisfactory results, it is always recommended to execute a sequence of investigation before their release in to the novel ecosystem (Waage 2001, Arnett & Louda 2002, Kidd & Jervis 2005).

On the other hand, eventually if the natural enemies passed successfully through the tests another question will arise whether to release a single or multiple species to control the herbivorous pests (Smith 1929, Watt 1965, Myers et al. 1989, Denoth et al. 2002, Batchelor et al. 2005). Still it is not completely clear if expanding in the natural enemies' biodiversity will lead to stengthen or weakness in the method.

Several researchers have compared single and multiple species releases (Denoth et al. 2002, Matsumoto et al. 2003, Snyder et al. 2008). The supporters of single release justify their approach by stating that releasing multiple species will increase their interference and decrease their effectiveness (Myers et al. 1989, Ferguson & Stiling 1996, Wen & Brower 1995, Rosenheim et al. 1999, Snyder & Ives 2001, Denoth et al. 2002, Pedersen & Mills 2004, Batchelor et al. 2005, Batchelor et al. 2006). Consequently the combined effect of multiple species might negatively affect the biological control process rather than improving it.

Those in favour of multiple releases defend their attitude on the basis that utilising a range of enemy species promote for each other which enriches the community stability when they operate additively with each other to suppress herbivorous densities and tend to attack different life stage of the host (Kindlmann & Ruzicka 1992, Bogran et al. 2002, Wilby et al. 2005, Snyder et al. 2006). However, either type

of release might not be sufficient alone to suppress and regulate the pest's population below the economic threshold level. Thus, natural enemy release might usefully be combined with various pest management practices such as cultural and chemical control in a compatible manner. This offers long term solutions and helps to achieve the best management as a part of integrated pest management (IPM) (Hendricks 1995, Miranda et al. 2005, Subaharan & Ravindran 2009). Further, improving the success rate of biological control might be achieved via an understanding of the evolutionary ecology of life-history and behavioural characteristics such as, contest behaviour, clutch size, sex ratio, effects of host quality and their consequences for population biology.

1.2 Parasitoids and evolutionary studies

Parasitoids occur in several different insect orders the Hymenoptera, Lepidoptera, Diptera and Coleoptera (Clausen 1940). However, hymenopteran parasitoids are by far the most numerically dominant group, with more than 65,000 species described (Gordh et al. 1999).

Parasitoid wasps produce offspring by depositing their eggs on or in suitable host organisms. Female parasitoids usually paralyze the host prior to parasitism by injecting venom via the ovipositor in order to restrict the hosts' movement temporarily or permanently. In case of temporary paralysis (koinobiosis), the host continues to grow and feed so that the offspring's fitness (such as the adult size, longevity, searching ability and egg supplies) will be reliant on the host's growth. While with permanent paralysis (idiobiosis), the progeny must develop using the resource present at the time of attack (Askew & Shaw 1986, Godfray 1994). These parasitoids collectively are termed koinobiont and idiobiont respectively.

Ectoparasitoids lay eggs onto hosts; because their development is external and they commonly live in protected places. Endoparasitoids develop inside the hosts and the host may be found in more exposed places. Both kinds of development can be either 'solitary', when only one larva emerges from each host, or 'gregarious', when more than one offspring develop from a single host. Nevertheless, living alone or in groups the larvae would feed on the host to complete development and kill the host at the end.

Solitary parasitoids often display aggressive larval behaviour e.g. through the use of mandibles and high level of competition among progeny when more than one egg is laid into a host. Consequently only one larva can be successful and manage to survive to adulthood (Salt 1961, Godfray 1987, Marris & Casperd 1996, Mock & Parker 1997). In gregarious parasitoids within-brood competition is less intense and many individuals can develop successfully on the same host (Godfray 1994, Quicke 1997, Mayhew & Hardy 1998).

In most parasitoid species the number of the offspring developing in or on the host is under the mother control during the oviposition but later lethal contest might interfere between siblings during their development stages and their number might reduce significantly. There are also other sources of development mortality that may operate such as encapsulation by hosts, infanticide by adult parasitoids or death due to intrinsic genetic defects (Godfray 1994, Netting and Hunter 2000, Kapranas et al. 2011). An interesting case of limited maternal control occurs in polyembryonic wasps when the mother deposit a single egg or two eggs but later their numbers will increase clonally to several, hundreds or even thousands of genetically identical individuals (Doutt 1947, Ode & Strand 1995).

In accordance to the mode of egg production, parasitoids can be classified as: (1) Proovigenic, in which the life-time complement of eggs is matured ahead of adult emergence (Jervis & Kidd 1986, Jervis & Copland 1996). The ecological condition behind this incidence such as the influence of the egg and adult size in relation to total resource allocation and travel costs has been tentatively investigated by mathematical modelling (Ellers & Jervis 2004). (2) Synovigenic, when females have few ripe eggs upon emergence and can mature further eggs and maintain their egg supply during the life span. The majority of parasitoid species are synovigenic (Jervis et al. 2001, Ellers et al. 2000).

Parasitoids can occur in different trophic levels of food chains with respect to the kind of host they attack. Primary parasitoids usually attack free-living hosts while secondary and tertiary parasitoids can hyper-parasitize both primary and secondary parasitoids subsequently (Godfray 1994, Harvey et al. 2009). In addition, facultative hyper-parasitoids can be distinguished from obligate hyper-parasitoids by their optional development on another parasitoid or on the free-living host, while the

obligate can develop only as hyper-parasitoids (Gordh 1981, Sullivan 1987, Pérez-Lachaud et al. 2004).

With respect to host development, the immature stages (e.g. egg, larva, pupa) are usually more sensitive to attack by parasitoids, although a combination of more than one stage may be utilised. However, rarely some species might attack the adult stage (Clausen et al. 1927, Espinosa et al. 2009). Similar to developing on different host stages, some parasitoids can develop on different host species and called polyphagus parasitoids, while oligophagus parasitoids can develop on limited number of host species. Further, monophagus parasitoid can attack a single specific host species only.

For all the aforementioned diversity in their behaviour, parasitoids are often regarded as good 'model' organisms in evolutionary studies. Thus, there has been enormous interest in examining the fitness consequences associated with variations in clutch size and sex ratio strategies in parasitoids.

1.2.1 Clutch size

Decades of research on clutch size in animals have provided valuable insights into both behavioural ecology and life-history strategies through testing hypotheses (Lack 1947, Godfray et al. 1991, Hardy et al. 1992, Wilson & Lessells 1994, Renison et al. 2002).

The pioneering studies of Lack (1947) on birds opened wide scope for further investigation on the evolution of clutch size. The well known concept of the Lack clutch size assumes that a mother depositing a clutch of eggs should maximise the fitness of each group of young. Also the resource quality will affect the clutch decision; as a result smaller clutches are predicted for lower quality resources. Consequently this hypothesis was later applied to other taxa such as parasitoids (Charnov & Skinner 1985, Parker & Begon 1986, Ives 1989, Godfray et al. 1991, Godfray 1994).

When there is a trade-off between current and future reproductive success, mothers will be selected to deposit smaller clutches than the Lack clutch size. For instance, when hosts were plentiful and there is a cost in time to depositing eggs, it is advantageous for the mother to spend less time producing each clutch and then seeks another host. As a result fewer eggs will be produced on each host (Charnov &

Skinner 1984, Skinner 1985). Reproduction of the parasitoids may also be constrained by the availability of eggs (Waage & Godfray 1985, Jervis 2005).

Cluch size decisions are important to all animals, because the optimal number of eggs laid by the mother is closely associated with the progenies quality (Smith & Fretwell 1974, Wilson 1994, Godfray 1994). Therefore, often when the number of eggs in a clutch is increased the individual's fitness (in terms of survivorship, body size and fecundity) will decrease, which indicates that better-provisioned offspring are fitter (Hardy et al. 1992, Stearns 1992, Mangel et al. 1994, Zaviezo & Mills 2000).

A positive relationship between fitness and body size is often observed among insect parasitoids (Hardy et al. 1992, Godfray 1994, Vet et al. 1994, West et al. 1996, Ellers et al. 1998, Rivero & West 2002) and in turn body size might be used as a correlates to components of fecundity.

1.2.2 Sex ratio

The evolution of sex allocation is one of the most prolific domains of behavioural ecology research and investigates various factors that might influence an organism's reproductive decisions with respect to producing male and female progeny (Charnov 1982, Hardy 2002, West 2009). Hymenopteran parasitoids have provided excellent opportunities to examine basic structure of sex determination due to (haplodiploid arrhenotoky) in which (in the majority of species) female offspring develop from fertilized (diploid) eggs inheriting both paternal and maternal genetic material, while males develop from unfertilized (haploid) eggs receiving only the maternal chromosomes (Flanders 1965, Crozier 1977, Cook 1993a, Ode & Hardy 2008, Mateo Leach et al. 2009). In view of the fact that mated female parasitoids store sperm in a spermatheca, as a result the decision to determine the sexes of their progeny to some extent will be mediated via opening or closing of the spermathecal valve to produce female or male offspring (e.g. Flanders 1965, Suzuki et al. 1984, Godfray 1994, Ode & Rosenheim 1998).

Within haplodiploid arrhenotokous species, the optimal investment into female and male offspring is a sophisticated problem due to the occurrence of complex life histories of some species (Cook & Crozier 1995, Butcher et al. 2000b, Ode & Hunter 2002, West 2009). Mating systems may be constrained by different genetic

mechanisms such as the presence of complementary sex determination (CSD) (Whiting 1939, Cook 1993a, Cook & Crozier 1995, Butcher et al. 2000a). Under CSD the sex of offspring is determined by allelic segregation either in single polymorphic locus termed (slCSD) or in multiple loci (mlCSD) (Whiting 1943, Crozier 1977, Cook 1993a, Ode & Hardy 2008, Zhou et al. 2006).

As a result, diploid individuals that are heterozygous at one or more loci would produce female progeny, while diploid fertilized and haploid unfertilized individual would develop into males if they are homozygous or hemizygous at all of the sex determining loci. In addition, diploid male embryos might not survive development or reproduce as adults; adult diploid males posses diploid sperm would generate triploid progeny, which have both low viability and fitness (Whiting 1961, Petters & Mettus 1980, Naito & Suzuki 1991, Ross et al. 1993, Cook & Crozier 1995, Liebert et al. 2005, de Boer et al. 2007).

Due to the fact that diploid males will occur only between matched mating (when the male and female share the same sex alleles) inbreeding for many generations can increase the chances of generating diploid males (Adams et al. 1977, van Wilgenburg et al. 2006, Heimpel & de Boer 2008, Ode & Hardy 2008). However, this is not the case for all parasitoid species, for instance continuously maintaining inbred lines of *Goniozus nephantidis* in laboratory for many generations did not establish any sign of diploid males or altered mortality which would indicate CSD (Cook 1993b); many hymenopteran species utilize different sex determination systems which appear to have replaced CSD (Cook 1993a). Therefore, diploid detection in population can be quite straightforward though comparing brood size and sex allocation to both sexes between inbreeds and non-inbreeds (Beukeboom et al. 2000).

Various hypotheses concerning what might influence sex ratios have been explored since Darwin's time. In fact, the first well known and formal contribution in to sex allocation theory was by Fisher in which he assumed that a balanced sex investment ratio should evolve in any panmictic population regardless the cost associated with the production of each sex (Fisher 1930). A key further advance was developed by Hamilton (1967) when he linked sex allocation optima to variation within a mating system and explained the divergence from equal investment ratios often seen in some (mainly) invertebrate systems. Hamilton's theory predicts female biased sex ratios under moderate or high degrees of local mating competition (LMC), due to the fact

that such bias reduces competition among related males as well as increasing the availability of mates for sons (Ode et al. 1998). As in patches with surplus sons, the male competition for access to their sisters might escalate to fatal injuries during the combat (Murray 1987, Abe et al. 2003). Further, fragmented habitats would promote LMC; for example, high dispersal of host patches may result in low foundress numbers which in turn would promote low probability of finding non-siblings. On the other hand, under LMC, sisters that emerge in patches lacking brothers have zero fitness because they are constrained to producing only sons. Thus, mothers are predicted to reduce the bias in their progeny sex ratios (approaching 1:1 ratio) when there are more mothers (foundresses) producing offspring in the patch (Hamilton 1967, Taylor 1981).

Another key sex allocation theory predicts the response to host quality (Charnov et al. 1981). This model can be applied to many aspects of the host quality, such as age, size, nutritional status and host species. Thus, in accordance to hosts' quality and the rate of fitness returns by each sex, on low quality resource, the male would bring more fitness to the mother than the female while on high quality hosts daughters more likely to increase the rate of fitness return the mother (Charnov 1982). Furthermore, the correlation between host size and sex allocation has been demonstrated in many parasitoid species (King 1993, Godfray 1994, Napoleon & King 1999, West 2009). Host age prior to parasitoid attack has also been shown to have a profound impact on sex allocation: a high proportion of females were deposited by the mother on younger hosts (King 1990, Ode & Strand 1995).

Despite the above mentioned theories, there are many genetic distorters that might shift sex ratio in hymenopteran parasitoids towards the transmitted sex in favour of females (Skinner 1982, Rousset et al. 1992, Stouthamer & Kazmer 1994, Ode & Hardy 2008 since the maternal genetic element would probably pass on to subsequent generation through egg cytoplasm (Bull 1983, Hurst 1993).

Thus, the most apparent mechanism for over production of female progenies is usually associated with maternity inherited microbes transmitted via cytoplasm and target male offspring (Hurst 1991, Stouthamer & Kazmer 1994, Hurst et al. 2003). Further, many selected male killing organims such as *Wolbachia* and *Arsenophonus nasoniae* would function mostly during embryonic stages and infected foundress recording high degree of differential mortality among the progeny (Huger et al. 1985, Hurst 1991,

Stouthamer et al. 1993, Balas et al. 1996, Groenenboom & Hogeweg 2002, Engelstädter & Hurst 2007).

The *Wolbachia* bacteria might cause another kind of distortion while present in the ovaries through sterile crosses termed as cytoplasmic incompatability (Breeuwer et al. 1992, Stouthamer et al. 1993, Stouthamer et al. 1999). Thus, this would not only detect when mating process occurs between the uninfected eggs and infected sperms but also when crosses occur between both infected sexes harbouring different *Wolbachia* strains (Hoffman & Turelli 1997, Werren & O'Neill 1997, Dedeine et al. 2001).

Alternatively, the inheritance of parental genetic material through sperm in few parasitoids might deviate the sex ratio or resource allocation towards male progenies only (e.g. Hunter et al. 1993, Stouthamer et al. 2001, Werren & Stouthamer 2003, Tram et al. 2006). Thus, diploid females would alter to haploid males due to losing the paternal chromosome during early development of fertilized eggs (Werren et al. 1987, 1988, Nur et al. 1988).

All the evaluation of parasitoid sex ratios in the majority of studies has relied on counting the adult offspring of each sex based on morphological characteristics. However, sex ratio at maturity (termed secondary sex ratio) might not be the same as the sex ratio at sex allocation (the primary sex ratio) due to mortality of offspring at the egg, larval or pupal stages. Developmental mortality may alter the variance in sex ratios or may affect one sex more commonly than the other (Smith & Shaw 1980, Nagelkerke & Hardy 1994, van Baaren et al. 1999, Krackow et al. 2002, Kapranas et al. 2011, Khidr et al. submitted, Chapter 6).

1.3 Parasitoid aggressive behaviour

Parasitoids may be aggressive as adults as well as as immature (Godfray 1994). The kinship between individuals might have potential impact on parasitoids behaviour in many aspects. Female parasitoids can evaluate and recognize their kin via both genetic and environmental signals (Gamboa 2004, Lizé et al. 2012, Chapter 3). Kin selection theory suggests that a genetic trait may be preferred even if it is not beneficial to the actors direct fitness, provided that the fitness of the recipient which

shared its genes would be adequately increased (i.e. indirect fitness) (Hamilton 1964b, Grafen 1984, Frank 1998, Griffin & West 2002).

The individual's relatives usually help each other to increase their fitness directly or indirectly in accordance to their level of relatedness. Thus, by assisting a close relative to reproduce, simultaneously an individual itself can increase its inclusive fitness indirectly due to the fact that its genes would be carried by the progeny of its kin to the next generation (Hamilton 1963, 1964). This suggests that individuals should be less aggressive, and more altruistic, towards closer relatives.

However, according to the model developed by (Taylor 1992, see also West et al. 2001, 2002), an excessively high level of kin competition might occur due to resource competition. This might reduce the advantage of being relatives and show more aggressiveness towards each other in comparison with unrelated species.

In general, to increase the survival rate or reproductive success in organisms, the contestants show agonistic behaviour towards conspecifics (Wilson 1975). The outcome of the contest might be resolved either when physical interaction involved in the behaviour such as biting, fighting or stinging in parasitoid wasps (Goubault et al. 2007a) or when sending different signals such as chemical to settle the contest without any direct bodily involvement (Bossert & Wilson 1963, Wilson 1975).

On the other hand, the ability to recognise and discriminate kin may influence the interference between related individuals competing for a given resource. Thus, the intensity of aggressiveness might depend on the degree of relatedness between individuals involved in the interaction. The influence of competition on altruism/selfish behaviour expression between related individuals has been addressed in few empirical studies (e.g. West et al. 2001, Giron et al. 2004, Segoli et al. 2009b).

According to Gadagkar (1985) and Pfennig and Sherman (1995) kin discrimination can be either inherited genetically through allele's recognition and phonotypical cues or via interaction between individuals within the environment. But it is worth mentioning that the mechanism behind how insects can discriminate conspecifics in accordance to genetic relatedness and environmental cues is still not completely understood for many species, though was well explored in some such as social *Polistes* wasps (Gamboa et al. 1986a). In general different cues might be associated with this

recognition. Chief among these are olfactory cues that can be transferred through the food resource (Downs & Ratnieks 1999).

The odour released from the host might assist parasitoids' orientation during their foraging and because of its small biomass they have capability to emit volatiles in the nanogram range (Turlings et al. 1995). Furthermore, parasitoids do not only display innate responses towards some food signals, but also they have capability to learn cues in order to improve their efficiency in finding foods and hosts (Takasu & Lewis 1995). Indeed, siblings developing on the same host can use smells associated with the host to recognise each other (Howard et al. 2001, Nash et al. 2008). Thus, discrimination between nestmate and non-nestmates did not occur when individuals were reared under similar controlled environmental conditions (Gamboa et al. 1986 b).

Cuticular hydrocarbons (CHCs), which primarily serve to reduce desiccation in insects (Edney 1977, Hadley 1981, Blomquist & Bagnères 2010), are considered as a vital element for kin recognition (Carlin & Hölldobler, 1986, Tsutsui et al. 2003, Dronnet et al. 2006). Consequently, CHCs can be used in communication system for species, gender and colony recognition (Haverty et al. 1990, Smith & Breed 1995, Singer 1998, Howard & Blomquist 2005, Lucas et al. 2005, Bagnères & Wicker-Thomas 2010).

The insect's integument (primarily the epicuticle) commonly consists of three major hydrocarbon compounds which are n-alkanes, olefins and methylalkanes (Lockey 1991). In social insects, cues used in kin discrimination rely on olfaction and are frequently associated with epicuticular hydrocarbons (Hölldobler & Michener 1980, Hepper 1986, Howard 1993, Lorenzi et al. 1997, Ozaki et al. 2005). The eusocial paper wasp *Polistes fuscatus* has the potential to distinguish nestmates from non-relatives through nests' odour secreted by the queen (Singer 1998).

Moreover, the learned odor would use by the wasp as a template to identify the relatives (Singer & Espelie 1992, 1996). The kin recognition between *Pachycondyla apicalis* takes place by transferring secretions either by sexual meeting or interaction with older nestmates (Soroker et al. 1998). In addition, old nestmates preferred communication with mates exposed to nest hydrocarbons rather than when they emerge while the chemical is not present (Singer & Espelie 1996).

Their major role as recognition cues can be associated with their chemical stability, low volatility and structural diversity allowing a great variability in the cuticular compound composition (Blomquist et al. 1987, Dani et al. 2001). It is generally the more common and abundant chemical surface found on the cuticle (Blomquist et al. 1987, Howard 1993).

In addition, the CHCs might play a dynamic role as chemical camouflage through imitating the cuticular hydrocarbons of the host by the insect attacker, which the organism either biosynthesis the cuticular hydrocarbons or obtain it through contact with the host (vander Meer et al. 1982, vander Meer et al. 1989, Dettner & Liepert 1994). Thus, some parasitoids hydrocarbons closely resemble the host they reared on and share majority of hydrocarbons in order to incorporate in to their life (Howard et al. 1980, Howard 1993, Howard et al. 2001). Nonetheless, both bethylid parasitoids *Cepalonomia waterstoni* and *Laelius utilis* to some extent illustrate different hydrocarbon compositions from their hosts (Howard 1992).

Furthermore, many researches revealed that the cuticular hydrocarbon composition of many parasitoid wasps was different between the sexes as well as different age classes (Howard 1992, Syvertsen et al. 1995, Howard & Infante 1996). Associations between social behaviour exhibition and family Bethylidae have been observed in some studies since early times (Evans 1964, Casale 1991). However, the profile changes of bethylid wasps in response to cuticular hydrocarbons observed more clearly when the wasp reared on different host larvae (Howard & Pérez-Lachaud 2002).

The aforementioned examples confirm that the cuticular hydrocarbon profile of insects is flexible and capable of transformation in accordance to environmental, ontogenetic, physiological and nutritional factors (Lockey 1988, Howard 1993, Howard et al. 1995, Howard & Pérez-Lachaud 2002).

1.4 Bethylid parasitoids

The Bethylidae is one of the most distributed families of aculeate wasps (order Hymenoptera) (Gordh et al. 1983, Gauld & Bolton 1988). The family is thought to include more than 4000 described and undescribed species (Gordh & Móczár 1990, Polaszek & Krombein 1994). Research by Evans (1964) suggests that those species

mostly belong to four broad subfamilies which are Bethylinae, Pristocerinae, Epyrinae and Mesitiinae. In addition, the relationships between these subfamilies have been studied in accordance to their morphological characters (Sorg 1988, Carpenter 1999). However, more recently (and possibly accurately) the higher level phylogeny of bethylid wasps has been estimated using molecular analysis and divided the family to five major subtaxa (Carr et al. 2010).



Figure 1.1 Bethylid phylogeny according to Carr et al. (2010).

Bethylid species mostly develop gregariously on the immature stages of Lepidoptera and Coleoptera (Evans 1978, Hawkins & Gordh 1986, Gauld & Bolton 1988, Gordh & Móczár 1990). Besides, they are considered as beneficial insects that have been used to attack a number of economically important crops and orchard pests worldwide; e.g. coffee, coconut, walnut, sugarcane, almond and palm. Consequently, bethylids have been used in a range of biological control programmes with some promising results (Legner & Silveira-Guido 1983, Greathead 1986, Murphy & Moore 1990, Smith et al. 1994, Lyla et al. 2006).

The females deposit eggs externally on paralyzed hosts, often with an attempt to lay them on precise locations (Gordh & Hawkins 1981, Peter & David 1991). Eggs develop to immotile larvae which feed via punctures in the host's integument and within few days pupate near the host. Soon the adult wasp emerges, varying in size usually from 1 to 10mm depending on the species. Thus, Bethylid wasps have relatively short life cycle. The sex ratio of emerging progeny is usually female biased (Hamilton 1967, Griffiths & Godfray 1988, Hardy & Mayhew 1998, Hardy et al. 1998). Moreover, the distribution of sex ratio variance is usually less than binomial (Green et al. 1982, Griffiths & Godfray 1988, Hardy & Cook 1995, Hardy et al. 1998).

Mothers of many bethylid species are distinguished by significant maternal care towards of their broods. They not only remain with the brood while it develops but also might aggressively defend their offspring against the action of both conspecific and allospecific females (Doutt 1973, Hardy & Blackburn 1991, Peterson & Hardy 1996, Goubault et al. 2007b). Maternal care probably contributes towards the relatively low offspring development mortality among broods (Gordh & Móczár 1990, Hardy & Blackburn 1991, Hardy et al. 1998).

1.4.1 Biology of Goniozus nephantidis

Goniozus nephantidis (Muesebeck) (Hymenoptera: Bethylidae) is a gregarious ectoparasitoid on the black headed caterpillar *Opisiana arenosella* (Walker). The caterpillar is a major pest that attacks different stages of coconut palms in India, Sri Lanka, Bangladesh and Myanmar (Cock & Perera 1987, Perera et al. 1988). The wasp can be reared on several substitute hosts; such as *Corcyra cephalonica* and *Galleria melonella* (Hardy & Blackburn 1991, Cook 1993b, Chandrika & Shameer 2003, Venkatesan et al. 2004). *Corcyra cephalonica* has been tested and used to maintain the parasitoid in culture effectively in many laboratory based experiments over the past 20 years (Kapadia & Mittal 1986, Hardy & Blackburn 1991, Hardy et al. 1992, Humphries et al. 2006). Thus, regarded as appropriate and economically valuable host for *Goniozus* mass production (Venkatesan et al. 2007).

On finding a suitable host, the female paralyzes the caterpillar and then lays between 3-18 elongate eggs 1-3 days later onto the integument of the larva (Dharmaraju & Pradhan 1977, Hardy et al. 1992, Peterson & Hardy 1996). Females are capable of parasitizing more than one host and total eggs laid might reach more than 100 during the female's life time under laboratory conditions (Antony & Kurian 1960, Hardy et al. 1992). After laying a clutch of eggs the female will typically guard the offspring during their development until the pupal stage (Antony & Kurian 1960, Cock & Perera 1987, Remadevi et al. 1981, Goubault et al. 2007b). Maternal care increases the

survivorship of developing offspring because *O. arenosella* larvae are susceptible to attack from different competitive pathogens, predators and parasitoids, including conspecific ovicide (Dharmaraju 1962, Cock & Perera 1987, Hardy & Blackburn 1991, Goubault et al. 2007b). The sex ratios of broods of *G. nephantidis* are typically highly female biased (proportion of offspring that are males is approximately 0.093) with low variance, almost certainly due to high levels of local mate competition (Hardy & Cook 1995, Hardy et al. 1999).

1.4.2 Biology of Goniozus legneri

The parasitoid wasp *Goniozus legneri* Gordh (Hymenoptera: Bethylidae) is an idiobiont gregarious ectoparasitoid of many important crop pests in several new world agroecosystems (Legner & Silveira-Guido 1983, Legner & Gordh 1992, Steffan et al. 2001, Zaviezo et al. 2007). *Goniozus legneri* are effective in attacking lepidopteran larvae especially of almond, pistachio, apple and walnuts (Steffan et al. 2001, Zaviezo et al. 2007).

On finding a host a female deposits 1-20 eggs onto the host's surface approximately 24h later after paralysis with larger clutches laid onto larger hosts (Gordh et al. 1983, Hardy et al. 1998). Females remain with their broods for several days post-oviposition to protect them and their offspriong against the detrimental actions of conspecifics (Goubault et al. 2006, Bentley et al. 2009). Development to adulthood takes approximately two weeks, development mortality in this species is estimated to be about 12% (Gordh et al. 1983, Hardy et al. 1998). Brood sex ratios are typically female biased (81-91% of adult offspring are female), with low variance, probably due to high levels of local mate competiion (Gordh et al. 1983, Hardy et al. 2008, 2000), but all-female broods are sometimes produced due to the development mortality of males (Hardy et al. 1998). Newly matured females usually disperse around 24h after eclosion to search for suitable hosts (Hardy et al. 2000).

1.5 Contest behaviour

Extensive evidence suggests that large numbers of animal species might compete with conspecific and allospecific individuals via direct agonistic interactions. Many game theoretical models have examined factors resolving the contest outcomes between individuals (Hammerstein 1981, Maynard Smith 1982, Mesterton-Gibbons 1992,

Sigmund 1993). Fighting behaviour might vary in response to the target resource whether it is food, territories or mates (Huntingford & Turner 1987, Blanckenhorn 1991, West at al. 2001, Kemp & Alcock 2003, Lindström & Pampoulie 2005, Kokko et al. 2006).

Moreover, when pairs of animal compete for an indivisible resource, contest decisions are expected to be based upon resource value, ownership status, costs and benefits, relatedness between rivals as well as fighting ability (Leimar & Enquist 1984, Enquist & Leimar 1987, West et al. 2001, Bentley et al. 2009). Usually there is positive relationship between fighting ability and body size, energy reserves, weaponry, acoustic signals that make it powerful fighter (Enquist & Leimer 1990, Mason 1996, Briffa & Elwood 2000, Taylor et al. 2001, Davidson & Wilkinson 2004, Hsu et al. 2006).

On the other hand, even if the individual has all the necessary requirements to be a good fighter, it seems sensible to consider carefully the relative costs and benefits behind this conflict. Thus, escalations of aggressiveness behaviour were envisaged in situation where the benefits of winning are potentially high relative to future expectation (Maynard Smith & Price 1973, Enquist & Leimar 1990). Some form of dangerous fighting might result in the death of one of the contestants (Hamilton 1979, Cook 2005). Other combats might cause injuries that affects individual's future fitness and posed it to the risk of predation (Clutton-Brock et al. 1979, Briffa & Sneddon 2007).

The combination of both ownership status (whether it is prior owner of the resource or intruder) and fighting ability components are termed resource-holding potential (RHP) (Parker 1974, Maynard Smith & Parker 1976, Hammerstein 1981). There are many models in response to RHP; for instance, the self-assessment model, which predicts that the individual will only assess the quality of their own RHP (Taylor et al. 2001, Prenter et al. 2006, Garland & Kelly 2006). In this case weaker contestants, with smaller RHP, will be inclined to give up the combat autonomously and without gathering information on the rivals RHP. While the mutual-assessment model predicts that decision whether to continue the fight or not would be based on not only information about its own abilities but also on the quality of their opponents (Enquist & Jakobsson 1986, Stuart-Fox 2006). Individuals appear to evaluate their rivals' capabilities through cues and direct contact with each other during the fighst as they

escalate. Thus, they might withdraw from the combat when they estimate that they are unlikely to win.

In addition, there is a cumulative assessment model which is similar to self assessment in which no direct strategies involved to evaluate opponent RHP, but they can still terminate their decision in accordance to information on opponents and greater RHP impose higher costs (Payne 1998, Briffa & Elwood 2000). So withdrawal and termination of the fight would depend on both contestants own RHP.

The method by which contestants evaluate each other's fighting ability might be associated with signals without direct physical interaction (Wilson 1975). In fact, repeating signals several times might enhance the individual's accuracy regarding its opponent potential via transferring information (Enquist & Leimer 1983, Enquist et al. 1990, Leimar et al. 1991). According to Payne and Pagel (1997), signals repeated by animals either to substitute earlier signals or to enhance the strength of previous signals.

Consequently, an individual in possession of higher total RHP will tend to win the competition (Maynard Smith & Parker 1976). So, whenever asymmetry in RHP between contestants increased, less intense fighting behaviour with shorter contest duration is predicted (Wells 1988, Englund & Olsson 1990, Jennions & Backwell 1996, Taylor et al. 2001, Gammell & Hardy 2003, Taylor & Elwood 2003).

Many other influential factors might interfere and alter the direction of the conflict settlement (Parker 1974, Grafen 1987), such as to what extent each contestant is ready to take risks and defend the resource against the rival (Resource value, RV) (Parker 1974, Maynard Smith & Parker 1976, Enquist & Leimar 1987). Hence, each contestant has a different perception of the available resource and the opponent that places greater value on the resource, either because they are particularly scarce or they yield higher fitness gains, is more likely to exhibit more agonistic behaviour during the encounter. Arising out of this when asymmetry in RHP is not present, the contest is more likely to terminate in favour of the individual that most value possession of the resource (Parker 1974, Hack et al. 1997).

1.5.1 Contest behaviour in Goniozus legneri and G. nephantidis

Studies of parasitoid contest behaviour have provided a quite comprehensive investigation of factors influencing animal contests as well as the influence of animal contests on further aspects of parasitoid life histories and the consequence of these for population and community ecology. Competition between adult females has been demonstrated in several parasitoids while foraging for suitable hosts (Hardy & Blackburn 1991, Field & Calbert 1999, Batchelor et al. 2005, Bentley et al. 2009, Mohamad et al. 2010). Contests between *Goniozus* females over host involve biting and stinging but only rarely result in death. (Humphries et al. 2006, S.K.K. pers. obs.): in the majority of fights no direct indication of physical injuries was observed (Petersen & Hardy 1996).

There is positive association between the female weight and contest resolution. If the variable size increased probably the contestant fighting ability would improve and consequently lead to won the combat (Peterson & Hardy 1996, Stokkebo & Hardy 2000, Humphries et al. 2006). In addition, contests between owners and intruders are influenced by prior ownership status (Goubault et al. 2006 Figure 1.2, Bentley et al. 2009). However, when both components are present simultaneously, ownership would be advantages and larger intruders might lose versus smaller owners (Peterson & Hardy 1996, Bentley et al. 2009). Though, the probability of intruder winning the resource from owner increases significantly with both intruder size and age (Humphries et al. 2006). The numbers of matured unlaid eggs possessed by contestants (termed egg load) can also influence contest resolution, at least when other asymmetries are minimized or absent (Stokkebo & Hardy 2000).



Figure 1.2 *Goniozus* females competing for *Corcyra cephalonica* host from (Goubault et al. 2006).

Previous studies have explored the value that contestant females place on the resource through varying contestant age, host size or offspring developmental stages at the time of agonistic interactions (Humphries et al. 2006, Goubault et al. 2007a & Bentley et al. 2009). Host size has an effect on contest outcomes, especially when asymmetries in ownership status are absent (Humphries et al. 2006). Among parasitoids in general, host size measurement can function as indicator for host's quality (Charnov et al. 1981, Godfray 1994). Hence, larger numbers of eggs are often laid on larger hosts (Hardy et al. 1992, Mayhew & Hardy 1998) and larger progeny can be produced on larger hosts (Hardy et al. 1992). When contests are over hosts already bearing broods, maternal defence was attuned to the vulnerability of the offspring to the actions of victorious intruders: for instance mothers of broods late-stage larvae did not defend them as effectively as when larvae were younger but intuders effected little damage on well-developed larvae compared to the larvicide and ovicide they committed when gaining access to recently oviposited broods (Bentley et al. 2009).

1.6 Proton Nuclear Magnetic Reasonance (NMR) and data analysis

A considerable amount of literature is available on the metabolite profiling technique known as Nuclear Magnetic Reasonance (NMR) with the study of chemical changes that occur in biological samples of human, animal, soil and plant (Griffin 2003, Harker et al. 2006, Teague et al. 2007, Moura et al. 2009, Fukuda et al. 2011). In the field of insects over the past two decades, NMR was utilized in various areas such as identifying chemical composition of the haemolymph (Thompson 1990, Lenz et al. 2001, Moriwaki et al. 2003, Phalaraksh et al. 2008) or generating metabolic profile of the whole insect (Ivie et al. 1983, Heinstra et al. 1990, Thompson 2001, Trivedi et al. 2010). In hymenopteran species NMR was mainly employed to isolate compounds from the wasp's venom and to characterize their molecular structure (Karst et al. 1990, Hori et al. 2001, Sforca et al. 2004, Saidemberg et al. 2010).

NMR spectroscopy is sophisticated technique that is performed on atomic nuclei; the most employed nuclei are ¹H, ¹³C, ¹⁵N and ³¹P (Abraham et al. 1988, Ikura et al 1990, Thompson 1990, Adam et al. 2005, Arumugam et al. 2006). NMR spin-active nuclei have a characteristic magnetic moment when placed in a magnetic field will be absorbed and send a pulse with a range of radio frequencies (RF), generating signals that gives different peaks between magnetic energy levels (Norell 1984, Thompson 1990). ¹H NMR is based on detecting all proton-bearing compounds such as carbohydrates, amino acids, amines, esters, ethers, lipids and fatty acids present with different constituents in biological cells, fluids and tissue extracts (Sumner et al. 2003, Phalaraksh et al. 2008). Thus, chemical study of a variety of low molecular weight compounds found in the metabolic pathway can be measured (Sands et al. 2009).

¹H NMR is considered as a powerful dynamic tool because it is non-destructive to the sample integrity and multiparametric analytic techniques can be employed for data analysis, which allows nonspecific evaluation of a large number of molecular metabolites without pre-selection or blas (Jardetzky & Roberts 1981, Keun et al. 2002, van Dorsten et al. 2006). Even though ¹H NMR is an advanced analytical method to profile metabolites, it has some disadvantages due to comprising thousands of signals from various metabolites at high proton resonance frequencies, that might overlap and obscure the assignment procedure when applied to complex mixtures (Robertson

2005, Widarto et al. 2006). Thus, statistical data analysis techniques such as principal component analysis (PCA) have been frequently used in the analysis of metabolic profiles in a quantitative way (Gartland et al. 1991, Lindon et al. 2003, Robertson 2005, van Dorsten et al. 2006). Multivariate statistic analysis facilitates the reduction of data complexity and makes optimal use of the information present in the spectrum for sample classification (Holmes et al. 2000, Lindon et al. 2003, Robertson 2005, Robertson et al. 2011). Hence, samples that have close biochemical structure would cluster together due to their spectral similarity (Robertson 2005).

1.7 Microsatellite markers and parasitoids

Molecular markers have proved to be valuable tool in various areas of research and have revolutionized the entire scenario of biological sciences in organisms. In entomology, numerous markers are available today to study taxonomic, phylogenetic relationships and population genetics (Loxdale & Lushai 1998, Caterino et al. 2000, Behura 2006). In hymenopteran parasitoids, phylogenetic reconstruction using molecular markers has allowed clarification of the relationship between families and other taxa (Dowton & Austin 1994, Ronquist 1999, Carr et al. 2010).

One of the most important types of molecular marker is microsatellite markers which are also known as simple sequence repeats (SSRs). These basically consist of short DNA sequences that have tandem repeats of mono-, di-, tri-, tetra-, penta-, or hexa-nucleotide, with an array up to around 200bp long in the genomes of organisms (Tautz 1989, Chambers & MacAvoy 2000, Ellegren 2004). They frequently known as variable number tandem repeats (VNTR) because they belong to high mutable genomic sequence class (Tautz & Renz 1984, Buschiazzo & Gemmel 2006).

Microsatellite markers serve as prominent genetic markers for different applications due to their co-dominant, high level of allelic diversity per locus and Mendelian inheritance (Buford & Wayne 1993, Jarne & Lagoda 1996). More specifically microsatellites offer fascinating tools for studies on evolution and population genetic that can monitor the degree of inheritance and polymorphism in population, and could influence the success of biological control (Buford & Wayne 1993, Jarne & Lagoda 1996, Sunnucks 2000, Luikart et al. 2003, Selkoe & Toonen 2006, Katabuchi et al. 2008). Knowledge of the genetic variance of parasitoid species, native and imported, against target insect pest species is important in control programmes in the longer
term because this would provide information about parasitoid effectiveness in combating the insect below damage thresholds, dispersal distances and gene flow rates.

Moreover, they can identify high expected heterozygosity and high mutation rate (Jarne & Lagoda 1996, Hancock 1999, Katabuchi et al. 2008, Lavandero & Dominguez 2010). The mutation rate of microsatellites is usually influenced by both allele length (Xu et al. 2000, Whittaker et al. 2003) and the number of repeat units (Chakraborty et al. 1997, Brinkmann et al. 1998).

Despite numerous advantages of microsatellite markers, their development is still challenging; it requires the construction of genomic libraries, screening and sequencing of clones (Queller et al. 1993, Jarne & Lagoda 1996, Zane et al. 2002, Beukeboom & Zwaan 2005). However, bioinformatic analysis might be used to recognize the marker if adequate information of the species genome sequence is present (Toth et al. 2000, Vidal et al. 2009, Mikheyev et al. 2010). Markers developed for a particular species can be employed for closely related species, but the percentage of amplified loci decreases with increasing genetic distance making such markers less suitable for distantly related species (Hancock & Simon 2005, Barbara et al. 2007). Furthermore, non-amplifying alleles (termed null alleles) that are caused by mutation in the primer binding region and prevent amplification of affected alleles might be detected in some loci and can invalidate population studies because they create false homozygotes and affect population genetic analyses (Pemberton et al. 1995). Null alleles are commonly found in populations with high effective population sizes such as insects (e.g. Lehmann et al. 1997, Chapuis et al. 2005).

Thus, primers specific for the sequences of parasitoids flanking microsatellite loci required in order to amplify the marker with polymerase chain reaction (PCR), later the amplified fragments can be visualized by using a technique called gel electrophoresis that stained with chemicals such as ethidium bromide or silver stain (Vanlerberghe-Masutti & Chavigny 1997, Baker et al. 2003, Zhou et al. 2005, Douhovnikoff et al. 2006).

SSRs (simple, tandemly repeated di- to tetra-nucleotide sequence motifs flanked by unique sequences) have been developed to deal with different genetic aspects in a number of parasitoids (e.g. Zavodna et al. 2002, Baker et al. 2003, Lozier et al. 2006,

Anton et al. 2006, Katabuchi et al. 2008, Pannebakker et al. 2010). These markers have been used to investigate mating systems and the sex determination in some hymenopteran species (Ratnieks & Keller 1998, Zavodna et al. 2002, Zhou et al. 2005, Abe et al. 2009).

1.8 From behavioural ecology to population biology and biocontrol

There is substantial body of literature suggesting that behavioural ecology research on parasitoids will benefit biocontrol programmes. For instance, female biased sex ratio is valuable when parasitoids are mass released in the field because it is females that are responsible for finding and parasitizing suitable hosts (Luck 1990, Hardy & Goubault 2007, Ode & Hardy 2008). In addition, studies on parasitoids' genetic distorters that alter population and species sex ratios would help to provide possible solutions to adopt successful breeding strategies making biocontrol agents more efficient (Stouthamer et al. 1990, Werren & Stouthamer 2003, Dedeine et al. 2001, Ode & Hardy 2008). Likewise, studies on clutch size and factors influencing development mortality within each species are considered important from the biological control point of view as they enhance natural enemies' effectiveness in pest suppression (Hardy et al. 1992, Hardy et al. 1998, Kapranas et al. 2011).

Molecular markers have frequently been used to address population genetic structure in many hymenopteran parasitoids. For example, the dispersal ability of many species often revealed by utilizing genetic markers (Althoff & Thompson 2001, Zavodna et al. 2005). Further, microsatellite markers were developed to understand the influence of different geographic distribution on the population biology through genetic variation (Zavodna et al. 2005, Lozier et al. 2009).

Sex allocation and the presence of diploid males through breeding in population were shed light on by the markers (Zhou et al. 2005, Wu et al. 2003, Grillenberger et al. 2008). Therefore, from biological point of view diploid males reduce the efficiency of the population because emerged diploid male from fertilized eggs would either die or unable to reproduce during adulthood (El Agoze et al. 1994, Cook & Crozier 1995, de Boer et al. 2007). Thus, biological control might improve when more than one population from different geographic location is released in the field due to increasing allelic diversity of the population (Stouthamer et al. 1992, Cook & Crozier 1995).

In addition, host quality, especially host size, can be considered as another crucial factor which influences not only sex allocation but also clutch size decisions (Charnov et al. 1981, West 2009). Thus, in gregarious parasitoids fewer eggs are predicted on small size hosts with more tendencies to produce male progenies and vice versa (Charnov 1982, Hardy et al. 1992). Further, bigger progeny that have greater evolutionary fitness would usually emerge from bigger hosts (Hardy et al. 1992). Thus, releasing bigger females in the field would enhance biocontrol programmes through their better ability to find hosts (Kazmer & Luck 1995, West et al. 1996, Ellers et al. 1998).

Furthermore, larger females expected to have better fighting ability to take over the resource during contests (Peterson & Hardy 1996, Stokkebo & Hardy 2000, Humphries et al. 2006). Besides, contestant who placed more value on the resource is more likely to win the competition (Leimar & Enquist 1984). So, it is important to perform a series of tests in order to understand factors that might affect the contest outcome between and within species before introduced to the field. For instance, releasing different parasitoid species of coffee berry borers could result in lethal contests between species that might reduce their efficiency as biocontrol agents (Batchelor et al. 2005).

1.9 Summary of thesis structure

In this thesis various aspect of behaviour, molecular and chemical properties of different parasitoid species belonging to the genus *Goniozus* were investigated. Thus, Bethylid wasps are used as model organisms to test basic theories and to improve their efficacy in pest control. The structure of thesis is as follows:

1.9.1 Part one: Resource value, host quality and parasitoid age

Chapter 2. The effects of host age post-paralysis were explored. Laboratory studies were performed to test the reproduction and development of *Goniozus nephantidis* (Muesebeck) (Hymenoptera: Bethylidae) on hosts of different ages. Metabolic changes that occurred to the host after paralysation were evaluated by using proton Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (NMR). Caterpillars extracted then the NMR spectra of the extracts were used to identify the chemical composition of hosts.

1.9.2 Part two: Kin recognition, aggressive behaviour and chemical cues

Chapter 3. Kin recognition effects through both genetics and proxy cues on the aggressive behavior were explored by using different strains of *Goniozus legneri* Gordh (Hymenoptera: Bethylidae). The strains were reared on the facultative host *Corcyra cephalonica* Stainton (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae). Further, investigated the effect of resource value and degree of aggressiveness on contest resolution. An experimental movement of eggs between hosts were created non-siblings reared on same hosts and genetic siblings on different hosts. Later during the competition their aggressive and and non-aggressive behaviours were recorded.

Chapter 4. The cuticular hydrocarbon profiles (CHC) of different species and populations were inspected through using Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (GC-MS) while rearing on *Corcyra cephalonica*. Further, the CHC components of *G. legneri* U-strain developed on various hosts were tested to monitor profile changes due to host association cues and its influence on the chemosensory kin recognition.

1.9.3 Part three: Molecular genetics and sex ratios

Chapter 5. The effect of direct genetic kinship between both *G. legneri* populations (Ustrain was obtained from a commercial insectary in the USA and C-strain collected from Chile) were addressed for relatedness [Chapter 3] by using molecular markers. Twenty four primers were designed for this species to test polymorphism between both U and C-strains. In addition, twelve other primers were developed for *G. nephantidis* in order to provide an insight of genetic variation within population.

Chapter 6. Precise sex ratio in *G. legneri* was examined by microsatellite markers. To avoid any biased maternal or paternal influence on the sex ratio reciprocal crosses were performed between both populations. The Polymerase Chain Reaction products of primer GISSR7 were run on MetaPhor agarose gel. The sex ratio was calculated at oviposition (primary sex ratio) as well as at emergence (secondary sex ratio). Direct assessment of primary sex ratios was thus coupled with comparison to secondary sex ratios and the influence of development mortality on sex ratio variance was examined.

Part one: Resource value, host quality and parasitoid age

Chapter 2: Post-paralysis declines in host quality assessed by parasitoid behaviour, development and metabolomics

2.1 Abstract

An immature parasitoid obtains resources by feeding on a single host. The quality of a host can be defined in terms of how it affects the developmental success of immatures and their subsequent performance as adults. Similarly, the quality of an encountered host can affect the decisions of adult female parasitoids foraging for reproductive opportunities. Host quality may be determined by intrinsic properties of the host, such as its species, size and developmental stage, which further interact with extrinsic influences, such as the host's diet and any prior parasitism. Here we show that the guality of paralyzed but unparasitized hosts declines with time since paralysis, a little explored facet of host quality. We assess quality by observing the behavioural and lifehistory responses of parasitoids to variation in host age; older hosts are accepted less frequently for oviposition, accepted hosts have smaller clutches laid onto them, the survivorship of offspring developing on older hosts is lower and surviving adults are smaller. Adult females also compete less successfully for older compared than for younger hosts. We use Proton Nuclear Magnetic Resonance to investigate the underlying changes in the metabolomic state of aging paralysed hosts, for instance, biochemicals associated with energy decrease while metabolic waste products increase. While post-paralysis but pre-parasitism ageing is an unusual component in many host-parasitoid interactions, our metabolomic analysis serves more broadly as a methodological example that can readily be employed to understand the biochemical basis of a variety of host quality correlates across a wide range of host-parasitoid associations.

2.2 Introduction

Parasitoid wasps, by definition, obtain resources for immature development by feeding on just one host individual, usually another insect (Godfray 1994). Individual hosts vary in 'quality', which can be defined in terms of how properties of the host affect a parasitoid's evolutionary fitness. There is an extensive literature showing that many fitness-correlated aspects of the life-histories and behaviours of numerous parasitoid species are affected by host quality. Important among these are host acceptance decisions (van Alphen & Visser 1990, Thiel & Hoffmeister 2009), behavioural defence of hosts (Humphries et al. 2006), clutch size (Zaviezo & Mills 2000, Häckermann et al. 2007, Kapranas et al. 2011), sex allocation (Ode & Heinz 2002, West 2009), parasitoid development (Wright & Kerr 1988, Hochberg 1991, Hofstetter & Raffa 1998, Otto & Mackauer 1998, Pérez-Lachaud & Hardy 2001, Wang & Liu 2002, Cleary & van Ginkel 2004, Ueno 2004, Karsai et al. 2006, Häckermann et al. 2007, Hegazi & Khafagi 2008, Kapranas et al. 2011) and the size and subsequent longevity, fecundity and foraging success of parasitoid progeny (King 1998, Wright & Kerr 1988, Hardy et al. 1992, Vet et al. 1994, Otto & Mackauer 1998, Zaviezo & Mills 2000, Ueno 2004, Karsai et al. 2006, López et al. 2009, Aruna & Manjunath 2010, Fand et al. 2011).

Host quality itself usually has a multitude of contributing, and inter-connected, facets including the species of the host (Wright & Kerr 1998, Rivers & Denlinger 1995, Pérez-Lachaud & Hardy 2001, Cleary & van Ginkel 2004, Häckermann et al. 2007, Thiel & Hoffmeister 2009), its genetic composition (Kraaijeveld & Godfray 2009, Henry et al. 2010), its developmental stage (Kidd & Jervis 1991, Harvey et al. 1994, Vet et al. 1994, Otto & Mackauer 1998, Karsai et al. 2006, Thiel & Hoffmeister 2009, Fand et al. 2011), its diapause status (Rivers & Denlinger 1993, 1994), its size (Schmidt 1991, Hardy et al. 1992, Harvey et al. 1994, Otto & Mackauer 1998, Zaviezo & Mills 2000, Cleary & van Ginkel 2004, Ueno 2004) and its age prior to parasitoid attack (Ode & Strand 1995, Hofstetter & Raffa 1998, King 1998, Sousa & Spence 2001, Wang & Liu 2002, Ueno 2004, He & Wang 2006). Some of these 'intrinsic' quality components may interact with 'extrinsic' factors such as the quantity and chemical composition of the host's diet (Godfray 1994, Harvey et al. 1995, Vinson et al. 2001, Ode 2006), whether or not the host harbours endosymbionts (Cheng et al. 2010) or has been previously attacked by another (conspecific or allospecific) parasitoid (van Alphen &

Visser 1990, Goubault et al. 2007a, Moretti & Calvitti 2008, Thiel & Hoffmeister 2009) or by a pathogen (Hochberg 1991).

In this study, I explore how the quality of envenomated and paralysed hosts is affected by the time since paralysis using a host-parasitoid association in which stinging and oviposition are temporally separate events. I assess quality by observing the behavioural and life-history responses of parasitoids to variation in host age and also by using Proton Nuclear Magnetic Resonance to investigate the underlying changes in the metabolomic state of aging paralysed hosts.

2.2.1 Biology of the host-parasitoid study system

Goniozus nephantidis (Muesebeck) (Hymenoptera: Bethylidae) is a gregarious larval ectoparasitoid for which many aspects of behaviour and life-history have been documented (e.g. Hardy et al. 1992, Cook 1993b, Hardy & Cook 1995, Humphries et al. 2006, Goubault et al. 2007a,b, 2008). It is naturally associated with the coconut pest, *Opisina arenosella* Walker (Venkatesan et al. 2007), but can be reared on the larvae of several factitious hosts, such as the wax moth *Galleria mellonella* L. (Lepidoptera: Galleridae) (Mohan & Shameer 2003) and *Corcyra cephalonica* Stainton (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae) (Cook 1993b, Venkatesan et al. 2007). On encountering a host larva, the adult female parasitoid attacks it by injecting venom. Host larvae become paralysed within minutes and their development is arrested (idiobiosis). Rather than laying eggs onto the host immediately, *G. nephantidis* females oviposit after 1-3 days (Jayaratnam 1941, Dharmaraju & Pradhan 1977), possibly using the intervening period to mature eggs (Stokkebo & Hardy 2000, but see Goubault et al. 2007a). Eggs hatch about 1 day after oviposition and the larvae begin to feed on the host through punctures in its integument.

During the period between paralysis and oviposition, females remain in close physical association with their hosts, aggressively guarding them against intruding conspecific females which would otherwise utilize the unguarded host (Petersen & Hardy 1996). Although prior-ownership is an advantage in such host-ownership contests, other factors, especially body size differences, contribute to determining the outcomes of agonistic encounters (Petersen & Hardy 1996, Humphries et al. 2006) and prior owners can thus be driven away from hosts they have paralysed. As the host that the intruder has won may have been paralysed for three days and the intruder may not be

physiologically ready to oviposit for several further days, hosts may have been paralysed for a considerable time before they are fed on. Further mutual interference interactions, which may be more likely when parasitoid population density is higher, could delay host exploitation repeatedly. The empirical investigations presented here explore change in the quality of unparasitized hosts as they age following paralysis.

2.3 Material & Methods

All cultures and experiments were carried out in a climate room at 27°C, 12 L: 12D, with relative humidity maintained by evaporation from a water bath. *Corcyra cephalonica* was used as the host and was reared on a diet of glycerol, honey, corn meal, wheat bran and yeast, as reported by Lizé et al. (2012).

2.3.1 Part 1: Longevity of paralysed hosts

The number of days that paralysed hosts are likely to live was explored. This facilitated subsequent investigation (Parts 2-4) of the effects of host age across a wide age-range and allowed us to classify, in subsequent experimental design, hosts that had been paralysed for a given time as young, middle-aged and old relative to their life-expectancy.

Fifty hosts of known weight were individually exposed to a female *G. nephantidis* in a vial until stung and paralysed. The wasp was removed before any eggs were laid. Paralysed hosts were inspected daily for signs of life (movement of the body in response to gentle stimulus with paint brush, movement of mandibles or legs, visible pumping of haemolymph) until the host died or when the investigation was stopped. We stopped the investigation after 26 days when only 5 hosts were alive: these were treated as censors in subsequent survival analysis. A further censor was generated after 3 days when a host was accidentally killed during inspection.

2.3.2 Part 2: Effects of host age on host weight, parasitoid reproductive behaviour and life-history

Hosts of known weight (range: 17.71-50.95mg, to an accuracy of 0.01mg) were placed individually in vials and allowed to be stung by an initial female (the 'stinging wasp') which was then removed before laying eggs on to the host (as in Part 1). Because had have observed that older *Goniozus* individuals attack presented hosts

more rapidly than do younger individuals, we used as stinging wasps the oldest females that were available in the culture at the time.

Each paralysed host was then held in the vial for 1, 8 or 16 days, so generating three experimental treatment groups for host age ('young', 'middle-aged' and 'old'). Because substantial proportions of hosts would be likely to die before 8 or 16 days (Part 1, Figure 2.1), Iinitially allocated greater numbers of hosts to the middle-aged and, in particular, old treatment groups but the final sample sizes in this experiment inevitably had a stochastic element (39 young, 29 middle-aged, 74 old). At the appointed age, each (surviving) host was reweighed and presented to a second female (the 'laying wasp') in a vial. The response of these 142 laying wasps, and their offspring, to host age was the prime focus of the experiment.

All laying wasps were females that had emerged from their pupal cocoons within 3-5 days (the age at which most females disperse from their natal broods, Hardy et al. 1999) and was confined in the vial until its death (long associations with each host are normal in *G. nephantidis*, Goubault et al. 2007 b). The contents of vials were then inspected daily and the presence and numbers of parasitoid eggs, larvae and pupae noted. The numbers, sexes and combined dry weight of any adult offspring developing from the host were also recorded.

2.3.3 Part 3: Effects of host age on parasitoid contest behaviour

I followed methods for assessing factors influencing female-female contest behaviour in *G. nephantidis* that are given in detail elsewhere (e.g. Petersen & Hardy 1996, Humphries et al. 2006). We set up 66 owner-owner contest dyads (Humphries et al. 2006) in which closely weight-matched and age-matched (3-5 day old) paint-marked females (red or yellow), from different natal broods and with no previous experience of contest interactions, had each been presented, 15-20 hours before the contest, with a host that had been stung and paralysed by a different wasp (as in Part 2) either 1 day or 10 days previously, generating two host age classes. At the time of stinging, hosts weighed 30-60mg and were reweighed on presentation to the second female. At the start of each contest, one female was the owner of a younger host and the other female was the owner an older host and the effect of the host age difference on contest outcome was the focus of the experiment. Contest behaviour was recorded on videotape for 90 minutes, then the winner of the interaction was noted (winning females were usually in close association with the hosts with losing females distant within the confines of the apparatus; however, there was no clear winner in 27/66 replicates and these were excluded from subsequent analysis). Both females were then reweighed immediately after the contest and these data were used to assess influences of contestant size (Humphries et al. 2006).

Analysis of the data generated from the above experiment suggested an effect of host age might be obscured by the effects of host weight differences (within the clearly-won replicates mean \pm SD: 0.456 \pm 0.399 mg, see Results). We therefore repeated the experiment using hosts aged either 1 or 12 days and paying extra attention to minimising the weight difference between the young and the old host within each replicate: there were 60 dyads of which 49 had a clear winner and host weight differences within these clearly-won replicates were an order of magnitude smaller than in the initial experiment (0.047 \pm 0.039 mg).

2.3.4 Part 4: Effects of host age on metabolomic state

Living but paralysed hosts aged 1, 8 and 16 days (n = 15, 12 and 12, respectively) were prepared as in Part 1 and then snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -20°C overnight to halt metabolic change. Extraction was then performed using a chloroform/methanol method based on Folch et al. (1957), during which hosts were transferred individually into eppendorf tubes, methanol (1 ml) was added and samples were homogenised with a ball mill (2 min, 30 revolutions per second). The resultant homogenate was transferred to glass tubes, water (0.4 ml) and chloroform (2.5 ml) were added and samples were vortexed for 10 minutes. The resultant mixture was centrifuged (20 min, 10,000xg) until two layers formed. The two layers were separated with a Pasteur pipette and the aqueous extract dried down using a centrifugal evaporator (Thermo Scientific SpeedVac).

Proton Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (¹H NMR) spectra of extracts were obtained using a Bruker Avance spectrometer, operating at 400.13 MHz ¹H resonance frequency and equipped with a 5mm quadruple nuclei probe (QNP), a BACS-120 autosampler and zaxis gradients. All spectra were measured with 298K internal probe temperature. Prior to acquisition of spectra, each sample (0.6 ml) was mixed with D_2O (0.1 ml) and vortexed to ensure thorough mixing prior to being placed into 5mm o.d. NMR tubes.

In order to suppress the large water signal, spectra were acquired using a presaturation solvent suppression pulse sequence (NOESYPRESAT) with a relaxation delay of 1.5 s, during which the water resonance was selectively irradiated. Typically 128 transients were collected into 32k data points with a spectral width of 6000 Hz. Prior to Fourier Transform, exponential line broadening of 0.3 Hz was applied to free induction decays (FIDs) which were also zero-filled by a factor of 2. Spectra were manually phase and baseline corrected and chemical shifts were referenced internally to the lactate methyl doublet at δ 1.33 in TopSpin version 2.1 (Bruker, GMbH).

Many of the ¹H NMR spectral peaks could be assigned by inspection based upon comparison with existing literature (Gibb et al. 1997, Bundy et al. 2001) in combination with an in-hose spectral database. Further confirmation of metabolite identification was made using a two-dimensional correlation (COSY) NMR spectrum that provides cross-peaks in a contour plot between the chemical shifts of spin-coupled nuclei. Acquisition and processing parameters for COSY spectra included a relaxation delay of 1.86 s, a spectral width in F1 and F2 of 5995.2 Hz, 2-k time domain points, 128 F1 increments, 64 transients per increment, and qsine apodization in F1 and F2 and with 2-k points in F1 and F2.

2.3.5 Data analysis

Data generated in Parts 1-3 were analysed using generalized linear modelling with Genstat statistical package (Version 8, VSN International, Hemel Hempstead, UK). Parametric cohort survival analysis (Crawley 1993) was used to assess survival time, age-dependency and the effect of host weight on the longevity of paralysed hosts (Part 1). Effects of host age on parasitoid behaviour and developmental biology (Parts 2 and 3) were explored using logistic analyses for proportional response variables (host acceptance, developmental mortality, contest outcome), log-linear analysis for integer response variables (clutch size) and standard analysis for numerical responses (offspring weight) (Crawley 1993, Hardy and Field 1998, Wilson and Hardy 2002). In logistic analysis of contest outcome the (ungrouped binary) response variable was defined as 1=red wasp won or 0=red lost (Petersen & Hardy 1996, Humphries et al. 2006) and differences in wasp weight, host weight and host age and their Interactions were fitted as explanatory variables. In log-linear analysis and analyses of grouped binary data, quasi-Poisson and quasi-binomial distributions of residuals were adopted, using empirically estimated scale parameters, to take potential overdispersion into

account (Crawley 1993, Wilson and Hardy 2002). Formal evaluations of deviation from binomial variance in sex ratio and developmental mortality used the Meelis test (Krackow et al. 2002).

Metabolomic data from Part 4 in the spectral region of δ 0.5–10.0 were reduced to ASCII format using AMIX (Analysis of MIXtures, version 3.9.2, Bruker GmbH, Germany). Each NMR spectrum was reduced to 238 discrete regions of equal width (0.04 ppm), and the integral of each region was determined (Holmes et al. 1998) resulting in a table of intensity. The region δ 4.3–5.1 was removed from all data because it contains the large water peak. Each remaining region was then normalized to the total spectral area ('block normalisation') to minimise the effects of concentration differences between the samples.

Umetrics SIMCA-P (version 11) was used for multivariate analysis of data from Part 4. Two types of scaling were used, mean-centring (subtracting the calculated average of a variable from the data so that the mean for each variable is 0) and mean-centring followed by autoscaling (division of each variable by the standard deviation for that variable). The use of mean-centred, but not autoscaled, data in basic multivariate analyses such as Principal Component Analysis (PCA) often results in an emphasis on perturbation of the metabolites that are present in high concentrations, whereas autoscaled data convert each variable to a standard variable with equal weight and are more sensitive to changes in the levels of minor metabolites. For the purpose of illustrating the results of this study, autoscaling of the data is reported. PCA was used for initial visualization of the ¹H NMR spectra (Part 4); this reduced the dimensionality of a dataset, which had a large number of variables, while maintaining as much variation within the data as possible (Massart et al. 1988). The results of PCA are discussed in terms of component score vectors (observation coordinate along a PC) and loading vectors (direction coefficient of a PC).

Partial Least Squares (PLS) regression modelling (Geladi & Kowalski 1986) was applied to determine the covariance between the NMR spectra and host age: a regressive model was built by maximizing the covariance between a set of variables, X, and a dependent variable, Y and then used to predict values of Y for a given set of X variables. The number of latent variables (three) used to predict Y was chosen from when the least error in prediction was observed. The PLS model was validated by dividing the data set and using half of the spectra from each group of samples as a

'training set' for the model and the remaining half as a 'test set'. The process was repeated four times using different combinations of samples to form the training and test sets in order to evaluate stability of the model.

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Part 1: Longevity of paralysed hosts

Some hosts lived for more than three weeks post-paralysis, but most had died by this age (Figure 2.1). We fitted two alternative initial models of survival time: an exponential model (estimating the rate of mortality but assuming to be constant over time) and a Weibull model (additionally estimating variation in mortality rate). The Weibull gave a significantly better fit ($G_1 = 21.2$, P < 0.001) indicating that the daily probability of mortality increases significantly as hosts age (Figure 2.1). Adding host weight to this statistical model did not improve the fit, indicating that there is no relationship between host size and longevity ($G_1 = 0.02$, P > 0.1).

These survival results were then used to choose and define three age classes of hosts for Part 2: as $\approx 90\%$ of hosts died by 16 days, we defined hosts of 16-days since paralysis as 'old'. All hosts survived for at least one day post paralysis and 1-day old hosts were defined as 'young'. At the intermediate age of 8-days $\approx 70\%$ of hosts were alive and these were defined as 'middle aged'. For Part 3 we similarly defined 'older' hosts as those at 10- or 12-days post-paralysis, when $\approx 50\%$ of hosts were alive, 'younger' were defined as 1-day post paralysis. It was thus the age classifications, rather than the hosts themselves, that were used in subsequent experiments.



Figure 2.1 Cohort survival of paralysed hosts. The arrows show the age-classes used as host age treatments in subsequent experiments. By week one \approx 14% of the hosts had died and by week two \approx 76% of the hosts died.

2.4.2 Part 2: Effects of host age on host weight, parasitoid reproductive behaviour and life-history

2.4.2.1 Host weight change

The weight of individual hosts generally decreased between paralysis by the stinging wasp and presentation for oviposition (Figure 2.2). Weight loss was significantly greater for initially heavier hosts ($F_{1,136}$ = 17.99, P<0.001) and for hosts that were stored for longer before, and were still alive at, presentation ($F_{2,136}$ = 74.53, P<0.001); these effects also interacted significantly ($F_{2,136}$ = 3.70, P=0.027) i.e. the graphs are not parallel.





2.4.2.2 Host acceptance

The probability that a female oviposited on a given host was not significantly affected by the weight of the host at presentation ($G_1 = 1.79$, P = 0.181) or by an interaction between host weight and age ($G_2 = 2.73$, P = 0.065) but was affected by the age of the host ($G_2 = 3.33$, P = 0.036, all results from logistic analysis) with the probability of egg laying declining as host age increased (Figure 2.3).



Figure 2.3 Probability of egg laying by female *G. nephantidis* when presented with hosts at different ages since paralysis. Means \pm (asymmetric) S.E.s are back transformed from logit-scale estimates.

2.4.2.3 Clutch size

The number of eggs laid on the host (Figure 2.4) by the 125 females that accepted the host for oviposition was positively related to host weight (log-liner analysis corrected for overdispersion: $F_{1,121} = 21.10$, P < 0.001) and negatively to host age ($F_{2,121} = 22.87$, P < 0.001) with no significant interaction between these variables $F_{2,119} = 0.66$, P = 0.516). The sizes of clutches laid on young and middle-aged hosts were, however, statistically indistinguishable (aggregation of factor levels: $F_{1,121} = 0.0005$, P = 0.979).



Figure 2.4 Clutch size decisions in relation to host age and weight.

2.4.2.4 Developmental mortality

The probability of egg survival to adulthood was negatively influenced by host age and positively influenced by host weight and also by clutch size via an interaction with host age (Table 2.1). These results derive from 124 of the 125 clutches laid, as an unknown number of offspring escaped from a vial containing a brood of initially 11 eggs. The mean probability of an egg developing successfully was 0.586 (S.E. ±0.06) on young hosts, 0.430 (±0.08) on middle-aged hosts and 0.273 (±0.06) on old hosts. Survival was unaffected by the weight of the host divided by the number of eggs laid, a rough index of the quantity of resource available to each offspring ($F_{1,122} = 0.006$, p = 0.978).

Table 2.1 Factors affecting egg-to-adult survival. Results are from backwards stepwise logistic ANCOVA, corrected for overdispersion as there was a strong tendency for eggs within a brood to survive to adulthood or die during development collectively (Meelis test: R = 3.88, U = 15.0, P < 0.001).

Source	Degrees of freedom	F	Ρ
Host age	2	4.54	0.013
Host weight	2	4.69	0.032
Clutch size	2	0.39	0.535
Host age × Clutch size interaction	1	4.30	0.016
Host age \times Host weight interaction	2	0.17	0.843
Host weight ×Clutch size interaction	1	0.00	0.997
Host age \times Host weight \times Clutch size interaction	2	1.84	0.164
Residual deviance	112	678.16	
Total deviance	123	896.09	

2.4.2.5 Sex ratio

The sex ratios (proportion of adult offspring that were male) of broods that produced adult offspring (N=69) were unrelated to the age of the host at oviposition (logistic analysis corrected for overdispersion: $F_{2,68} = 0.06$, P = 0.94) and qualitatively the same result was found if broods containing only male offspring (which are likely to have been produced by unmated mothers, Hardy & Cook 1995) were excluded ($F_{2,50} = 0.47$, P = 0.63). The mean sex ratio of broods containing females (indicating the mother had mated) was 0.129 (S.E. \pm 0.2) and sex ratio variance was not significantly different from binomial (Meelis test: R= 0.833, U = -0.44, P>0.05).

2.4.2.6 Offspring size

Adults developing from broods containing females had greater dry weight than those in broods containing males only ($F_{1,65} = 5.80$, P = 0.019). As males are known to be smaller than females when developing on hosts of unmanipulated quality (e.g. Hardy & Mayhew 1998) and are usually the much rarer sex in broods produced by normal, mated, mothers (Hardy & Cook 1995 and see above), further analysis was restricted to the 44 broods containing entirely or largely females (sex ratios ranged between 0.0 and 0.2). Dry weight was positively influenced by host weight ($F_{1,38} = 8.51$, P = 0.006) and brood size ($F_{1,38} = 24.35$, P < 0.001) and was negatively influenced by the age of the host at presentation ($F_{2,38} = 3.49$, P = 0.04) but there was no significant difference between the dry weights of wasps developing on young and middle aged hosts ($F_{1,39} =$ 0.01, P = 0.918, Figure 2.5). There were no significant interactions between the effects of host age, brood size and host weight.



Figure 2.5 Effect of host age on adult parasitoid mean dry weight (\pm S.E.D). Parasitoids developing on 1- and 8-day old hosts had similar weights but those developing on 16-day old hosts were smaller. Parasitoid weight was also influenced by brood size and host weight (see text).

2.4.3 Part 3: Effects of host age on parasitoid contest behaviour

The probability of winning a contest was increased by both being the larger contestant and by being in initial possession of the larger host (wasp weight difference × host weight difference interaction: G_1 =6.18, P=0.013) but not by the age of a contestant's host (G_1 =1.44, P=0.231). However, a tendency for owners of younger hosts to win contests was detected when host age was fitted in a model with wasp weight difference or fitted alone (host age: G_1 =4.62, P=0.032). These latter indications lead to the repeat of the experiment with host weight differences minimised as far as practicably possible. This first series of replicates also generated one instance of fatal fighting between contestant females.

Analysis of data from the second series of replicates indicated that probability of winning a contest was increased by being the larger contestant (G_1 =18.36, P<0.001, Figure 2.6a), by being in initial possession of the larger host (G_1 =19.77, P=0.002, Figure 2.6b) and by being the initial owner of the younger host (G_1 =17.58, P<0.001, Figure 2.6a,b). There were no significant interactions between these main effects.



Figure 2.6 The influences of differences in wasp weight, host weight and host age on the outcomes of owner-owner contests. Panel (a) shows effects of wasp weight and host age differences while panel (b) shows effects of host weight and host age differences. The curves are the estimated probabilities of the red-marked wasp winning when it was the initial owner of either the young or the old host (see text section 2.3.3). The parameters for these graphs were estimated by separate logistic analysis of size and age and weight and age; the main text reports results from analysis of these three effects simultaneously. In cases of overlap, data points are shown vertically displaced to illustrate sample sizes.

2.4.4 Part 4: Effects of host age on metabolomic state

The compounds identified within paralyzed hosts included free primary amino acids, sugars (such as glucose), citric acid cycle intermediates (such as citrate, a-ketoglutarate and fumarate) and other organic acids including lactate, formate and acetate. A nucleotide derivative was observed and tentatively assigned as ATP on the basis of peak multiplicity: the downfield singlet observed at δ 8.61 was found to be present at δ 8.54 in the reference spectrum. Similarly, the resonance at δ 5.20 was tentatively assigned to trehalose (a sugar) on the basis of comparison with literature (Gibb et al. 1997) but due to peak overlap with glucose in the region δ 4-3, this identification is unconfirmed. Many other compounds within the spectrum remain unassigned, as is common with NMR spectra of biological samples. Figure 2.7 shows a typical 400 MHz ¹H NMR spectrum of an aqueous extract from a host 16 days postparalysis and the assignments of all identified peaks within the spectra are given in Table 2.2.



Figure 2.7 Typical 400 MHz NMR spectrum of aqueous caterpillar extract, 16 days-post paralysis. The lower figure shows the aliphatic spectral region (δ 4.5 – 0.5), whereas the upper figure shows the aromatic spectral region (δ 9.0-5.0). Amino acids are labelled according to the 3-letter code.

Chemical Shift (Multiplicity)	Metabolite	
0.94 (t), 1.01 (d), 1.25 (m), 1.45 (m)	Isoleucine (Ile)	
0.96 (t), 1.71 (m)	Leucine (Leu)	
0.99 (d), 1.04 (d), 2.28 (m)	Valine (Val)	
1.19 (d)	3-β-hydroxybutyrate	
1.19 (t)	Ethanol	
1.32* (d), 4.25 (m)	Threonine (Thr)	
1.33 (d), 4.11 (q)	Lactate	
1.46 (m), 1.71 (m), 1.89 (m), 3.00 (t)	Lysine (Lys)	
1.69 (m), 1.91 (m), 3.23 (t)	Arginine (Arg)	
1.48 (d)	Alanine (Ala)	
1.92 (s)	Acetate	
2.02 (m), 2.36 (m), 3.34 (m), 3.42 (m), 4.13 (m)	Proline (Pro)	
2.07 (m), 2.34 (m)	Glutamate (Glu)	
2.13 (m), 2.44 (m)	Glutamine (Gln)	
2.40 (s)	Succinate	
2.44 (t), 3.00 (t)	α-ketoglutarate	
2.57 (ABX), 2.70 (ABX)	Citrate	
2.75 (s), 3.63 (s)	Sarcosine (N-methylglycine)	
2.87 (s)	Trimethylamine	
2.88 (m), 2.94 (m), 4.00 (m)	Asparagine (Asn)	
3.01 (s), 3.90 (s)	Creatine	
3.25 (dd), 3.40 (t), 3.47 (ddd), 3.49 (t), 3.72 (dd), 3.90 (dd), 4.64 (d)	β-Glucose	
3.27 (s), 3.90 (s)	Betaine	
5.14 (d)	Unassigned sugar	
5.20 (d)	Unassigned sugar, possibly	
	trehalose	
3.36 (s)	Methanol	
3.41 (t), 3.54 (dd), 3.71 (t), 3.74 (m), 3.84 (ddd), 5.24 (d)	α-Glucose	
3.53 (s)	Glycine (Gly)	
6.51 (s)	Fumerate	
6.92 (d), 7.19 (d)	Tyrosine (Tyr)	
7.05 (s), 7.77 (s)	Histidine (His)	
7.21* (t), 7.54 (d), 7.74 (d)	Tryptophan (Trp)	
6.15 (d), 8.28 (s), 8.61 (s)	Nucleotide derivative, probably ATP	
8.46 (s)	Formate	

Table 2.2 Assignment of resonances observed in the 1H NMR spectra of caterpillars.

*Resonance partially obscured due to peak overlap. Letters t, d, m & s stand for peak multiplicity, where t=triplet, d=doublet, m= multiplet & s=singlet.

Using three principal components, the PCA model had R^2X (cum) of 0.383, where PCs 1, 2 and 3 explained 20.3, 9.5 and 8.55 of the total spectral variation, respectively. The scores plot (Figure 2.8) shows clear separation between all three host-age groups across the first three principal components. Cross-validation of the partial least squares (PLS) regression resulted in R^2X and R^2Y of 0.38 and 0.99, respectively; $Q^2(\text{cum})$ was 0.74 (Table 2.3). The root mean square error of estimation (RMSEE) was 0.72 ±0.2, and the root mean square error of cross validation (RMSECV) was 4.74 ±1.9.



Figure 2.8 Scores plot from principal component analysis illustrating clustering of host metabolic composition according to host age.

Actual days post- paralysis	Predicted days post- paralysis	Predicted days post- paralysis
	(training set)	(test set)
1	1.09 ± 0.5	3.40 ± 1.9
8	7.94 ± 0.8	9.78 ± 5.8
16	15.92 ± 0.5	15.76 ± 5.9

Table 2.3 Cross-validation results from partial least squares regression

The spectral regions in which the largest metabolomic changes between days were observed are shown in Table 2.4. The variable importance in the projection, VIP, values reflect the importance of spectral regions or 'buckets' in the PLS model both with respect to Y (the number of days post-paralysis of the hosts) and with respect to X (the NMR spectra), and the VIPs of different terms can be compared. Spectral regions with a VIP larger than 1 are the most relevant for explaining Y (the number of days post-paralysis). There were decreases in the levels of glucose and ATP, metabolites associated with energy release through aerobic respiration but an increase in citrate. There was also an increase in ethanol, a product of (non-animal) anaerobic respiration and in most of the detected amino acids (Table 2.4).

Spectral `Bucket' (VIP coefficient) ¹	Metabolite	Mean Fold Change ² from 1 to 8 days ± standard deviation	Mean Fold Change ² from 1 to 16 days ± standard deviation
1 16 (1 328)	Ethanol	1.08 ± 0.00	1 36 + 0.05
1.10(1.520) 1.2(1.527)	Ethanor	1.08 ± 0.00	1.50 ± 0.65
1.2 (1.527)	Upperianed		1.43 ± 0.02
3.2 (1.393) 2.24 (1.562)	Unassigned	NC	1.45 ± 0.02
3.24 (1.302)	Deallers	1 20 1 0 01	0.92 ± 0.03
2.0 (1.149)	Proline	1.20 ± 0.01	0.82 ± 0.03
2.04(1.013)			
2.30 (1.090)	Citoreta	2 21 4 2 17	
2.52 (1.495)	Citrate	2.31 ± 0.17	2.15 ± 0.24
2.56 (1.696)	• ·	203	1 40 1 0 20
2.84 (1.696)	Asparagine	NC	1.48 ± 0.30
2.88 (1.824)			
2.92 (0.859)			
2.96 (0.772)			
3.16 (1.596)	Histidine	1.38 ± 0.16	2.13 ± 0.50
4.0 (1.652)			
7.08 (1.650)			
7.8 (1.002)			
3.4 (1.792)	Glucose	0.86 ± 0.11	0.69 ± 0.10
3.48 (1.791)			
3.72 (1.466)			
3.76 (1.689)			
3.84 (1.239)			
3.88 (1.468)			
5.24 (1.508)			
6.92 (1.757)	Tyrosine⁴	1.86 ± 0.67	3.36 ± 1.49
7.2 (1.279)	·		
7.0 (1.268)	3-methyl histidine ⁵	<lod< td=""><td>3.56 ± 0.05</td></lod<>	3.56 ± 0.05
7.6 (1.645)	-		
6.16 (1.112)	Nucleotide	0.70 ± 0.17	0.77 ± 0.06
8.28 (1.1921)	derivative (ATP)		
8.64 (0.939)			

Table 2.4 Spectral regions with the largest between-day metabolomic changes

¹There is more than one spectral bucket value for each metabolite because more than one peak per metabolite is usually obtained.

²Mean fold changes were calculated taking into account all peaks for a particular compound and all caterpillars in the group: e.g. a fold change of 1.0 indicates no change, 2.0 indicates a doubling of the metabolite and 0.5 indicates the metabolite has halved.

³NC denotes no change. This has been noted where metabolite levels changed by ≤ 1 standard deviation from their levels at day 1.

⁴The intensity of the tyrosine resonances are above the limit of detection (defined as 3x the noise level) in all samples but in some samples are below the limit of quantification (defined as 10x the noise level) hence the high S.D. of the measured fold change.

⁵Peak is below the limit of detection (LOD) and quantification in extracts from hosts 1 and 8 day old hosts.

2.5 Discussion

There is clear evidence that the quality of a host is influenced by time since paralysis. Specifically, G. nephantidis eggs that were laid onto older hosts had a lower probability of developing to adulthood than eggs laid onto younger hosts and the surviving offspring were smaller as adults. Increased mortality is of obvious detriment to offspring fitness and smaller body size is associated with lower longevity and fecundity in adult G. nephantidis females (Hardy et al. 1992) and also with reduced success in 'dyadic' contests for resources that are vital for reproduction (Petersen & Hardy 1996, Humphries et al. 2006, this study). Further, adult G. nephantidis females are able to assess age-related components of host quality and attune their behaviour accordingly: older C. cephalonica larvae were accepted less frequently for oviposition and those accepted had smaller clutches laid onto them than did younger hosts of similar size. In addition, females guarding an older host tended to lose contests against females guarding a younger host, suggesting that the importance that contestants place on retaining the host they are defending (resource value) declines with its age; this is in direct analogy to interpretations of the effect of host-weight differences in owner-owner contests in this species (Humphries et al. 2006). Our results (Figure 2.6) also show that contest outcomes are influenced simultaneously by two aspects of resource value asymmetry (host age and size) plus asymmetries in resource holding potential (contestant size). Similarly, Figure 2.4 shows that clutch size decisions are influenced by host age and size simultaneously.

Sex ratios in this study (mean = 0.129, variance ratio = 0.833) were quantitatively similar to previous estimates for *G. nephantidis* (e.g. 0.093 and 0.743, Hardy & Cook 1995) and were the only assessed aspect of *G. nephantidis* reproductive biology that was unaffected by host age. This suggests that host age affects the mortality of both sexes equally and/or that ovipositing mothers do not attune their sex allocation decisions to the host age component of host quality: this is not unexpected since, as a gregarious species, typically laying clutches of around 5-15 eggs, sexually differential investment returns in *G. nephantidis* are likely to be more strongly affected by population mating structure than by host quality (Godfray 1994, Hardy & Cook 1995, Mayhew & Godfray 1997, West 2009). Sexually differential developmental mortality also appears to be absent in this and other *Goniozus* species (Hardy & Cook 1995, Khidr et al. submitted, Chapter 6).

The assessment of host size by *G. nephantidis* has been shown in several previous studies, for instance Hardy et al. (1992) found that clutch size is adjusted to host size, whether experimentally measured as host length, width or weight, and there have been many other demonstrations of host-size dependent oviposition decisions in parasitoids (Schmidt 1991, Godfray 1994). The mechanisms by which parasitoids assess size include measuring the host by walking along it (Schmidt 1991) and *G. nephantidis* females spend the vast majority of the period between stinging a host and laying eggs on it, either motionless on or next to the host or moving slowly along its length on the host (e.g. Goubault et al. 2007b).

In contrast, the assessment of host age since paralysis by *G. nephantidis* is a novel finding. There have been many prior reports of host age, prior to attack by parasitoids, influencing host quality and oviposition decisions (e.g. van Alphen & Drijver 1982, Ode & Strand 1995, King 1998, Husni & Honda 2001, Ueno 2004, Hegazi & Khafagi 2008). However to our knowledge, this is the first study documenting the influence of the age of paralyzed but unparasitized hosts on the behaviour of adult parasitoids. For the majority of parasitoids there is little scope for post-paralysis age to affect host acceptance and oviposition decisions as these are usually made within minutes or even seconds of host encounter. Nonetheless, there are several thousand species of bethylids, and possibly other taxa, for which assessment of post-paralysis host age may have adaptive value.

The post-paralysis host age effects we have found indicate that biochemical changes occur within paralysed hosts and that these are detected by adult *G. nephantidis* and influence the development of their progeny. The nutritional status of the host can be considered as of a central importance to parasitoid life-history strategies and the energy metabolism associated with these (Rivers & Denlinger 1995, Mackauer et al. 1997). It is likely that *G. nephantidis* assesses host nutritional state via chemical sense organs on, for instance, its ovipositor, mandibles, tarsai and/or antennae, which are able to respond to amino acids and other chemicals: such structures and abilities are present in other parasitoid species (Schmidt 1991, Vinson 1991, Quicke 1997). Observations *G. nephantidis* may non-destructively host feed and/or malaxate paralysed hosts suggest that it assessed host chemistry via taste.

Idiobiont parasitoids tranquilize their larval hosts with venom. In *Goniozus legneri*, a congener of *G. nephantidis*, venom consists of low molecular weight proteins and

polypeptides including polyamines (e.g. putrescine), proline and dopamine (Skinner et al. 1990). Venom frequently disrupts host physiology and development by evoking paralysis, through inhibition of host moulting, and in some cases, by disrupting calcium homeostasis in specific host tissues (Rivers & Denlinger 1994, Thompson & Dahlman 1998, Parkinson & Weaver 1999, Rahbé et al. 2002, Rivers 2004). The impact of venom produced by ectoparasitoids on the nutrient composition of host haemolymph has been investigated in several parasitoid species. In general, venom induced changes to the host's metabolism involve freeing nutrients (such as fatty acids, Nakamatsu & Tanaka 2004, or free amino acids Guerra et al. 1993, into the host's haemolymph which enhances uptake by developing parasitoids and frees them from substantial metabolic costs of chemical breakdown (Garrett & Grisham 1999). The simple fact that envenomated C. cephalonica hosts cease to feed is probably a major influence on their metabolomic profiles. Harvey et al. (1995) found that smaller parasitoids emerged from lepidopteran hosts that had been starved prior to parasitism, and in Drosophila flies, starvation induces autophagy, whereby nonessential proteins and organelles are recycled to generate amino acids for other purposes (Scott et al. 2004), a similar process is likely to account for our observations of increased amino acid levels in older C. cephalonica hosts (Table 2.4). Thompson (1981 and Quicke 1997) showed that parasitoids drawn from a wide array of hymenopteran taxa (though not including the Bethylidae) had absolute requirements for 10 amino acids: arginine, histidine, isoleucine, leucine, lysine, methionine, phenylalanine, threonine, typtophan and valine. Eight of these were found in C. cephalonica (the exceptions are methionine and phenylalanine, Table 2.2) along with seven other non-essential amino acids. Amino acids can be used by wasps to synthesise carbohydrates and thus a general increase in amino acid levels might be expected to enhance, rather than decrease, the quality of C. cephalonica as hosts for G. nephantidis (see also Yazgan 1972). However, there were also large changes other (non-amino acid) metabolites as paralysed C. cephalonica aged: glucose and ATP, both closely associated with energy, decreased and dietary glucose has been found to positively affect parasitoid growth (Thompson 1979, Hu et al. 2001). Citrate levels increased as hosts aged from 1 to 8 days post-paralysis and were also higher in 16day old hosts compared to 1-day old hosts, but not so much as in 8-day hosts. Citrate is important as an intermediate in the citric acid cycle, and therefore occurs in the metabolism of all organisms and might also be produced by fermentation (see below).

In larvae of another lepidopteran species, the activity of midgut citrate synthase decreased when feeding ceased (Chamberlin & King 1998): in my study levels of citrate were higher after 8 days of starvation but then were not as high after a further 8 days, suggesting a dome shaped relationship for the citrate component of host quality with time. The levels of ethanol in hosts also increased with age. Ethanol is a waste product of metabolism of microbes, such as yeast, and some plants, but not of animals. While some parasitoid species inject yeast-like organisms into their hosts which then develop in the intestines of feeding parasitoid larvae (Quicke 1997) we regard it as more likely that increased ethanol levels we detected are due to fermentation by yeast in the host's diet (see Materials and Methods). As ethanol acts as a toxin, levels of ethanol are likely to be negatively correlated to the nutritional quality of hosts.

Post-paralysis but pre-parasitism ageing is a relatively unusual component of hostparasitoid interactions, but our metabolomic analysis serves more broadly as an illustration of methodology that can readily be employed to understand the biochemical basis of a variety of host quality correlates across a wide range of hostparasitoid associations (see also studies that used NMR before: Thompson 1990, Thompson & Dahlman 1998, Thompson 2001) for instance, hosts of different species are likely to have different metabolic profiles, making them suitable hosts for some parasitoid species but not for others. Similar arguments can be made for host developmental stage and most, if not all, of the facets of host quality listed in the Introduction. An advantage of NMR as an analytical approach is that it allows exploration of the biochemical changes occurring without a priori focus on given classes of molecular nutrient metabolites (Jardetzky & Roberts 1981, Keun et al. 2002, Rahbé et al. 2002, van Dorsten et al. 2006) or the need to assay different sub-sets of the organisms sampled for different chemical classes. For instance, Rivers and Denlinger (1994) carried out separate tests, on separate sets of hosts, for amino acids, proteins, keto acids, lipids, glycogen and trehalose to investigate the association between various changes in host's physiology with nutrient availability. In addition, nutrient identification into different sub-classes (e.g. lipids, carbohydrate and protein) might not be used equivalently for reproduction and maintenance (Strand & Casas 2008). Thus, NMR has the potential to assess all of these biochemical components on the same time from a single host.

2.6 Conclusions

Paralysed but unparasitized *C. cephalonica* larvae are unable to feed but may not die for several weeks: during this period they have a 'shelf-life' in that their quality as hosts declines with time. This decline in quality is manifest in its effects on key lifehistory components of *G. nephantidis* development (immature mortality and body size of surviving adults), and adult behavioural decisions (host acceptance, clutch size and contest outcomes). This decline in quality appears largely nutritionally based with decreases in energy-associated metabolite and increases in waste products playing the most likely roles. While post-paralysis but pre-parasitism ageing is an unusual component of host-parasitoid interactions, NMR analyses can be employed to understand the metabolomic basis of a variety of host quality correlates, such as developmental stage and species, across a wide range of host-parasitoid associations and are predicted to play an important future role in both biocontrol applications of parasitoids and further studies of their evolutionary and behavioural ecology.

Part two: Kin recognition, aggressive behaviour and chemical

cues

.

Chapter 3: Two components of kin recognition influence parasitoid aggression in resource competition

3.1 Abstract

Kin recognition, defined as the ability to differentiate genetically related individuals from unrelated individuals, plays a key role in a range of biological processes ranging from mate choice to altruistic behaviours but kin-based altruism may be overridden by competition for resources. Here we explore kin recognition in a gregarious parasitoid wasp, *Goniozus legneri*, which exhibits adult female-female contests for hosts. Contest behaviour was less aggressive when competitors were more closely related and also when females had developed on the same host (in nature, brood-mates will almost always be siblings). *Goniozus legneri* appears to be the only parasitoid species utilizing both genetically based (phenotype matching) and environmentally based (familiarity) mechanisms of phenotypic kin discrimination. While perceived resource value affects aggression in *Goniozus*, resource competition did not completely override kin recognition effects.

Published as: Lizé¹ A, Khidr¹ S K & Hardy ICW. 2012. Two components of kin recognition influence parasitoid aggression in resource competition. *Animal Behaviour*. 83: 793-799.

¹These authors contributed equally to the study

3.2 Introduction

Kin recognition, defined as the ability to differentiate genetically related individuals from unrelated individuals, plays a key role in a range of biological processes ranging from mate choice (Ode et al. 1995, Pusey & Wolf 1996, Enigl & Schausberger 2004, Lihoreau et al. 2007, Metzger et al. 2010) to altruistic behaviours (Hamilton 1964a, Mateo 2004, Lizé et al. 2006, Gardner & West 2007). Behaving altruistically toward relatives by definition involves costs to the altruist. Kin selection theory predicts that a genetic trait may be selected even if it does not generate an advantage to the actor (i.e. direct fitness), provided that it increases sufficiently the fitness of other individuals sharing the actor's genes (i.e. indirect fitness) (Hamilton 1964b, Grafen 1984, Frank 1998, Griffin & West 2002). This suggests that individuals should be less aggressive (more altruistic) towards closer relatives when conflicts of direct-fitness-interest arise.

Broadly, two categories of kin recognition mechanism exist; some species utilize phenotypic kin recognition, ultimately based on individuals' features while others may use non-phenotypic kin recognition (Waldman 1987, 1988, Holmes 2004). Non-phenotypic kin recognition relies on cues associated with a common environment such as the nest or spatial location, rather than on the perception of phenotypic traits expressed by individuals themselves (Waldman 1987, Hepper 1991, Holmes 2004, Ruf et al. 2010). Phenotypic kin recognition relies on learning the traits expressed or borne by individuals and can operate by different mechanisms such as familiarity and phenotype matching. Familiarity refers to interactions between individuals regardless of genetic relatedness: any individual will become familiar if it is encountered often, whether or not it is a relative. By contrast, phenotype matching involves the phenotypic cues of its siblings or its own cues (Gadagkar 1985). Disentangling phenotype matching from familiarity would require related individuals that have never met before to recognize each other as kin.

Behavioural aggression is often manifested when individuals compete for resources. However, influences of kin recognition on competition have been generally ignored in ecological studies (Waldman 1988, Lizé et al. 2006). Moreover, recent studies have suggested that an excessively high level of kin competition may cancel-out the benefits of being less aggressive toward related individuals rather than non-relatives (West et al. 2001, 2002, Segoli et al. 2009a). While the ability to treat kin

differentially may influence interference between related individuals competing for a given resource, only a few studies have tested this empirically: across fig wasp species, the level of fighting between adult males shows no correlation with the relatedness of interacting males (West et al. 2001) but is negatively correlated with future mating opportunities (the contested resource). In contrast, in the polyembryonic wasp genus *Copidosoma* attack by the larval soldier caste is unaffected by levels of resource competition but inversely correlated to competitor relatedness (Giron et al. 2004, see also Segoli et al. 2009b) and is mediated by kin recognition based on properties of the larval extra-embryonic membrane (Giron & Strand 2004, Segoli et al. 2009a). However, in the parasitoid wasp genus *Mellitobia* neither the value of the contested resource nor the relatedness of competitors influence levels of aggression (Innocent et al. 2011).

In this study, we explore the effect and basis of kin recognition among adult females on contest behaviour in the parasitoid wasp Goniozus legneri Gordh (Hymenoptera: Bethylidae). Individual G. legneri females paralyze each host by stinging and, around 24 h later, lay 1-20 eggs onto its surface (Hardy et al. 1998). The developing larvae then feed externally (ectoparasitically) and thus potentially encounter both kin and host cues. Maturing females tend to disperse around 24h after eclosion from the cocoon (Hardy et al. 2000). On finding and paralysing a host, a female typically remains with it for several days and defends it, and the developing brood, against conspecific intruders (sub-social behaviour, Choe & Crespi 1997, p3). Contests in Goniozus involve chases and escalated fights but are very seldom fatal. As predicted by game-theory, the outcomes of owner-intruder contests are influenced by asymmetries in both body size (fighting ability) and prior ownership status (Goubault et al. 2006, Bentley et al. 2009). Two non-owner females encountering an undefended host simultaneously will also engage in direct competitive behaviour (see below). Such host-ownership contests may take place between closely or distantly related conspecifics. We therefore investigated the importance of competitor relatedness, alongside the influence of ownership and female size asymmetries, on agonistic behaviour and contest outcomes, and used larval transfer between hosts to explore any mechanisms of kin recognition.
3.3 Material & Methods

3.3.1 Parasitoids

This study employed two strains of *G. legneri*. One was obtained in 2003 from a commercial insectary in the USA (the original material is believed to have been collected from southern Uruguay in 1978, Gordh 1982). This strain, which we term 'U', has been used in previous studies of contest behaviour (Goubault et al. 2006, Bentley et al. 2009) and was the only strain used in our first experiment. The other strain, 'C', was collected in May 2009 around Santiago, Chile, where a natural population had previously been found (Zaviezo et al. 2007). These two strains will readily interbreed in the laboratory and are thus conspecific but are also genetically distinct (evaluation of 24 microsatellite markers found inter-strain polymorphism at 6, S.K.K. unpublished data). Our second experiment used both strains.

All parasitoids were reared on the facultative host *Corcyra cephalonica* Stainton (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae), following methods given in Stokkebo and Hardy (2000). *Corcyra cephalonica* was reared on a diet of glycerol, corn meal and wheat bran and yeast, as reported by Cook (1993), with the addition of honey in equal quantity to the glycerol. All cultures and experiments were carried out in a climate room at 27°C with and constant illumination and with high relative humidity maintained by evaporation from a water bath.

3.3.2 Experiment 1: Identifying determinants of aggression

Contests were staged between pairs of females over possession of a host larva. In a 3-way factorial design we varied independently the relatedness between contestants, whether they had developed on the same or on a different host (termed 'host of origin') and whether the contest was between a prior owner and a non-owner (intruder) or between two non-owners (termed 'ownership'), each experimental factor had two treatment levels. In an attempt to achieve high statistical power (Smith et al. 2011), we carried out between 16 and 24 replicates of each of the 8 combinations of the three factors (not including replicates that failed due to wasp developmental mortality, the individuals being males or adult females not interacting during the observation period [\approx 10% of replicates]), giving an overall sample size of 161.

Relatedness between contestants was varied by using either sibling females from the same clutch (theoretical relatedness ≈ 0.75 due to haplo-diploidy and maternal sibmating, Hamilton 1964a) or non-sibling females (from within strain U). Siblings developing on different hosts were created by removing, with fine seekers (Hardy et al. 1992), around half of the unhatched eggs from a parasitized host initially bearing 10-14 eggs and placing them, in a separate vial, on another host that had been previously paralysed, but not parasitized (no eggs laid), by another female (which had been removed). We created broods of non-siblings by placing 5-7 eggs, each from a different clutch laid by a different mother, onto a previously paralysed but unparasitized host (prior to egg laying). Developing broods were checked frequently and as soon as adults were observed to have eclosed from their cocoons they were isolated from each other; post-eclosion association of adult females rarely exceeded six hours. Owners were created by placing 1-day old female wasps with a healthy host larva 24h prior to the contest, whereas intruders were females that had not been given a host (Bentley et al. 2009).

All contestant females were of the same age (*ca.* 48h post-eclosion) and pairs of contestants were selected to be of similar size: individual females were weighed to an accuracy of 0.01mg prior to contests (the mean [±SD; range] size of females in this experiment was 1.128mg [±0.243; 0.24 to 1.81]) and within-replicate size differences ranged from 0.00 to 0.93mg (mean±SD: 0.144±0.172). None of the contestants had had previous experience of contest interactions (but all of them had experienced sibling or non-sibling cues and the same or different host cues). Within each replicate, individual females were marked by painting a dot of yellow or red acrylic paint on the dorsal surface of their thorax (Driessen & Hemerik 1992, Petersen & Hardy 1996); to achieve this, and for weighing, an anaesthetic (CO₂ gas) was utilized a day before the contest to minimize its effect on subsequent behaviour (Nicolas & Sillans 1989).

Contests were staged in an opaque plastic block covered with clear Plexiglas and with three chambers connected by a slot filled with movable barriers (Petersen & Hardy 1996, Goubault et al. 2006). In Owner-Intruder replicates, an owner and its host were placed into the central chamber and an intruder into a peripheral, and initially separated, chamber. In Intruder-Intruder replicates, the host was placed in the central chamber while the two intruder females were initially separated in a different peripheral chamber. After 30 minutes, the barriers were withdrawn sufficiently to

60

interconnect the three chambers. Wasp behaviour was recorded from above for 60 minutes using a digital video camera, starting when both females were first present in the central chamber. Behavioural interactions, classified as non-aggressive interactions, chases, bites, attacks with a stinger and fights (Goubault et al. 2008), were counted and the identity of any winner, defined as the wasp that remained in the vicinity of the host while the other, the loser, had been excluded (Petersen & Hardy 1996), was noted.

3.3.3 Experiment 2: Focussing on kin recognition determinants of aggression

Analysis of data from Experiment 1 suggested that the presence of ownership asymmetries influences the aggressiveness of behavioural interactions and also that size differences between contestants interacted with both relatedness and the host-oforigin. These results suggest that sharing a host during larval development may act as a proxy for genetic relatedness. To focus more directly on whether less related individuals are more aggressive than more related ones, we carried out a second experiment in which relatedness and 'host-of-origin' varied. This followed the methods of Experiment 1 with four differences: (1) All contests were staged between pairs of non-owners (ownership asymmetries were thus absent). (2) We made greater efforts to minimise the size differences between females, resulting in within-replicate differences ranging from 0.0 to 0.05mg (mean±s.d.=0.0172±0.0149), an order of magnitude smaller than in Experiment 1 (the mean size of females in this experiment was 1.081mg (SD ± 0.155 ; range 0.77 to 1.45). (3) We increased the likely variation of within-replicate relatedness by collecting and establishing the second, Chilean, strain of G. legneri: contestant females either belonged to different strains (C vs. U) or to the same strain in one of two ways (C vs. C, or U vs. U). Relatedness was thus initially treated as a factor with three levels. (4) Broods of wasps from different strains were created by placing just one egg from each strain onto the previously paralysed, but unparasitized, host (each host thus received two eggs): this was necessary to ensure that a contest could subsequently be staged between wasps known to be from different strains. We carried out 12-14 (successful) replicates of each of the 6 experimental combinations of relatedness and host of origin, giving an overall sample size of 80.

3.3.4 Statistical analysis

Data were analysed using generalized linear modelling available in the Genstat statistical package (Version 12, VSN International, Hemel Hempstead, UK). Logistic analyses were employed for proportional response variables, where possible using empirically estimated scale parameters to account for potential overdispersion, and also with the caveat that hypothesis testing with generalized linear models is inexact when significance is marginal and small proportions of the deviance are explained (Crawley 1993, Wilson & Hardy 2002, Warton & Hui 2011). Because size differences between contestants are effectively impossible to eliminate completely and have consistently been found to influence G. legneri contest outcomes in prior studies (Goubault et al. 2006, Bentley et al. 2009), the absolute weight difference between the females in each replicate was fitted as a continuous variable alongside the categorical factors. Analyses initially included these main effects and first order interaction terms in a maximal model and then established the minimum adequate model by backwards, stepwise model simplification, using deletion tests and factorlevel aggregation (Crawley 1993, Hardy & Field 1998, Wilson & Hardy 2002). All tests were 2-tailed.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Experiment 1: Identifying determinants of aggression

There were 1 to 91 (mean \pm SD: 17.78 \pm 16.83) behavioural interactions between individual pairs of females during the 60-minute observation period. The proportion of interactions that were aggressive varied greatly between replicates and was influenced by relatedness, by ownership asymmetries and by whether the females had developed on the same or different hosts, via an interaction with body size (absolute difference in weight); size difference also interacted with relatedness while other interactions were non-significant (Table 3.1).

Source	d.f.	Deviance	F-ratio	Ρ	%Deviance explained
Relatedness	1	20.566	5.40	0.021	2.89
Host of origin	1	1.929	0.51	0.478	0.27
Ownership	1	64.231	16.87	<0.001	9.02
Size difference	1	0.001	0.00	0.987	0.00
Relatedness × Host of origin interaction	1	0.003	0.00	0.978	0.00
Relatedness × Ownership	1	10.111	2.66	0.105	1.42
Host of origin × Ownership interaction	1	7.650	2.01	0.158	1.07
Size difference × Relatedness interaction	1	26.178	6.87	0.010	3.67
Size difference × Host of origin interaction	1	30.275	7.95	0.005	4.25
Size difference × Ownership interaction	1	0.169	0.04	0.834	0.02
Residual	150	571.258			
Total	160	711.577			

Table 3.1 Influences on the proportion of behaviours that were aggressive

P-values of significant explanatory variables are shown in bold font.

Around 20% of the variation in aggressiveness was explained by the significant terms in the statistical model. The proportions of behavioural interactions that were aggressive were higher when females were non-siblings than when they were siblings (Figure 3.1a), when females had developed on different rather than the same hosts (Figure 3.1b) and when one female was a prior owner than when both were non-owners (Figure 3.1c). Increasing size differences increased the difference in the

proportions of aggressive behaviour based on relatedness (Figure 3.1a) and host of origin (Figure 3.1b).



Wasp weight difference (mg)



Figure 3.1 Aggressiveness of female-female encounters. Proportion of aggressive behaviour in relation to (a) relatedness and body size difference, (b) whether contestants had developed on the same host and body size difference, and (c) ownership status of wasps. In (c) means and S.E.s are back-transformed from logitscale estimates from 78 Owner-Intruder and 83 Intruder-Intruder replicates.

Contests had a clear resolution (a winner and a loser) in 128 of the 161 replicates (79.5%). The colour of the paint mark had no influence on contest outcome (red marked wasps won 66/128 contests, Binomial test, P=0.759). The probability of contest resolution was higher when one female was a prior owner (91.0%) than when both females where initially non-owners (68.6%; $G_1=13.02$, P<0.001, Deviance explained = 7.9%) but was not significantly influenced by size difference, relatedness, host of origin or any interactions between the main effects. Among these 128 replicates, contest outcome (the identity of the wining wasp) was not influenced by any of the four main effects or their interactions. However the non-significant effect of body size difference ($G_1=2.87$, P=0.09) was suggestive of an advantage of larger body size (as found in previous studies and also in Experiment 2, see below).

3.4.2 Experiment 2: Focussing on kin recognition determinants of aggression

There were 4 to 103 (mean±SD: 24.71±19.71) behavioural interactions between individual pairs of females. The proportion of these interactions that were aggressive was significantly higher when females had developed on different host compared to the same host (Table 3.2, Figure 3.2a). The proportion of aggression was also influenced by relatedness (Table 3.2, Figure 3.2b). The initial three-level classification of relatedness could not be simplified by aggregation (Crawley 1993, p190) of 'C vs. C' and 'U vs. U' replicates into a common category of 'same strain' ($F_{1,76}$ =7.14, P=0.009) but a re-classification according to whether or not the replicate contained at least one female from strain C lead to a more parsimonious model ($F_{1,76}$ =0.28, P=0.596), suggesting that Chilean wasps are the more aggressive strain and inter-replicate variation in agonistic behaviour is determined by this difference rather than by an effect of genetic relatedness. There was no significant interaction terms (Table 3.2). Around 14% of the variation in the proportion of behaviour that was aggressive was explained collectively by relatedness and host of origin (Table 3.2).

Source	d.f.	Deviance	F-ratio	Р	%Deviance explained
Relatedness	2	56.419	3.85	0.026	9.03
Host of origin	1	30.636	4.18	0.045	4.90
Size difference	1	0.359	0.05	0.826	0.06
Relatedness × host of origin interaction	2	21.592	1.47	0.236	3.45
Size difference × relatedness interaction	2	1.366	0.09	0.911	0.22
Size difference × Host of origin interaction	1	1.068	0.15	0.704	0.17
Residual	70	513.174			
Total	79	624.404			

Table 3.2 Kin recognition components influenced the proportion ofbehaviours that were aggressive

P-values of significant explanatory variables are shown in bold font.Note that the 3way categorization of relatedness can be further simplified according to the geographical origin of the contestant females (see text).



Figure 3.2 Effects of host sharing and genetic strain on the aggressiveness of femalefemale encounters. Panel (a) illustrates how aggressiveness is influenced by whether contestants had developed on the same host (38 different host replicates and 42 same host replicates) and Panel (b) shows how aggressiveness is influenced by the strains involved (28 C vs. C replicates, 26 C vs. U replicates and 26 U vs. U replicates). Means and S.E.s are back-transformed from logit-scale estimates. Strain C derived from a population in Chile and strain U was obtained from laboratories in the USA with probable origins in Uruguay.

Contests had a clear resolution in 69/80 replicates (86.2%). The probability of contest resolution was not significantly affected by size difference (G_1 =0.66, P=0.42), host of origin ($G_1=0.60$, P=0.44) or the relatedness between the wasps ($G_2=2.63$, P=0.07) or any interactions between these main effects. However, the marginally non-significant effect of the three-level classification of relatedness suggested the possibility of between-strain differences: subsequent aggregation of levels within this factor showed that, as above, relatedness could not be simplified to 'same strain' (G_1 =3.96, P=0.047) but a re-classification according to whether the replicate contained strain C was possible ($G_1=0.01$, P=0.94). As above, this suggests that contests involving Chilean wasps are more likely to be resolved due to higher levels of aggressive behaviour (50/54 [92.6%] contests involving strain C wasps were resolved and 19/26 [73%] involving only strain U were resolved). Among the 69 resolved contests, the colour of the mark did not influence contest outcome (red wasps won 35/69 contests, Binomial test: P=0.905). Contest outcome was not influenced by host of origin $(G_1=0.05, P=0.82)$ or the relatedness between the wasps $(G_2=0.38, P=0.68)$ or by any interaction terms. Contests were, however, significantly more likely to be won by the larger individual (G_1 =4.46, P=0.035, Deviance explained =4.66%, fitted logistic 1/[1+{1/(exp([23.4×Weight regression equation: probability of winning = difference]+0.111))}]).

3.5 Discussion

This study set out to discover whether competitor relatedness affects contest behaviour in a parasitoid wasp: it does. While contestant behaviour was generally aggressive, it was more aggressive when competitors were less closely related. In the second experiment genetic relatedness effects may be explained by inter-strain differences in aggressiveness but such differences were not present in the first experiment, suggesting that these parasitoids can recognise kin using individuals' genetically-based phenotypic properties as cues. Both experiments also indicate that environmentally-based properties are used by interacting females as a proxy cue for kinship.

Our results thus provide evidence that adult females of a sub-social parasitoid species are able to recognize other females as kin, whether or not they developed on the same host, and are also able to recognize brood-mates, whether or not they are kin.

In nature, individuals that have developed on the same host will almost always be full siblings, due to brood quarding by mothers and infanticide or host rejection by successful intruders (Bentley et al. 2009), so brood-mate recognition will serve as an effective means of recognizing kin. These results are similar to those for the gregarious parasitoid Bracon hebetor in which adult females recognize brood-mates and discriminate against them to avoid genetic disadvantages of inbreeding, but in B. hebetor there appears to be no genetic component of phenotypic kin recognition (Ode et al. 1995). The opposite is reported from a solitary species, Venturia canescens, in which there are no brood-mates and mate choice is influenced by genetic kin recognition (Metzger et al. 2010). Several other recent empirical studies of adult parasitoid wasps have found no evidence for kin recognition effects on mate choice (Bourdais & Hance 2009, Ruf et al. 2010), sex allocation behaviour (Reece et al. 2004) or male-male combat (Innocent et al. 2011). At present, G. legneri appears to be the only parasitoid wasp reported to employ both genetic and environmental mechanisms of phenotypic kin discrimination. However, G. legneri is classed as sub-social due to brood care (Choe & Crespi 1997) and the use of both phenotypic and non-phenotypic kin recognition cues as determinants of aggression by social Polistes wasps (nonparasitoids) is well known (Gamboa et al. 1986a,b, Bura & Gamboa 1994).

Because G. legneri contests for hosts occur after dispersal from the common developmental site, reduced aggression towards prior brood-mates is unlikely to be mediated by non-phenotypic kin recognition but instead fits the definition of phenotypic kin recognition via familiarity. Two possible, and mutually non-exclusive, means of achieving this are the use of cues deriving from the host and of cues deriving from brood-mates. Our results cannot distinguish between these potentials but a simple mechanism would be for females to learn the cues of conspecific broodmates to form a recognition template and then match it to labels expressed by females encountered during contests (phenotype matching). Learning the cues of brood-mates (which normally are siblings) rather than hosts would also lead to the recognition of genetically related females that have not previously been encountered (having developed on a different host), and G. legneri does behave less aggressively towards unfamiliar kin than towards unfamiliar non-kin. However, females may learn several cues related to their host and/or brood-mates leading to the formation of different templates being used when they encounter familiar and unfamiliar females. Individuals could also learn their own cues (self-referent phenotype matching, Lizé et

69

al. 2006, 2007, Metzger et al. 2010) for the recognition of unfamiliar but related females. According to Newey (2011), colonial insects may use two types of cues to distinguish nest-mates from non-nest-mates: the individual's innate odour and the shared colony odour. While further experiments are needed to identify which kin recognition cues are used by *G. legneri* females, these cues must have been learned during the pre-imaginal stages and/or within the few hours after adult emergence from the cocoon (in our experiments females were isolated within \approx 6h post-emergence and, under laboratory conditions, disperse within 24h, Hardy et al. 2000).

Our results indicate that Goniozus legneri females use genetically-based recognition as well as familiarity, because related but unfamiliar females were less mutually aggressive than were unrelated unfamiliar females. Although recognition alleles ('greenbeard effects', Dawkins 1976) could also explain our results, they are in general expected to be rare due to invasion by cheaters and also, when they do occur, to be difficult to detect due to having gone to fixation in a population (Gardner & West 2010). For these general reasons it seems unlikely that our results are mediated by greenbeard effects. Phenotype matching relies on the genotype of individuals being expressed through their phenotype, in contrast to familiarity in which phenotypic cues may derive from genotypes and/or the environment. Familiarity and phenotype matching are thus considered different perceptual mechanisms but phenotype matching could be an extension of familiarity (Holmes 2004, Mateo 2004, Schausberger 2007). The former requires an exact match to an individual template, whereas the latter generalizes from individual templates that have been formed from individuals sharing phenotypic traits to a common representation of kin (Mateo 2004). However, the lack of significant interactions between genetic relatedness (suggestive of phenotype matching) and host-of-origin (familiarity) suggests that female G. legneri utilize two different recognition mechanisms, rather than the phenotype matching mechanism being an extension of familiarity. Different recognition mechanisms may be used in different social contexts (Mateo 2004, Schausberger 2007). Both mechanisms are used by the same individuals in Belding's ground squirrels (Holmes & Sherman 1982, Mateo & Johnston 2003, Mateo 2004), lambs (Ligout & Porter 2003), social paper wasps (Gamboa et al. 1986b, Bura & Gamboa 1994, Gamboa 2004). Among invertebrates, mainly social Hymenoptera have been shown to use recognition mechanisms based on familiarity and phenotype matching (reviewed in Gamboa 2004). However, an individual may use different ways of

70

assessing relatedness in the same context as for female *G. legneri*. To our knowledge, *G. legneri* is the only example of a sub-social wasp able to use two mechanisms of kin recognition in the same context (i.e. during contests for resources). Understanding the functional advantage of the use of these two mechanisms would be valuable for our knowledge of social evolution.

Favouring related individuals at the expense of less related or unrelated ones might be overridden by a high level of competition between siblings (West et al. 2001). In G. legneri, and in other host-guarding parasitoid species, prior ownership of hosts is associated with a greater value being placed on the resource and also higher levels of aggression (Petersen & Hardy 1996, Stokkebo & Hardy 2000, Humphries et al. 2006, Goubault et al. 2006, 2008, Mohamad et al. 2010, this study). Although the presence of ownership asymmetries explains more deviance than any other fitted variable (Table 3.1) aggressive behaviour is still tempered by kin recognition. In other wasp systems resource competition appears to override kin selection effects completely (West et al. 2001). Theory suggests that the evolution of kin-based altruism, in this case less aggressive behaviour, may be suppressed in populations unless dispersal occurs which allows the beneficiaries of altruism to compete for resources against nonrelatives (Taylor 1992, Queller 1994, West et al. 2002) or unless mistakes in kin discrimination are evolutionarily costly (Segoli et al. 2009a). These concepts in turn suggest that G. legneri has imperfect kin discrimination abilities and/or that populations are not so viscous that competing females are frequently close relatives but there is almost no information available on patterns of dispersal beyond that from the remains of the natal host (Hardy et al. 2000).

3.6 Conclusion

Goniozus legneri females appear able to recognize kin via two phenotypic mechanisms, one genetically-based (phenotype matching) and the other environmentally-based (familiarity) which operate together additively rather than interactively. Kinship and perceived kinship are both associated with lower levels of inter-contestant aggression. This is expected from classic theory (Hamilton 1964a,b) but more recent theory and comparative evidence (West et al. 2001, 2002) suggests that in hymenoptera with viscous population structures, resource competition may suppress the evolution of less aggressive, more altruistic, behaviours. In other hymenopteran systems resource competition is less important and altruism operates apparently due to a mixture of pre-competition dispersal from the natal patch and (possibly limited) kin recognition. Goniozus legneri appears to be intermediate between these extremes, possibly suggesting an intermediate degree of population viscosity, as females behave more aggressively when resource competition is more manifest but the level of aggression is also mediated by the recognition of kin.

Chapter 4 : Cuticular hydrocarbon profiles of *Goniozus* species and of hosts influence wasp aggressiveness

4.1 Abstract

The cuticular hydrocarbon profiles of insects are well known to be highly variable. Variation may be due to genetic or environmental influences, or both. The majority of prior studies have focused on social insects, mainly those in the Hymenoptera, and have shown that hydrocarbons play an important role mediating social behaviour, particularly via kin recognition. Here we assess the cuticular hydrocarbon profiles (CHC) of three species of parasitoid wasps in the genus *Goniozus* (Hymenoptera: Bethylidae), some of which are known to attune their behaviour according to both environmentally based and genetic based recognition of kin. We find that CHC profiles vary according to both genetic background (wasp species) and the developmental environment (host species) thus showing that kin recognition is likely to be based on CHC profiles in these parasitoids as it is in social hymenoptera. Because the CHC profiles of different species within the genus *Goniozus* are dissimilar, we also conclude that chemical analysis can be used as a taxonomic tool alongside morphological and molecular genetic identification for *Goniozus* and other species.

Submitted as Khidr SK, Linforth RST & & Hardy ICW. Genetic and environmental influences on the cuticular hydrocarbon profiles of *Gonizus* wasps (Hymenoptera: Bethylidae). (*Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata*). 2012.

4.2 Introduction

Insects' exoskeletons consist of many layers of cuticle secreted by the epidermal cells (Hillerton et al. 1982, Reynolds 1987). Cuticular hydrocarbons (CHCs) are present in the exoskeleton of the majority of insect taxa (Blomquist et al. 1987, Howard 1993, Blomquist & Bagnères 2010) and the integument commonly consists of complex mixture of three major hydrocarbon compounds, which are n-alkanes, olefins and methyl alkanes (Lockey 1991, Martin & Drijfhout 2009). An insect's fitness might be associated with its cuticular hydrocarbon composition as CHCs serve as a prime barrier against desiccation (Edney 1977, Hadley 1981, 1984, Blomquist & Bagnères 2010), microorganism penetration and parasitoid and predator attack (Koidsumi 1957, David 1967).

Cuticular hydrocarbons can also affect insect fitness via influence on behaviour: due to their chemical stability, low volatility and structural diversity, variability in CHC composition has great potential to convey information and CHCs act as semiochemicals, serving as pheromones, kairomones and allomones (Blomguist et al. 1987, Howard 1993, Gamboa et al. 1996, Hölldobler 1999, Dani et al. 2001, Denis et al. 2006, Grillet et al. 2006, Rani et al. 2006, Ruther et al. 2011, van Wilgenburg et al. 2012). For instance, some parasitic wasps have the ability to distinguish genderspecific host CHCs which assists in the identification of hosts suitable for oviposition (Colazza et al. 2007, Lo Giudice et al. 2011). Further, CHCs function importantly in insect communication systems, serving as cues for species-, colony- and genderrecognition (Howard & Blomquist 2005, Haverty et al. 1990, Bagnères & Wicker-Thomas 2010, Lahav et al. 1999, Smith & Breed 1995) and the social behaviours, such as aggression and altruism, of many organisms have been correlated with the cuticular hydrocarbon profiles of actors and recipients (Jutsum et al. 1979, Lahav et al. 1999, Lenoir et al. 2001, Howard & Blomquist 2005, Dalecky et al. 2007, Ugelvig et al. 2008, Guerrieri et al. 2009, Drescher et al. 2010, El-Showk et al. 2010). For example, experimental work has shown that the intensity of aggression can be affected by the application of synthetic hydrocarbons to nest-mates in social insects (Lahav et al. 1999, Guerrieri et al. 2009) or by manipulating inert materials with

artificial or natural hydrocarbons (Akino et al. 2004, Greene & Gordon 2007, Martin et al. 2008).

The cuticular hydrocarbon profiles of individual insects usually have a genetic component, meaning that they can be used in kin-recognition by insects (Gamboa 2004, Howard & Blomquist 2005, Dronnet et al. 2006, El-Showk et al. 2010) and also as taxonomic indicators by researchers (Carlson & Yocom 1986, vander Meer 1986, Bagnères et al. 1990, Uva et al. 2004). CHC profiles usually also have an environmentally determined component; this means that they can be used by insects as indicators to determine relationships within and between populations (e.g. as a proxy for kinship, Lahav et al. 1999, Howard & Blomquist 2005, Dronnet et al. 2006, El-Showk et al. 2010, Helanterä et al. 2011) and also by researchers as indicators of the geographical or developmental origin of examined specimens (Dapporto et al. 2009, Perdereau et al. 2010).

In this study we investigate cuticular hydrocarbon profiles of three species of bethylid wasps. The CHC profiles of 5 bethylid species, belonging to the sub-family Epyrinae, have been reported previously: there are well over 100 different hydrocarbons found across these species, with most hydrocarbons occurring only in one species and with around 30-70 hydrocarbons present per species (Howard 1992, 1998, Howard & Infante 1996, Howard & Pérez-Lachaud 2002). Here we examine three species belonging to the sub-family Bethylinae, *Goniozus legneri* Gordh, *G. nephantidis* (Muesebeck) and an unidentified *Goniozus* species from Oman, and also examine whether these vary according to genetic and environmental factors.

The reproductive and behavioural biologies of *G. nephantidis* and *G. legneri* are relatively well known. Both are gregarious ectoparasitoids of lepidopteran larvae, both exhibit maternal care of their progeny via aggressive brood guarding and both have been deployed as agents of biological pest control; *G. legneri* in the New World and the middle-east and *G. nephantidis* in and around the Indian sub-continent (e.g. Legner & Silveira-Guido 1983, Gothilf & Mazor 1987, Goubault et al. 2007b, Bentley et al. 2009, Venkatesan et al. 2009). The species from Oman, which for convenience we refer to here tentatively as *Goniozus* sp. indet., is less well known but exhibits similar life-history and behavioural characteristics to *G. legneri* and *G. nephantidis*, and is also a natural enemy of agricultural pests (Abbas et al. 2008; ICWH pers. obs.). As this species has not been formally described it could be more closely related to, or

even synonymous with, either *G. legneri* or *G. nephantidis.* While these two described species are congeners, *G. nephantidis* was previously classified as *Paraseriola nephantidis* before the genera were merged by Gordh & Evans (1976) and it may be that further taxonomic revision based on new (e.g. molecular, Carr et al. 2010) evidence re-establishes an intra-genus distinction. One of the motivations for this study was thus to attempt to utilize CHC profiles as a species identification characteristic. Identifying the likely taxonomic position of *Goniozus* sp. indet.would help to establish whether it is a species for which the biology is already well known or a relatively unexplored species with biology still needing to be investigated, for instance, to assist with developing its potential as an agent of biological pest control.

Behavioural research on *Goniozus legneri* has found that adult females in situations of resource competition attune their aggression according to competitor relatedness, with relatedness apparently assessed both via actual genetic similarity and via sharing the same individual host during development (which serves as a proxy for genetic relatedness because in nature brood-mates will almost always be siblings) (Lizé et al. 2012, Chapter 3). It seems likely that such kin-recognition operates via the expression and detection of cuticular hydrocarbons, and that the CHC profile expressed is influenced by both the genetic composition of the wasps and the chemical composition of the developmental environment (Gamboa et al. 1986b, Dronnet et al 2006, Nehring et al. 2010). Another motivation for this study was to explore whether *Goniozus* CHC profiles correlate with relatedness within species (using different strains of *G. legneri* and also different sexes of *G. legneri* and *G. nephantidis*) and according to the identity of the host (using four different host species).

4.3 Material & Methods

4.3.1 Parasitoids

Goniozus legneri Gordh attacks a number of species of lepidopteran larvae which are pests of walnuts, pistachio nuts, almonds and apples (Steffan et al. 2001, Zaviezo et al. 2007). In 2003 we obtained a laboratory strain from a commercial insectary in the USA but the original material is believed to have been collected from a population in southern Uruguay in 1978 (Gordh 1982, Gordh et al. 1983, Legner & Silveira-Guido

1983): we term this strain 'U'. Two other strains of *G. legneri* were brought to the UK from Santiago, Chile, in 2009. One strain was collected directly from walnut trees, and is termed 'Chile field', while the other strain, termed 'Chile lab', had been maintained in a Chilean insectary since the discovery of the natural populations in apples and walnuts in 2003 (Zaviezo et al. 2007). *Goniozus nephantidis* (Muesebeck) attacks the coconut pest *Opisina arenosella* Walker in the Indian sub-continent (Venkatesan et al. 2007) and our strain has been maintained in culture for more than 10 years after having been obtained from an Indian insectary. The unidentified species, *Goniozus* sp. indet. attacks the larvae of the lesser date moth *Batrachedra amydraula* (Meyrick) in the Sultanate of Oman (Abbas et al. 2008).

4.3.2 Culturing

Goniozus legneri and *G. nephantidis* were maintained on a factitious host, the rice moth *Corcyra cephalonica* Stainton (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae) on an artificial diet consisting of glycerol, corn meal and wheat bran and yeast, following methods reported in Lizé et al. (2012). We did not culture *Goniozus* sp. indet. in our laboratory: hexane extractions (see below) were delivered from Oman where the parasitoid had been reared on larvae of the wax moth, *Galleria mellonella* L (Galleridae: Lepidoptera).

In further work on strain 'U' of *G. legneri*, we reared it on three host species additional to *C. cephalonica*: the Indian meal moth *Plodia interpunctella* (Hübner), the Mediterranean flour moth *Ephestia kuehniella* Zeller and the tropical warehouse moth (almond moth) *Ephestia cautella* (Walker). These three moth species were all reared on the same diet as *C. cephalonica*.

All cultures were maintained in a climate room at 27°C with relative high humidity maintained by evaporation from a water bath.

4.3.3 Sampling programme

To compare CHC profiles of female parasitoids across strains and species reared on *C. cephalonica*, we analysed extracts from a total of 20 individuals (4 from each strain or species). To explore inter-sexual differences in CHC profiles we analysed extracts from a total of 18 individuals (3 males and three females from *G. nephantidis* and *G. legneri* strains U and C lab). Further, two pooled samples of concentrated extract from eight

individuals of each of *G. nephantidis* and *G. legneri* U strain were to ascertain the peak identity of the chemical compounds. To examine the effect of host species on the CHC profiles of females within a strain we analysed extracts from total of 16 *G. legneri* U strain individuals (4 from each host species).

4.3.4 Sample extraction

Cuticular hydrocarbon extractions were obtained using methods based on Howard et al. (1978): adult wasps that had been reared on separate hosts (*i.e.* from different broods) were placed individually in 1.5ml glass vials containing 500µl of n-hexane, 100µl of decane (Sigma Aldrich) and 1µg/sample of n-alkane C24 as an internal standard. Vials were shaken gently and the insects were removed after 10 minutes and discarded. Extractions in solvent were then either concentrated under a gentle stream of N₂ or left to evaporate at room temperature, in either case resulting in volumes *ca.* 50µl. These samples were transferred to 250µl vials for analysis by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry.

4.3.5 Cuticular hydrocarbons analysis

All chemical analysis used gas chromatography - mass spectrometry (GC-MS). Sample analysis was performed using Trace GC Ultra equipped with ZB-5 capillary column (30m long, 1µm film thickness)(Phanomenex, Macclesfield) connected to DSQ11-Mass Spectrometer (Thermo, Hemel Hempstead) and Xcalibur data system. The injector port and transfer line were set at 280°C and 1µl of the sample was injected in splitless mode (split closed for 10s) using an AS3000 autosampler. The oven temperature was programmed with an initial temperature of 100°C then increased to 330°C at a rate of 6°C min⁻¹. Helium was used as a carrier gas at a linear flow rate of 1.2ml min⁻¹ constant flow.

The DSQ11-MS was used in the total ion scan mode with scan mass ranges from m/z 45-500 in order to detect individual components (Wack 1976, Nels 1978). For each specimen, the relative abundance of each compound was normalized by dividing the area of each compound by the area of the internal standard in the same chromatogram. Compound identification was based on mass spectral comparison of spectra with those of a standard library of mass spectra (NIST MS Search Version

78

2.0). Further, the chemical identities were confirmed by comparison to the profiles of other bethylids, as published in Howard (1992) and Howard & Pérez-Lachaud (2002).

4.3.6 Statistical analysis

Principal Components Analysis (PCA), based on sums of squares and products, was used to explore the influences of host species and parasitoid sex, strain and species on the CHC profiles of parasitoids (Quinn & Keough 2002, Martin & Drijfhout 2009, Kather & Martin 2012). Formal evaluation of the effects host species, parasitoid species and strain was carried out using MANOVAs (Everitt & Dunn 1991, Quinn & Keough 2002). Because results of multivariate analyses combine the effects of CHC profile components and the prevalence of individual components may be biologically important (Martin & Drijfhout 2009), we also present the results of ANOVAs carried out on the quantity of each individual hydrocarbon, with significance thresholds adjusted due to multiple comparisons to control Type I error rates (Quinn & Keough 2002). PCA and ANOVAs were carried out in the Genstat statistical package (Version 12, VSN International, Hemel Hempstead, UK) and MANOVAs were carried out in StatView (version 5.0.1).

4.4 Results

Cuticular hydrocarbon profiles were determined for the three species; *Goniozus nephantidis*, *G. legneri* ('U' and both 'C' strains) and the unidentified species here termed *Goniozus* sp. indet. (Figure 4.1). There were inter-specific differences in CHC profiles in terms of both composition (qualitative differences) and relative abundances (quantitative differences) (Figure 4.1, Table 4.1). There was one compound (C23 alkene) found in *G. nephantidis* but not in *G. legnerl* and *G.* sp. Indet. and there were three compounds found in *G. legneri* but not in the other two species (Table 4.1). While no detected compound was unique to *G.* sp. Indet., one (C27 alkane) was absent from this species and present in the other two (Table 4.1). The cuticular hydrocarbon composition of the adult female was mainly n-alkanes (C23, C25, C27 and C29) and alkenes. Principal components analysis generated a separate cluster for each *Goniozus* species (Figure 4.2a) illustrating these interspecific differences. C25 alkene 2 had a large influence on the first principal component (Figure 4.3a) and its prevalence of in *G. nephantidis* (Table 4.1, Figure 4.2a). Similarly, the C27 alkene 2

particularly influenced the second principal component (Figure 4.3a) and its high presence in *G. legneri* (Table 4.1, Figure 4.1c) was important in separating *G. legneri* from *Goniozus* sp. indet. (Figure 4.2a).

For *G. legneri* there was no qualitative variation across strains and no significant quantitative difference overall (MANOVA) or in seven of the individual hydrocarbons (ANOVAs); also the two compounds that differed significantly according to separate ANOVA analysis (C25 alkene 2 & C29 alkene) were not interpreted as different when multiple comparisons corrections were applied (Table 4.1). PCA also illustrates that *G. legneri* strains cluster together (Figure 4.2a). There were, however, significant differences between the CHC profiles of *G. legneri* males and females within both evaluated strains (Table 4.2). In contrast, *G. nephantidis* males and females have similar CHC profiles (Table 4.2). PCA generated separate clusters male and female *G. legneri*; while in *G. nephantidis* females clustered closely to the males (Figure 4.2b).

The CHC profiles of female *G. legneri* ('U' strain) were significantly quantitatively affected by the species of host on which they had developed (Table 4.3) but qualitative differences were absent (i.e. the same chemicals were present in all females). PCA generated a separate cluster for females that had developed on *C. cephalonica* and for females from *E. kuehniella* hosts but females that had developed on *P. interpunctella* or *E. cautella* mainly clustered together (Figure 4.2c). Both principal components were strongly influenced by variation in the composition of C25 hydrocarbons (Figure 4.3b).

Table 4.1 Inter-specific and inter-strain CHC profile variation. Mean relative abundance \pm SD of cuticular hydrocarbon composition of adult females belonging to different *Goniozus* species and strains, reared on *Corcyra cephalonica* hosts. Cross-strain MANOVA (*G. legneri*): Wilks' Lambda = 0.001, $F_{(18,2)} = 3.520$, P=0.2611. Cross-species MANOVA: Wilks' Lambda = 0.001, $F_{(20,16)} = 25.995$, P<0.0001. Because up to 10 ANOVA tests were carried out within cross strains and species, we adjusted the significance criterion according to the Bonferroni procedure to be 0.05/10, i.e. <0.0050: P-values less than this value are indicated with an asterisk.

			G. nephantidis	G. sp. indet.	G. legneri			<u>• = r:</u>			
					U	C field	C lab				
Compound, (Carbon chain length)	Molecular weight, Da	Retention time (min)			G. legneri cros strain ANOVAs		eri cross- ain OVAs	Cross-Species ANOVAs			
								F _(2,9)	Р	F _(2,17)	P
Alkene (C23)	322	30.61	0.15±0.04	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00			176.616	<0.001*
Alkane (C23)	324	30.85	0.26±0.04	0.06±0.02	0.15±0.05	0.12±0.03	0.11±0.02	1.460	0.282	34.285	<0.001*
Alkene 1 (C25)	350	33.49	0.00	0.00	0.69±0.19	0.69±0.13	0.62±0.05	0.403	0.679	1022.758	<0.001*
Alkene 2 (C25)	350	33.59	3.26±0.95	0.53±0.09	0.97±0.16	0.75±0.08	0.59±0.22	5.365	0.029	54.111	<0.001*
Alkane (C25)	352	33.79	0.11±0.04	0.05±0.01	0.34±0.09	0.33±0.07	0.32±0.01	0.076	0.927	60.237	<0.001*
Alkene 1 (C27)	378	36.24	0.00	0.00	0.30±0.06	0.43±0.11	0.39±0.05	2.737	0.117	67.216	<0.001*
Alkene 2 (C27)	378	36.34	0.11±0.04	0.08±0.04	1.32±0.36	1.39±0.25	1.30±0.50	0.061	0.941	47.042	<0.001*
Alkane (C27)	380	36.48	0.09±0.03	0.00	0.11±0.04	0.09±0.03	0.09±0.04	0.835	0.465	17.916	<0.001*
Alkene (C29)	406	38.90	0.00	0.00	0.13±0.04	0.26±0.05	0.26±0.09	6.091	0.021	23.323	<0.001*
Alkane (C29)	408	39.01	0.07±0.04	0.02±0.01	0.07±0.05	0.08±0.03	0.08±0.03	0.111	0.896	4.310	0.030

Table 4.2 Inter-sexual CHC profile variation. Mean relative abundance \pm SD of cuticular hydrocarbons of adult male and female *Goniozus nephantidis* and *Goniozus legneri* (U & C lab strains) reared on *Corcyra cephalonica*. Because 9 ANOVA tests were carried out within each species, we adjusted the significance criterion according to the Bonferroni procedure to be 0.05/9 = 0.0055: P-values less than this value are indicated with an asterisk.

	G. nephantidis				G. legneri U				G. legneri C lab			
	Female	Male	ANC)VAs	Female	Male	ANOVAs		VAs Female		ANOVAs	
Compounds			F _(1,4)	Р			F _(1,4)	Р			F _(1,4)	Ρ
Alkene (C23)	0.14±0.03	0.10±0.03	3.250	0.145	0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00		
Alkane (C23)	0.26±0.05	0.30±0.03	1.714	0.260	0.16±0.05	0.06±0.04	6.00	0.070	0.12±0.02	0.04±0.03	15.55	0.016
Akene 1 (C25)	0.00	0.00			0.63±0.16	0.10±0.00	31.60	0.004*	0.61±0.06	0.11±0.01	235.06	<0.001*
Alkene 2 (C25)	2.85±0.58	1.98±0.13	6.298	0.066	0.91±0.14	0.38±0.03	43.71	0.002*	0.52±0.21	0.20±0.04	6.59	0.062
Alkane (C25)	0.10±0.03	0.10±0.01	0.32	0.866	0.31±0.08	0.09±0.01	24.97	0.007	0.32±0.01	0.08±0.01	504.10	<0.001*
Alkene 1 (C27)	0.00	0.00			0.32±0.06	0.02±0.00	79.02	<0.001*	0.38±0.05	0.04±0.01	123.34	<0.001*
Alkene 2 (C27)	0.10±0.05	0.03±0.03	4.809	0.093	1.09±0.14	1.07±0.01	151.76	<0.001*	1.01±0.24	0.11±0.01	41.82	0.002*
Alkane (C27)	0.09±0.03	0.05±0.01	2.793	0.170	0.10±0.03	0.02±0.01	24.04	0.008	0.07±0.02	0.02±0.00	36.12	0.003*
Alkene (C29)	0.00	0.00			0.13±0.05	0.00	21.55	0.009	0.23±0.08	0.01±0.01	23.12	0.008
Alkane (C29)	0.06±0.04	0.04±0.01	0.364	0.579	0.07±0.05	0.02±0.01	2.08	0.222	0.07±0.02	0.02±0.01	15.00	0.017

Table 4.3 Variation in CHC profile according to host species. Mean relative abundance \pm SD of cuticular hydrocarbons of adult female *Goniozus legneri* (strain U) reared on different host species. MANOVA: Wilks' Lambda = 0.001, F (27,12) = 4.156, P=0.0048. Because 9 ANOVA tests were carried we adjusted the significance criterion according to the Bonferroni procedure: P-values less than 0.0055 value are indicated with an asterisk.

Compou	nd	Molecular		Host sp	ecies	ANOVAs				
(Carbo chain length	n)	Da	Corcyr a cephalonica	Plodia interpunctella	Ephestia cautella	Ephestia kuhniella	F _(3,12)	Р		
Alkane (C23)		324	0.20±0.03	0.17±0.01	0.17±0.02	0.15±0.01	4.348	0.027		
Alkene (C25)	1	350	0.55±0.07	0.29±0.06	0.35±0.10	0.45±0.11	6.466	0.007		
Alkene (C25)	2	350	0.80±0.09	0.38±0.02	0.40±0.12	0.29±0.10	24.304	<0.001*		
Alkane (C25)		352	0.25±0.02	0.60±0.03	0.54±0.13	0.37±0.13	11.525	0.008		
Alkene 1		378	0.17±0.04	0.14±0.04	0.13±0.03	0.16±0.06	0.792	0.521		
(C27) Alkene 2 (C27)		378	0.77±0.14	0.68±0.19	0.62±0.11	0.44±0.14	3.970	0.035		
Alkane (C27)		380	0.09±0.02	0.11±0.03	0.08±0.02	0.08±0.01	2.381	0.120		
Alkene (C29)		406	0.10±0.02	0.13±0.06	0.10±0.03	0.09±0.02	1.152	0.368		
Alkane (C29)		408	0.04±0.00	0.06±0.01	0.06±0.01	0.04±0.01	4.736	0.021		



(b)



Figure 4.1 Total ion chromatogram examples showing the cuticular hydrocarbons of an adult female of (a) *G. nephantidis* (b) *G.* sp. indet. and (c) *G. legneri*. 'IS' denotes internal standard.



PC 1 (75.56%)



Figure 4.2 Two dimensional scores plots from Principal components analysis of the cuticular hydrocarbon profiles from (a) females of three different species of *Goniozus* parasitoid reared on the same host (b) both sexes of *G. nephantidis* and *G. legneri* (U & C-lab strains) (c) females of *G. legneri* U-strain reared on four different host species.





Figure 4.3 Two-dimensional loading plots from principal components analysis of the cuticular hydrocarbon profiles from (a) females of three different species of *Goniozus* parasitoid reared on the same host (b) females of *G. legneri* U-strain reared on four different host species. Panels (a) and (b) correspond to the scores plot shown in Fig. 2a and 2c respectively. The loading plot associated with Fig. 2b is not shown as it is essentially the same as panel (a) of this figure.

4.5 Discussion

The identified cuticular hydrocarbons from the three species of Goniozus revealed that there were major differences between adult females of the three different species. As these wasps had been reared on the same species of host and thus the environmental conditions were effectively constant, we conclude that there is a genetic component to cuticular hydrocarbon profiles within Goniozus. This broadly accords with the results of Lizé et al. (2012, Chapter 3) who found that aggression between G. legneri females is attuned to their relatedness as it seem likely that relatedness is assessed by interacting wasps using CHC profiles (e.g. Gamboa et al. 1986b, Nehring et al. 2010). Lizé et al.'s (2012, Chapter 3) experiments were focussed on G. legneri, and thus suggest that there is intra-specific variation in CHC profiles (and molecular genetic studies also show that these G. legneri strains are genetically distinct in some of the microsatellite markers we have evaluated, Khidr SK, Mayes S, Zaviezo T & Hardy ICW unpublished, chapter 5). We did not, however, find convincing between-strain variation in the CHC profiles of G. legneri females. Within some other wasp species there are positive correlations between genetic relatedness and chemical profile similarities (Dapporto et al. 2009, Drescher et al. 2010) and heritable components of CHC profiles have similarly been found in other insect taxa (e.g. Dallerac et al. 2000, Thomas & Simmons 2008).

We found variation in CHC profiles between male and female *G. legneri*, in both strains examined, but no inter-sexual differences for *G. nephantidis*. Gender-based differences in CHCs have been detected in other parasitoid species and may be used in gender recognition (Howard 1992, Sullivan 2002, Howard & Baker 2003, Ruther et al. 2011) leading to changes in behaviours such as sex allocation decisions (Darrouzet et al. 2010) and courtship (Steiner et al. 2006). In *Goniozus nephantidis* and *G. legneri* mating is thought to occur predominantly between siblings before dispersal from the natal site and there is no prolonged courtship behaviour (Hardy et al. 1999, 2000): given that the mating systems of these two species appear to be very similar, we have no current explanation for the absence of gender differences in CHC profiles in one species and the presence in the other.

The host species on which female *G. legneri* developed also influenced their CHC profiles. As these females belonged to the same strain and thus genetic influences were effectively constant, we conclude that there is an environmental component to

88

Goniozus cuticular hydrocarbon profiles. Again, this accords with Lizé et al.'s (2012, Chapter 3) result that aggression between G. legneri females is attuned to whether or not they had developed on the same or different individual hosts and the notion that females use host derived chemical cues to assess relatedness (e.g. Ross & Gamboa 1981, Shellmann & Gamboa 1982, Pfennig et al. 1983, Gamboa et al. 1986b, Ode et al. 1995, Liang & Silverman 2000, Florane et al. 2004). The strength of correspondence between parasitoid CHC profiles and the chemical composition of their hosts can vary greatly: in the bethylid Cephalonomia hyalinipennis the degree of total cuticular hydrocarbon composition of the parasitoids which resemble their hosts is less than 40% (Howard & Pérez-Lachaud 2002) but is more than 90% in the Eucharitid Kapala sulcifacies (Howard et al. 2001). Lizé et al.'s (2012, Chapter 3) experiments used only C. cephalonica larvae as hosts and thus suggest that the influence of host identity on parasitoid CHC profiles operates in a finer scale than just the species of the host fed upon (as also suggested by Ode et al.'s, 1995, study on parasitoid mating behaviour): further work will be required to assess how individual hosts of a given species influence CHC profiles.

While analysis of cuticular hydrocarbons has greatly assisted the understanding of social behaviour, particularly in hymenopterans, it has also been suggested and utilized as a tool for taxonomic identification of species (Kather & Martin 2012). Our CHC analyses revealed that the unidentified species of *Goniozus* from Oman, *Goniozus* sp. indet., showed closer resemblance to *G. nephantidis* than to *G. legnerl*. This species is, however, chemically distinct, both qualitatively and quantitatively, and thus very unlikely to be synonymous with either congener studied here. Further research on the application of *Goniozus* sp. indet. to pest control problems should proceed on this basis. There are around 160 described species of *Goniozus* (Gordh & Móczár 1990) and further work on their chemical profiles may help establish the taxonomic identity of *Goniozus* sp. indet. as well as potentially revealing currently cryptic distinctions and synonymies within the genus.

4.6 Conclusion

We carried out this investigation for two reasons: to discover whether *Goniozus* CHC profiles varied according to genetic relatedness and environmental influences and also to evaluate whether CHC profiling might be utilized as a tool for taxonomic identification of *Goniozus* species. We find both genetic (wasp species) and environmental (host species) influences on CHC profiles. While we have examined cross-species differences in both wasps and hosts, rather than differences between siblings and non-siblings reared from the same or different individual hosts of the same host species, our findings support the expectation, arising from the results of Lizé et al. (2012, Chapter 3), that *Goniozus* CHC profiles would vary according to both genetic background and developmental environment. Because the CHC profiles of different species within the genus *Goniozus* are dissimilar, we also conclude that , chemical analysis can be used as a taxonomic tool alongside morphological and molecular genetic identification and thus aid researchers who need to obtain an identity for parasitoids that they have collected from the field.

Part three: Molecular genetics and sex ratios

Chapter 5 : The development of molecular genetic markers in bethylid wasps

5.1 Abstract

Genetic markers work as indicators to reveal differences between genotypes by focussing on the presence of alleles of target loci. Detecting association between phenotype and the genotype of the markers involves dividing the population into different groups depending on a particular marker locus and testing for significant differences between groups with respect to the trait being measured. Markers can also be used to randomly sample the genome and infer information regarding the genetic relationships between individuals. Twelve primer pairs for the south Asian bethylid wasp Goniozus nephantidis and 24 for its New World congener Goniozus legneri were designed to investigate polymorphism between and within populations, using samples of 85 individuals of both species and including three putatively different strains of G. legneri. Annealing gradient tests (50-65°C) were conducted for these primers, to study the quality of the PCR amplification across an annealing temperature gradient using a mixed genotype DNA template from each species separately. Seven primer pairs which amplified clear products of approximately the expected size of G. nephantidis and 18 of G. legneri were then selected for capillary analysis for fragment size determination on a Beckmann CEQ 8000. Neither G. nephantidis nor G. legneri were polymorphic within populations. However, there were 6 primer pairs that show polymorphism between Goniozus legneri populations that originate from different geographical areas within South America; Uruguay and Chile. Further, one primer pair showed diversity between the two strains collected within Chile. Knowledge of these genetic polymorphisms is potentially useful to investigations of a range of questions in evolutionary and applied ecology and one of the makers developed here has already been used to provide unbiased assessment of primary sex ratio in G. legneri.

5.2 Introduction

Among the natural enemies of agricultural pest species, parasitoid wasps are considered as one of the most important classes of biological control agent and are also widely used in studies of evolutionary ecology and basic population biology (Godfray 1994, Jervis 2005, Hochberg & Ives 2000, Wajnberg et al. 2008). The distributions and population structures of parasitoids may be influenced by a wide range of factors, such as geological and geographical components, ecological processes, evolutionary and genetic aspects (Zink 2002, Bond & Stockman 2008). Successful population genetic, ecological and evolutionary studies can be achieved through the availability of suitable molecular markers as they are regarded as important indicators of relationships between both individuals and populations (Carvalho 1998). These markers have the ability to reveal differences between genotypes through the application of a range of random markers, not linked *a priori* to traits.

Among the classes of genetic markers are 'microsatellite' markers, which are also known as simple sequence repeats (SSRs). Microsatellites essentially consist of short repeated units of around two to six base pairs in length with an array up to around 200bp long and can be found in both coding and non-coding regions in all prokaryotic and eukaryotic genomes (Tautz 1989, Arcot et al. 1995, Beukeboom & Zwaan 2005). Frequently, microsatellite loci have been isolated from partial genomic libraries of the species of interest through screening several thousand clones through colony hybridization with repeat containing probes (Rassmann et al. 1991). SSRs (simple, tandemly repeated di- to tetra-nucleotide sequence motifs flanked by unique sequences) have been developed in a number of parasitoids (Baker et al. 2003, Anton et al. 2006, Lozier et al. 2006). Microsatellite markers have many advantages over other marker types because not only do they generally have a high number of alleles per locus which can identify polymorphism but they also have high expected heterozygosity and high mutation rates (Hancock 1999).

Thus, microsatellite markers have been used to determine the genetic diversity and differentiation between populations through measuring the degree of heterozygosity in parasitoid species (e.g. 0.378-0.063 in *Cotesia melitaearum*, 0.171-0.629 in *Neotypus melanocephalus* and 0.170-0.367 in *Lysiphlebus hirticornis;* Kankare et al. 2005, Anton et al. 2007, Nyabuga et al. 2010) and the degree of gene flow and dispersal

93

between populations (Avise 1994, McCoy et al. 2001, Molbo et al. 2003, Kankare et al. 2005, Zavodna et al. 2005, Drescher et al. 2010, Nyabuga et al. 2010).

This study set out to design a microsatellite marker system for screening two species of bethylid wasps for genetic polymorphisms within and between populations. In principle such markers could prove useful for pest control applications (Aebi et al. 2008, Ugelvig et al. 2008, Lozier et al. 2009, Zygouridis et al. 2009, Nicholls et al. 2010, Lavandero et al. 2011), evaluating the effect of kinship on social behaviours (Lizé et al. 2012, Chapter 3) and for measuring population parameters, such as levels of inbreeding, which have not been directly evaluated but are important in the understanding of reproductive decisions (Hardy & Cook 1995, Hardy et al. 1998, 1999, 2000). However, the first direct application of these markers has been to provide assessment of the sex of individual eggs to evaluate maternal sex allocation without the biasing influence of developmental mortality (Khidr et al. submitted, Chapter 6).

5.2.1 Biology of bethylids

The Bethylidae is a family of parasitoid wasps which has been thought to comprise four extant subfamilies: Bethylinae, Epyrinae, Pristocerinae and Mestitiinae (Evans 1964) with over 2000 described species (Gordh & Móczár 1990). Recently the higher level phylogeny of bethylids has been estimated using molecular data of 33 species resulting in a split of the sub-family Mestitiinae into two separate sub-families; the Mestitiinae and the Cephalonomiini (Carr et al. 2010). Bethylid wasps attack almost exclusively the immature stages of coleopterans and lepidopterans, many of which are pests of important agricultural commodities such as coffee, coconut, sugarcane, apple, walnut and almonds (Gordh 1982, Batchelor at al. 2005, Venkatesan et al. 2007, Zaviezo et al. 2007). In this study we focus on Goniozus nephantidis (Muesebeck) a parasitoid of the lepidopteran larvae the coconut pest (Opisina arenosella Walker), and G. legneri Gordh, a parasitoid of several lepidopteran pests. Both G. nephantidis and . G. legneri have each been used in biocontrol programmes (Dharmaraju 1963, Legner & Silveira-Guido 1983, Gothilf & Mazor 1987, Lyla et al. 2006) and in a range of behavioural ecological studies (e.g. Hardy & Cook 1995, Goubault et al. 2006, 2007a, Humphries et al. 2006, Bentley et al. 2009, Lizé et al. 2012, Chapter 3). Their basic life-histories are similar; both are gregarious idiobiont ectoparasitoids exhibiting subsocial behaviour, such as maternal care and defence of the developing brood (Hardy & Blackburn 1991, Bentley et al. 2009), and appear to conform closely, but probably not
exactly, to single foundress Local Mate Competition (Hamilton 1967, Hardy & Cook 1995, Hardy et al. 1998, 1999, 2000). Males usually emerge before females and have effectively unlimited mating capacity to inseminate their sisters (Hardy et al. 1999, 2000) and, as with many other bethylids, the sex ratios of these species are generally female biased with low variance (Green et al. 1982, Hardy & Mayhew 1998, Hardy et al. 1998, Khidr et al. submitted, Chapter 6).

5.3 Material & Methods

5.3.1 Parasitoid origins and cultures

Goniozus nephantidis (Muesebeck) is a natural enemy of the coconut pest Opisina arenosella Walker in the Indian sub-continent (Venkatesan et al. 2007). Our culture has been maintained in the laboratory for more than 20 years on the facultative host *Corcyra cephalonica* Stainton (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae), following methods given in Lizé et al. (2012).

We used three strains of *Goniozus legneri* Gordh. One, termed strain 'U', was obtained from a commercial insectary in the USA and kept in our laboratory for more than eight years. The original material is believed to have been collected from a population in southern Uruguay in 1978 (Gordh 1982, Gordh et al. 1983, Legner & Silveira-Guido 1983). Two further strains of *G. legneri* were brought to our laboratory in May 2009 from Santiago, Chile. One strain was collected directly from walnut trees and is termed 'C field' while the other strain is termed 'C lab' as it had been maintained in a Chilean insectary for several years following collection from the field near to Santiago (Zaviezo et al. 2007). *Corcyra cephalonica* was used as a facultative host for all three strains of *G. legneri*. In the field it is known to attack a range of lepidopteran species that are pests of walnuts, pistachio nuts, almonds and apples (Steffan et al. 2001, Garrido et al. 2005, Zaviezo et al. 2007). All cultures were maintained in a climate room at 25-27°C, 12 L: 12D with high relative humidity maintained by a water bath.

5.3.2 Design and preparation of the primers

Microsatellite-enriched genomic libraries were created essentially according to Kloda et al. (2004) with the final sequencing step being carried out through use of barcoded

adaptors and a 1/16th run of non-titanium reagents Roche 454 Pyrosequencing (as part of a mixture of 9 different libraries). The generated Fasta files were separated in silico to identify the individual libraries and those for G. legneri and G. nephantidis were searched for microsatellite motifs using the MISA.pl script (pgrk.ipkgartersleben.de/misa/misa.html). Primer pairs flanking the simple sequence repeats were designed either by Primer 3 (Rozen & Skaletsky 2000) and/or WebSat (Martins et al. 2009) for G. legneri (Table 5.1) and for G. nephantidis (Table 5.2). Primers were synthesised by MWG Eurofins with a forward primer 5' extension consisting of the M13 sequence, to allow labelling of the final product through a three primer reaction (Schuelke, 2000) and prepared to 1000× concentration using Sigma molecular biology grade water (to create primer stocks of 200pmol/µl). After vortexing and spinning, tubes were placed on ice for 30 min. Primers were kept in a freezer at -20°C and to produce a 10× primer stock; 5µl of the 1000× stock was mixed with 495 µl sterile distilled water (SDW) for both Forward and Reverse primers into separate tubes on ice. The third primer (M13) was ordered from Sigma Aldrich and labelled with dye D4 (blue; WellRed dyes) and the sequence used was 5'-TGTAAAACGACGGCCAGT-3'.

Table 5.1 Primers designed for G. legneri

Name	product size	SSR	length	sequence F	length	sequence R
GISSR1	183	(AG)18	24	GCAGAAAGTTTTCACGAGCGATTT	18	TACCCGGTACCCCGTTCC
GISSR2	142	(CT)6	25	CCCTTAAATCGACATCGGTTATCCT	24	CGAAAACAAAGCTCGCTCCATTAC
GISSR3	158	(AG)9aaagg(GA)8	24	CGCCGAGTTCTTTCTCTCGTTTTA	24	TCGAAGTTATACGCATCCCGAAAC
GISSR4	113	(CA)13	24	TCTTGCTTACGGGTGGACTAACAA	22	AACGCTCCACCTCGTGTGTGTG
GISSR5	205	(GA)11	24	GGCTTCAACCTTGCGATTCTATTG	27	CCTTGCATAATAATAACGTACACTCTC
GISSR6	118	(GA)12a(AG)7	23	GGTAGCTGCGAGCGAAAAGAGAG	23	GTCCCGTCTCACTAACCCCTCCT
GISSR7	120	(GA)13	24	AGGGTATCATTACGCGAGACCGTA	24	CCACTCTCTCGTTACACCGCGTAT
GISSR7*	142	(GA)13	19	CGAGGGTATCATTACGCGA	20	GGCCACTCTCTCGTTACACC
GISSR8	178	(GA)14	24	TACACACGCTGCATTGTGACTT	24	TAGCGAAACCTACGCGTCTACCTC
GISSR9	138	(GA)14	22	CATTATCGCTGCGCCGAAAGTC	24	ACGCTCGGTGCTCTCTCATTCTAC
GISSR10	80	(GA)9	24	ATGAGAATGCGTAGAGGGGGTAGA	24	GCGCTATCGGACGAACTACTCTCA
GISSR11	107	(GC)8	27	ACCCTCGATGCTCGTTTGATTG	24	GCGCGAGACTGTATGAGCTTGTAA
GISSR12	101	(TG)8	25	CAATGTAAGATGCGGTAATCGATGAAT	24	TTACGAGATGCACGGAGAGAAAAA
GISSR13*	121	(AG)10	20	CGCCACGGTTTTGATTAAGT	19	GCGCTATTCGGCACTCTCT
GISSR13	151	(AG)10	19	GCGATATGCGATTGACAGG	19	GCGCTATTCGGCACTCTCT
GISSR14*	134	(AG)11	20	CGTGAACAAATCGAACGAAA	22	GACCGAACGTACTAACCAACCT
GISSR14	138	(AG)11	20	CGTGAACAAATCGAACGAAA	20	TCCCGACCGAACGTACTAAC
GISSR15*a	162	(GA)12	22	TCAGCGAAATCGAGAGCTAAAT	22	GGCTAATTGCGTTATACTCCGT
GISSR15 ^{*b}	117	(GA)12	19	AGTCTCCGGTTTATGCCGT	22	GGCTAATTGCGTTATACTCCGT

GISSR16*ª	152	(GA)13	18	ATTATGCCCTCGTTGCCT	22	CTCTTTCTCTCCCTTCTCTCCGT
GISSR16 ^{*b}	141	(GA)13	20	CCACCGGCATGGATTTCTTT	27	GGGAGGTCGCTTATTCTAACTCTTTCT
GISSR16	176	(GA)13	19	GCTGCATTATGCCCTCGTT	26	GGGAGGTCGCTTATTCTAACTCTTTC
GISSR17*	164	(GT)8	18	CAGAAGGGGCATCCTTGA	25	CTTGAAACTTACTGCGCTAATACAC
GISSR17	155	(GT)8	20	ATCCTTGACGACGGCCTAAC	26	GCTTGAAACTTACTGCGCTAATACAC
GISSR18*	102	(Tc)11	21	ACGTAGTCCTGCATCACGAAA	22	AGACGAAGATACGAAGAGTCGG
GISSR18	201	(Tc)11	20	AGGTGAGCCGAGCTTTATTG	22	GGATTCCTTCGAGAGAGAGAGA
GISSR19*ª	125	(Tc)11	18	GACGCAACGCCATCCATA	22	CACCGAGTAGAGTTTCATTCCG
GISSR19*b	102	(Tc)11	22	ACCAAATAGAGTCGAAAATGCG	22	CACCGAGTAGAGTTTCATTCCG
GISSR19	179	(Tc)11	22	CGAGTCGATGATAAATCCCTGT	21	CACCGAGTAGAGTTTCATTCC
GISSR20*	112	(AC)6	22	TGTCACGTTGCCAGTTAGAAGA	18	CGTGTGTGTGCGTGTGTG
GISSR20	182	(AC)6	20	TTTCAGGTGCGGGAAAGAAC	20	GTGCGTGTGTGCAATCATCT
GISSR21*	162	(AG)9	18	GGTGTCCCAGGCGTCTTT	18	GTCTCCCTCCCCTCCACC
GISSR22*	108	(AG)15	22	ACGCGACAATTTCTTCTTCTCC	20	CCCGACGTGTCTTCTCTCTT
GISSR22	168	(AG)15	20	CGTTCCTCACTCCTCTCATC	20	CCCGACGTGTCTTCTCTCTT
GISSR23	126	(AG)22	20	GCTCGAGATAATTGCCGTCT	20	GTCCGTCTCGTTCGTCTCTC
GISSR24	102	(GA)9	20	AGCAATAACATTGCGGAGGA	21	GCGCTATCGGACAACTACTCT

*Denotes primers designed using WebSat, in some cases there were two versions designed for a particular fragment length denoted by ^a or ^b. The remainder of the primers were designed using Primer 3.

Name	product size	SSR	length	sequence F	length	sequence R
GnSSR1	173	(AC)13	24	GCACGTGAATTTATGAACGAG GAA	24	CTAGGGACCGTGCAGAAAACT ACG
GnSSR2	89	(AC)17	24	TTCTGAGGGTTATCTCGGTGTT CG	23	TCCGTCGGACGTAACTACACCT C
GnSSR3	104	(AC)8	24	GGATAAGCTCGTGAAAGCTTC GTC	24	GATCATAGGAACGGACGAACG AAC
GnSSR4	114	(AC)8	26	CGGGTAACGTGATTAATTCCTC TTTC	24	GGCAATTTCACGGGGTTACAG TTA
GnSSR5	138	(AC)9	24	AGCAGCAGCATACTCACACACA GA	24	CGCGCTTGAATCGCATATAAAT CT
GnSSR6	111	(AC)9	23	ACCGAGCAGCGTTGTATGATGT C	24	ACCATTGTAAAATCTTCGCGGG TA
GnSSR7	163	(AC)9	24	GATTGTCGGTAAGGGGACAAT GAG	23	TGGACTAGGCTCGAATCGTTCA C
GnSSR8	158	(ACGA)5tagaa(AG)10	24	GATCATAGGAACGGACGAACG AAC	24	TATATCTGGACGACGATGGGG AAC
GnSSR9	136	(AG)8	24	ACGAGGATTGGAAGAGAGTCG AAG	26	CCTACAGTTTACGTACCCACTC TCTC
GnSSR1 0	173	(AG)10	24	CCCTGTTTCAGGCTTACAGATA GA	24	GTTCCCGCGTGGACTAACAATT AC
GnSSR1 1	97	(AG)10	24	GGGTGGTAAAGCAAGAAGAAA GCA	21	AAGACACGACAATTCATTACG
GnSSR1 2	188	(AG)10	24	AGCGGTATAGAGGACTTCGGG AAC	24	CGATAAAGTCGCACACGCAAAT

Table 5.2 Primers designed for G. nephantidis

5.3.3 DNA extraction

A sample size of 85 individuals was used for capillary testing (section 5.3.7). We examined 17 individuals of *G. nephantidis* and a total of 68 individuals for the different strains of *G. legneri* (25 of 'U' strain, 22 of 'C lab' strain and 21 individuals of the 'C field' strain). In addition, five pooled samples of 20 individuals were used for the annealing gradient test.

Individual females or pooled samples were placed in 1.5 ml eppendorf tubes (Sarstedt) then immersed into liquid nitrogen and crushed using a mini pestle to start the extraction. Genomic DNA was then extracted either by using a GenElute plant Genomic kit (Sigma Aldrich) or by following, with some modifications, methods given

in Sambrook et al. (1989) and Vogler and Desalle (1993) before elution/resuspension into $50-60\mu$ l of sterile distilled water and storage at -20°C.

5.3.4 Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR)

PCR reactions were carried out in either a Thermo Hybaid Express PCR machine (Electron Corporation, Milford, MA, USA) or in an ABI PCR 9700 Thermocycler machine (ABI, Carlsbad, CA, USA). The Thermo Hybaid Express PCR was used for annealing gradient tests and run with a 15°C gradient by using a total volume of 20µl for one reaction through mixing different components consisting of 2µl of 10× Forward primer & 2µl of 10× Reverse primer (2 pmol/µl final);2µl of 10X PCR buffer; 0.16µl of dNTP's (mixed dNTP 25mM final concentration per nucleotide); 2µl of DNA template (mixture of many individuals); 0.10µl of Taq DNA polymerase (5 units/µl) and finally 11.74µl of SDW. Thus, the optimal annealing temperature was determined for each pair of primers according to following program:

Initial denaturation:	94°C for 3 min	
Main cycle (denat):	94°C for 1 min	J
Annealing temp grad:	50°C – 65°C for 1 min	35 cycles
Polymerase extension:	72°C for 2 min	J
Final Extension:	72°C for 10 min	

Hold at 4°C

For samples amplified in the ABI PCR 9700 Thermocycler the aforementioned programme was used but the determined optimum temperature of the annealing used was 60°C for the majority of the primers unless stated otherwise (section 5.4.2). PCR reactions consisted of 0.2µl of 10X Forward primer and 2µl of 10× Reverse primer (2 pmol/µl final), 2µl (10×) PCR buffer, 0.16µl dNTP's (each in a 25mM final concentration), 0.04µl M13 Blue Taq of 1000× (53.8 nM concentration), 2µl of individual genomic DNA (approximately 5ng/µl), 0.10 Taq DNA polymerase (5 units/µl) and 13.5µl SDW. Thus, a fluorescently-labelled M13 tail sequence was added to the 5'-end of the Forward primer (Schuelke 2000) to be used for capillary sequencing.

5.3.5 Agarose Gel Electrophoresis

Samples to be loaded on the gel were mixed with 6x gel loading blue buffer (Promega) in the ratio of one part sample to one part loading buffer. The mixture was added to each well of the plates from the PCR machine and was spun briefly. Then 10µl from each well were loaded onto a submerged gel that consisted of a 2% concentration of agarose (Molecular Grad, Bioline) prepared in 0.5× TBE (Tris- Borate- EDTA) buffer, followed by addition of 2µl of ethidium bromide stock before pouring (10mg/ml; Promega corporation). Each primer pair reaction was loaded onto one row of the gel (each primer pair having 12 reactions across a 15oC annealing gradient). Alongside appropriate size marker (5µl of 2-log DNA ladder; New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA, USA) was loaded in the first lane of each primer pair, then the gel was run at 90V for approximately 1 hour. After electrophoresis, results were visualised and photographed under UV-light in a Bio-RAD Gel Doc 2000 gel box.

5.3.6 Quantitation test of DNA templates and Goniozus individuals

DNA extractions were quantified by comparison with known uncut lambda DNA (BioLabs) ($50ng/\mu$ l) loaded in the following amounts; 10μ l, 5μ l and 2.5μ l and 1.5μ l, to represent fluorescence comparison with the unknown samples. Thus, the 1% agarose gel was run at 90V for 75 min then different individuals of both species were quantified, tested for DNA integrity by ensuring that genomic samples largely ran at limiting mobility. Good quality samples were used as DNA templates.

5.3.7 Capillary sequencing: Preparing fragment samples for analysis

The CEQ 8000 Fragments Analysis Software Version 8 was used to measure and analyse the fragment sizes of the PCR products. The preparation of the sample in half-reactions was described as below:

First, for each row of 8 samples 215µl of SLS (sample loading solution) was added to 2µl of SS 400 (Standard size) mixed by vortexing and spun briefly. Then 27µl of this mixture was added to each well in the row and 2µl of multiplexed PCR product was added later. Finally the mixture in each well was overlaid immediately with a drop of mineral oil and placed in the CEQ machine. Later, cluster analysis between different populations of *Goniozus legneri* was generated by Multi Variate Statistical Package (MVSP; Kovachs) version 3.2.

5.4 Results

5.4.1 Primer design in the Microsatellite library

Genomic libraries consisting of 273 sequences containing microsatellite motifs were screened to design primers for *Goniozus legneri*. Among the best 24 microsatellites were considered to be clearly unique sequences with adequate flanking sequence length to design primer pairs flanking the repeat unit. The remaining fragments shared the same SSR sizes, or the SSRs were located at the end of the fragments leaving insufficient flanking sequences for primer design, or the SSRs appeared in compound formation. The dinucleotide (GA)_n was the predominant marker followed by $(AG)_n$ and $(TC)_n$. While the tri- and tetra-nucleotide microsatellites were frequently in complex forms.

In G. *nephantidis* there were 3356 SSRs of which 12 were chosen to design primers for the investigation of polymorphism within the population. The dinucleotide microsatellite repeat motifs $(GA)_n$ and $(AG)_n$ were the most common repeat category in the library.

5.4.2 Annealing gradient tests

PCR analysis was performed to optimise annealing gradients for the 12 new *G*. *nephantidis* primer pairs and 24 primer pairs for *G*. *legneri* strains. Sometimes a number of primer pairs were designed to the same microsatellite repeat sequence to increase the probability of success. The process was repeated several times to test the reliability of the new primers. Representative results of the annealing electrophoresis gels are shown in Figure 5.1 and Figure 5.2.



Figure 5.1 Annealing gradient for *G. legneri* primers (primer labels correspond to those in Table 5.1)



Figure 5.2 Annealing gradient for *G. nephantidis* primers (primer labels correspond to those in Table 5.2)

Primers showing clear bands in annealing tests were selected for PCR amplification and polymorphism testing. In addition the best annealing temperature for each primer was recorded in order for this to be used for the PCR. According to the results of the annealing tests, the best temperature for all *G. nephantidis* primers was 60°C except for primer GnSSR11 at 56°C. No amplification was observed for primers GnSSR1, 2, 3, 4 and 10 in the test. In *G. legneri*, the optimum temperatures were 54°C, 56°C and 58°C for primers GISSR 14, 5 and 22, respectively. The remainder of the primer pairs had optimal annealing temperatures close to 60°C, allowing simultaneous amplification in the same thermoblock. The following primers were excluded from further work GISSR1, 4, 6, 10, 19^{*b}, 20^{*}, 21^{*}, 22^{*} and 23.

5.4.3 DNA quality test

DNA quality tests were conducted for *Goniozus* that were to be used as a template and diluted for annealing tests (Figure 5.3). However, DNA preparations from individual wasps for use in PCR did not need dilution because they were less than 62.5 ng lambda DNA (Figure 5.4).



Figure 5.3 Quality and quantity test for Goniozus DNA templates

2-log DNA	G.nephantidis	 G.legneri	Lambda D	NA 62.5 19
		 		<u> </u>
=				

Figure 5.4 Quality and quantity test for individual Goniozus DNA templates

5.4.4 Second round of PCR runs

Primers chosen in the annealing test were amplified on the ABI PCR machine at different temperatures according to their annealing test optima. The gel electrophoresis results were visualized using UV light. Some primers were rejected before capillary test due to not amplifying in an annealing test or, if they amplified, not showing clear/discrete single bands on the gel. Representative results of the PCR electrophoresis gels are shown in Figure 5.5 and Figure 5.6.



Figure 5.5 Gel plate of PCR product for different primers of G. legneri



Figure 5.6 Gel plate of PCR product for different primers of G. nephantidis

5.4.5 Capillary sequencing

The results of the capillary fragment analysis were processed using the Beckmann CEQ 8000 software to determine fragment size. Neither *G. nephantidis* nor *G. legneri* were polymorphic within strains. Nonetheless, there were six primers that showed clear inter-strain polymorphism in *G. legneri* (Table 5.3). For instance, primer GISSR7

showed a large size difference between strains: while U-strain was 137bp both Chilean populations were 153bp. Further, primer GISSR5 showed a different size allele at 228bp for both U and 'C lab' strains, with 224bp for the 'C field' strain. Variability in individuals between G. *legneri* strains ranged between two and 16 bp (e.g Figure 5.7 and Figure 5.8) the product sizes from all the PCR amplifications were less than 300bp.

Primers	Strength	T range	Best T	`U' size	`C lab' size	`C field' size	expected size	Polymorphism test
GISSR3	Medium	50°C-65°C	60°C	176	174	174	158	Yes
GISSR5	Strong	50°C-65°C	58-60	228	228	224	205	Yes
GISSR7	Medium	50°C-65°C	Any	137	153	153	120	Yes
GISSR8	Strong	50°C-65°C	Any	193	195	195	178	Yes
GISSR13	Strong	50°C-65°C	Any	178	182	182	151	Yes
GISSR22	Medium	50°C-65°C	58-60	190	192	192	168	Yes

Table 5.3 The six polymorphic primers for G. legneri strains



Figure 5.7 Examples of capillary tube analysis of primer 7 for different genotypes of *G. legneri* strains (2U' + 2C lab' + 2C field').





P8 GIU 2.B03 100030216PB



P8 GIC-lab 3.C03_100030216PC



P8 GIC-lab 4.D03_100030216PD



P8 GIC-field 5.E03_100030216PE



Figure 5.8 Examples of capillary tube analysis of primer 8 for G.legneri strains (2'U' +2'C lab' + 2'C field').

Moreover, the dendogram showed clearly the differences between both populations from different geographical locations (Uruguay and Chile) as well as polymorphism within the two strains collected in Chile ('C lab' & 'C field'). However, both strains were still more closely related to each other rather than Uruguay strain (Figure 5.9).



Degree of relatedness

Figure 5.9 Dendogram showing relationship between and within populations of *Goniozus legneri*.

5.5 Discussion

This study set out to develop molecular markers for bethylid wasps with the idea of subsequently using these markers in evolutionary ecology and agricultural research. In general, the percentage of amplified loci decreases with increasing genetic distance making such markers most suitable for closely related species, such as congeners (Hancock & Simon 2005, Barbara et al. 2007). We note that there are well over 100 described species of *Goniozus* (Gordh & Móczár 1990).

Our molecular data show a lack of variation within our strains of Goniozus nephantidis and G. legneri. Potential reasons for this include a loss of genetic diversity during laboratory maintenance (e.g. due to relatively small populations in culture or occasional population crashes) (Unruh et al 1984, Shields 1993, Cook 1993b, Henter 2003). However, this explanation would most likely apply to G. nephantidis and the Ustrain of G. legneri as these have been maintained in culture for many more years than the strains of G. legneri from Chile (C lab and C field). The fact that we did not find polymorphisms within the much more recently collected Chilean strains thus does not fit with a genetic drift due to small population and 'time in culture' effect. An alternative explanation is that there is limited genetic variation within each of the populations from which field collections were made. Genetic homozygosity can result from inbreeding because relatives mate more frequently than expected by chance given the overall size of the population (Henter 2003, Elias et al. 2010, Mazzi et al. 2011) and both species of Goniozus are known to exhibit high levels of pre-dispersal sibling mating in the laboratory (Hardy et al. 1999, 2000) and have sex ratios that largely conform to theoretical expectations under such 'local mate competition' (Gordh et al. 1983, Hardy & Cook 1995, Hardy et al. 1998, Khidr et al. submitted, Chapter 6). It is further known that G. nephantidis does not exhibit inbreeding depression in terms of effects on developmental mortality or sex ratio control (Cook 1993b). Nonetheless, the post-dispersal mating behaviour of neither species has been directly evaluated and the details of the natural mating systems of these wasps are likely to have a large effect on the evolution of their sex ratios (Hardy 1994, Hardy & Cook 1995, Hardy & Mayhew 1998, Hardy et al. 1998). The lack of within-strain genetic polymorphism we observed provides a degree of evidence that sibling-mating is the predominant feature of the natural mating system of these Goniozus species.

For *G. legneri* strains collected within the same geographical region of Chile, 'C lab' and 'C field', we observed a genetic difference in just one developed primer. This could relate to the fact that the field strain was collected from carob moth larvae (*Ectomyelois ceratoniae* Zeller, Lepidoptera: Pyralidae) feeding on walnuts while the laboratory strain was derived from a mixture of individuals collected from both carob moth on walnuts and codling moth larvae (*Cydia pomonella* L., Lepidoptera: Tortricidae) feeding on apples (Zaviezo et al. 2007, T.Z. pers. obs., I.C.W.H. pers. obs.). Genetic diversity in several other parasitoid species has been found to be associated with host and host plant species (e.g. Kavallieratos et al. 2004, Stireman et al. 2006).

There were six primers that showed clear microsatellite polymorphism between *G. legneri* strains (U and C field). Genetic differences between these strains could arise due to differences in the species of insect host or host plant they were collected from (see above) and also to differences between the geographical regions of their collection (Menken 1981, Ruiz-Montoya et al. 2003, Stireman et al. 2006, Pannebakker et al. 2008, Phillips et al. 2008, Lozier et al. 2009, Lavandero et al. 2011). Various biological traits and genetic diversity might associate with populations from different geographic localities due to being geographically isolated, influenced by different climatic effects and thus experienced different selection pressures (Diehl & Bush 1984, Hopper et al. 1993, Thompson 1994, Goodisman et al. 2001, Hufbauer et al. 2004).

Establishing that there is genetic polymorphism within parasitoid species opens up a number of possibilities for the use of genetic markers. For instance, molecular markers have been used to show that the host searching behaviour of different *Agathis* sp. populations was not affected by geographical structure and they have the ability to disperse for long distances (Althoff & Thompson 2001) and reciprocal crossing of two geographically and host-species distinct strains of *Aphelinus albipodus* showed reproductive compatibility and no reduction in fecundity (Wu et al. 2004). Further, genetic relatedness is a crucial factor in the evolution of social behaviours between individuals (Hamilton 1964a,b, Mateo 2004, Lizé et al. 2006, Gardner & West 2007) and relatedness between insects can usefully be assessed using microsatellite markers (Buczkowski et al. 2004, Trindl et al. 2004, Jaquiery et al. 2005, Drescher et al. 2010) leading to key insights into behaviours such as kin-based altruism and aggression

111

assays (Giraud et al. 2002, Tsutsui et al. 2003, Drescher et al. 2010, El-Showk et al. 2010). In my own study system the developmental of microsatellite markers provides useful support for empirical work on kin recognition mechanisms (Lizé et al. 2012, Chapter 3), as they confirm the assumption that females from different strains of *G. legneri* derive from populations with different genetic backgrounds, and are thus not as closely related as are females from within the same strain. In general, genetic recognition cues will usually associate with the level of polymorphism (Ratnieks 1991, Buczkowski et al. 2004) and the degree of aggressive behaviour between encountered individuals is attuned to the level of genetic diversity recognition loci (Giraud et al. 2002, Drescher et al. 2010).

A further use of microsatellite markers has been to identify the sex of eggs in several studies of wasp sex ratios (Ratnieks & Keller 1998, Abe et al. 2009). Assessment of the primary sex ratios of the parasitoid Melittobia australica showed that sex allocation is under precise control with the sexes produced in a regular sequence throughout the period of oviposition (Abe et al. 2009). The microsatellites we have developed have also been directly applied to the molecular-genetic detection of haploid (male) and diploid (female) eggs in G. legneri (Khidr et al. submitted, Chapter 6). This provides an evaluation of primary sex ratios that is unbiased by developmental mortality (a longstanding obstacle in sex allocation research on many species, e.g. Fiala 1980, Hardy & Cook 1995, Hardy et al. 1998, Krackow & Neuhäuser 2008, Abe et al. 2009). We used the consistent between-strain polymorphisms (U and C field) and crossmated mothers, such that haploid and diploid eggs had different marker compositions. This work showed, for instance, that relationships between sex ratio and group size can be obscured by developmental mortality when the sex of eggs is not assessed directly and also that male and female eggs may tend to be laid in spatial separation (Khidr et al. submitted, Chapter 6).

5.6 Conclusions

In summary, the *G. nephantidis* laboratory culture evaluated here was not polymorphic in terms of the 12 microsatellite markers developed. This may be a reflection of limited genetic variability within this population or due to a prolonged period in laboratory culture. For *G. legneri*, no polymorphisms were found within strains using the 24 designed markers; as some strains were recently collected from the field this suggests natural genetic variation is locally limited. However, there were six primers that showed clear between-strain marker polymorphism in *Goniozus legneri*: six markers differed between strains collected recently in Chile and strains believed to originate from Uruguay several decades ago, while the two Chilean strains differed in only one microsatellite marker. These markers are useful for experimental work on kin recognition mechanisms, as they show that females from different strains genuinely derive from populations with a different genetic background, and also for studies on sex allocation strategies as consistent between strain polymorphisms allow the molecular-genetic detection of haploid (male) and diploid (female) eggs of crossmated mothers.

Chapter 6 : Primary and secondary sex ratios in a gregarious parasitoid

6.1 Abstract

Haplodiploid sex determination affords female parasitoids mechanistic control over the sex ratios of their progeny. Strongly female-biased sex ratios, with low between group variance, are selected for when single mothers produce groups of sib-mating progeny. While the sex of progeny is determined at oviposition (primary sex ratio) the selective value of given sexual compositions is often only apparent when offspring mature and mate (secondary sex ratio). As developmental mortality can alter the sexual composition of given offspring groups its occurrence can select for mothers to adjust their (primary) sex allocation strategies in insurance. Empirical assessment of primary sex ratios is problematic when male and female eggs are indistinguishable. Here we apply DNA microsatellite markers to evaluate primary sex ratios in the gregarious parasitoid Goniozus legneri Gordh (Hymenoptera: Bethylidae) and compare these with secondary sex ratios. We find that sexually differential mortality is absent or weak but mortality acts to increase sex ratio variance and to obscure initially present relationships between sex ratio and group size. In some groups of offspring, there is a tendency for males and females to be laid in spatial separation. Our direct assessments of the sex of eggs avoids problems inherent in utilizing sub-sets of matured offspring groups with no mortality as representative of overall primary sex ratios but in this instance also confirms interpretations made by studies constrained to employ methods which are strictly incorrect.

Submitted as Khidr SK, Mayes S & & Hardy ICW. Primary and secondary sex ratios in a gregarious parasitoid. (*Behavioral Ecology*). 2012.

6.2 Introduction

Sex allocation is one of the most productive domains of behavioural ecology and has led to a sophisticated understanding of factors that influence an organism's reproductive decisions (Charnov 1982, Hardy 2002, West 2009). Parasitoid wasps have proven to be useful study systems for sex allocation research due, in particular, to variation around a relatively simple core life-history (Godfray 1994) and the fact that in these arrhenotokous species female offspring usually develop from fertilized (diploid) eggs while males develop from unfertilized (haploid) eggs (Flanders 1965, Crozier 1977, Cook 1993a, see Ode and Hardy 2008 and Mateo Leach et al. 2009 for details on some exceptions). Mated females, which store sperm in their spermathecae, can thus have a large degree of behavioural control over the sexes of their progeny at oviposition, via the release or retention of sperm (e.g. Flanders 1965, Suzuki et al. 1984, Godfray 1994, Ode and Rosenheim 1998).

There are several major classes of circumstances when it might be evolutionarily advantageous to control progeny sex ratios (Godfray 1994, West 2009). One of these is offspring developing in relatively isolated and ephemeral population sub-groups, and tending to mate with each other before dispersing as adults: strongly female-biased sex ratios are selected when small numbers of mothers contribute progeny to each group (Local Mate Competition theory: Hamilton 1967, West 2009). In the extreme case that each offspring group is produced by a single mother, males develop successfully and have effectively unlimited mating capacity, and all mating occurs prior to dispersal, the optimal sexual composition of groups is one male with the remainder of offspring being female: *i.e.* the optimal sex ratio (the proportion of offspring that are male) is the reciprocal of offspring group size (Green et al. 1982, Griffiths and Godfray 1988). It also follows that the distribution of sex ratio precision (Green et al. 1982, Hardy 1992, Morgan and Cook 1994, Nagelkerke 1996).

While precise and strongly female-biased sex ratios may combine to maximize the number of mated daughters dispersing from each group (\approx maternal fitness), maternal decisions are more complicated when sex ratio at offspring maturity and mating (termed 'secondary sex ratio' or 'brood sex ratio') might not be the same as at sex allocation (the 'primary sex ratio' or 'clutch sex ratio') due to developmental mortality at the egg, larval or pupal stages. Stochastically acting mortality is expected

115

to increase initially precise sex ratio variance during development (Hardy et al. 1998) and, as insurance against broods containing no males and thus producing only unmated daughters (with \approx zero fitness), mothers should increase their allocation to sons when male mortality is more common and/or clutches of eggs are larger (Green et al. 1982, Heimpel 1994, Nagelkerke and Hardy 1994). For a given mean probability of mortality the maternal primary sex ratio response should, however, be reduced when the distribution of mortality across offspring groups has higher variance (Nagelkerke and Hardy 1994).

Empirical assessment of parasitoid primary sex ratios is often problematic because the sexes of immature offspring are generally not morphologically distinct (see Discussion). Moreover, the sex ratio of surviving gender-distinct adults cannot correctly be used to estimate the primary sex ratio because any sexually differential mortality will bias the sample of surviving offspring in favor of the sex with lower mortality (Fiala 1980, Krackow and Neuhäuser 2008). Sexually differential developmental mortality may be expected due, for instance, to exposure of all deleterious mutations among haploids but not diploids (Smith and Shaw 1980) or to sexually asymmetric resource competition under some parasitoid life-histories (e.g. Ode and Rosenheim 1998, Giron et al. 2007, Kapranas et al. 2011). Separate assessment of male and female developmental mortality is thus challenging yet desirable as, for instance, it is only male mortality that is predicted to influence maternal primary sex ratio optima under extreme Local Mate Competition (Nagelkerke and Hardy 1994). Only a few prior studies have been able to provide direct assessment of parasitoid primary sex ratios coupled with comparison to secondary sex ratios (e.g. van Dijken et al. 1993, Ueno and Tanaka 1997, Hardy et al. 1998, Ode and Rosenheim 1998, Abe et al. 2009).

Here we apply microsatellite markers to investigate the primary sex ratio of *Goniozus legneri* Gordh (Hymenoptera: Bethylidae) a gregarious parasitoid of lepidopteran pests in several new world agro-ecosystems (Legner and Silveira-Guido 1983, Legner and Gordh 1992, Steffan et al. 2001, Zaviezo et al. 2007). The behavioural and reproductive biology of *G. legneri* has been relatively thoroughly explored (e.g. Gordh et al. 1983, Legner and Warkentin 1988, Lee 1992, Hardy et al. 1998, 2000, Goubault et al. 2006, Bentley et al. 2009, Lizé et al. 2012, Chapter 3). Each host is stung and paralyzed by an adult female which guards it against utilization by other females

116

(Goubault et al. 2006, Lizé et al. 2012) and lays eggs externally onto the host approximately one day later. Larger clutches of eggs are laid on larger hosts (Gordh et al. 1983, Lee 1992, Hardy et al. 1998), with ca. 72% of eggs on the host's dorsal surface, ca. 26% on the lateral surface and ca. 2% on the ventral surface (Gordh et al. 1983). Brood guarding and conspecific infanticide (Bentley et al. 2009) lead to groups of offspring developing on the same host being the offspring of a one mother (single 'foundress' broods, Hamilton 1967). Development to adulthood takes approximately two weeks, with around 88-93% of eggs surviving to maturity (Gordh et al. 1983, Hardy et al. 1998). Sibling mating is strongly prevalent prior to dispersal from the remains of the host but some degree of outbreeding may occur (Hardy et al. 2000). Brood sex ratios are female biased (9-19% of adult offspring are male) and have low variance (Gordh et al. 1983, Hardy et al. 1998) qualitatively conforming to expectation under single foundress Local Mate Competition (Hamilton 1967, Krackow et al. 2002, West 2009). Mated females are able to produce around 17 broods before becoming sperm depleted (Gordh et al. 1983), thereafter producing all-male broods. The genetic mechanism of haplo-diploid sex determination is unevaluated but is likely to be similar to that of Goniozus nephantidis which has been shown not to operate by complementary sex determination (which is thought to be ancestral to the Hymenoptera), probably as an evolved response to inbreeding (Cook 1993b, Asplen et al. 2009).

6.3 Material & Methods

6.3.1 Host and parasitoid rearing

Two strains of *Goniozus legneri* Gordh (Hymenoptera: Bethylidae) were utilized in this study. The first strain, which we term 'U' had been cultured in our laboratory for at least seven years and prior to this it had been maintained in commercial insectaries in the USA (the original material is believed to have been collected from southern Uruguay in 1978 Gordh et al. 1983, Legner and Silveira-Guido 1983). While the other strain, which we term 'C', was brought into our laboratory in 2009, following field collections in Santiago, Chile, where a natural population had previously been reported (Zaviezo et al. 2007).

Both strains were reared on a facultative host, the rice moth *Corcyra cephalonica* Stainton (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae), following the method reported in Stokkebo and

Hardy (2000). *Corcyra cephalonica* was reared on a diet of glycerol, corn meal, wheat bran and yeast, following Cook (1993b) but with the addition of honey in equal measure to the glycerol. All cultures and experiments were carried out in a controlled climate room at 27°C with relative humidity maintained by evaporation from a water bath.

For primary and secondary sex ratio evaluation, eight to ten virgin C-strain females were placed with one to two U-strain males for 2-3 days to allow mating and C-strain males were similarly allowed to mate with U-strain females. We obtained 186 cross-mated females which were then individually provided with a host weighing 30-50mg then monitored for 1-2 days until eggs were laid on the host's integument. Fifty five of these 186 replicates were then used for molecular genetic evaluation of the primary sex ratio and the remaining 131 were allocated to one of two secondary sex ratio evaluation treatments (see below).

6.3.2 Primary sex ratio

6.3.2.1 Egg laying and DNA extraction

Once clutches had been laid I counted the eggs and noted their positions on the hosts. DNA was extracted separately from each egg (N = 639 eggs) using methods based on those of Abe et al. (2009): under a dissecting microscope, the contents of each egg were squeezed with the rounded tips of insect pins onto parafilm (Pechiney Plastic Packaging, Chicago, IL, USA) and 2µl of 10 mg/ml Proteinase K (Macherey-Nagel, MN, USA) was placed onto the egg contents then mixed with 45µl of buffer (10 mM Tris, 1mM EDTA, 25 mM NaCl) followed by incubation overnight at 55°C. The extracted DNA was stored in a -20°C freezer.

6.3.2.2 Establishment of a microsatellite marker for egg sexing

Six polymorphic primers for *G. legneri* had previously been designed and assessed for polymorphism via a Beckmann CEQ 8000 capillary sequencer (S.K.K. unpublished data). Primer GISSR7 was selected due to having the largest between-strain variation in allele size (16bp) at a given locus, such that alleles could be differentiated on MetaPhor agarose (Bio Whittaker Molecular, Rockland, ME, USA). The primer sequences were GISSR7F 5'-CGAGGGTATCATTACGCGA-3' and GISSR7R 5'-

GGCCACTCTCTCGTTACACC3-' and the original microsatellite repeat sequence had a (GA)₁₃ repeat motif.

An examination of the alleles sizes present in a large sample (n > 100) of individuals of the U-strain and C-strain revealed that the U-strain carried only the 143bp allele of GISSR7, while the C-population carried the 159bp allele of GISSR7. Thus, by making crosses between the two strains it was possible to determine which eggs were female (heterozygotye diploids) and which were male (hemizygotes). Note that while diploid males occur in some Hymenoptera due to complementary sex determination mechanisms, these are extremely unlikely to operate in *G. legneri* (Cook 1993a,b).

6.3.2.3 Polymerase Chain Reaction and gel preparation

PCR reactions were carried out in a 20 μ l reaction mixture containing forward and reverse primer (2 pmol/ μ l final), 2 μ l (10x) PCR buffer, 0.2 μ l dNTP's (each at a 25mM final concentration), 6 μ l genomic DNA (approximately 3ng/ μ l), 0.2 *Taq* DNA polymerase (5 units/ μ l) and 7.6 μ l Sterile Distilled water.

Samples were amplified in an ABI PCR 9700 Thermocycler (ABI, Carlsbad, CA, USA) with an initial 3 minutes denaturation at 94°C, followed by 35 cycles of 1 minute at 94°C (denaturation), 1 minute at 60°C (annealing) and 72°C for 2 minutes (extension) with a final extension of 72°C for 10 minutes at the end of the program.

The PCR products from the first clutch of eggs were also sized on a Beckmann CEQ 8000 capillary sequencer, using standard techniques. For routine determination of alleles from GISSR7, PCR products were run on 4% MetaPhor agarose (Bio Whittaker Molecular, Rockland, ME, USA) prepared in 0.5 × TBE and run for 2 hours at 90V on a BioRad sub-cell GT gel kit. Bands were visualized under UV-light in a BioRad Gel Doc 2000 gel box after adding 2µl of Ethidium bromide stock (10mg/ml; Promega corporation) before the gel was poured.

6.3.2.4 PCR products visualized on MetaPhor gel electrophoresis

While the results of the capillary analysis confirmed that females and males can be determined using GISSR7 if crosses are made between the U- and C-strains, the cost of running capillary analysis on large numbers of offspring were prohibitive. For this reason, we determined conditions for MetaPhor agarose gels which would allow an

unambiguous determination of heterozygotes from hemizygotes, which allowed the presence of hybrids between the strains to be determined (Figure 6.1) On the basis of the ploidy and strong inference on mating system and genetic sex determination (Cook 1993b, Hardy et al. 2000), eggs were determined to be male or female. In a small number of cases PCR needed to be repeated before clear results were obtained.



Figure 6.1 Molecular evaluation of clutch sexual composition. Two clutch reciprocal crosses visualized on MetaPhor gels. Each clutch contains 7 femal male egg laid by (a) a U-strain female mated with C-strain males (b) a crossed with U-strain males. Females are inferred by the presence of two bands (heterozygotes) and males by the presence of a single band (h carries the 143bp allele of GISSR7R and Strain C the 159bp column shows the 2-log DNA ladder (New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA, USA).

6.3.3 Secondary sex ratio

For the majority of the clutches used for secondary sex ratio evaluation (), the mother was removed and laid eggs counted after 1-2 days (as with a used for evaluation of the primary sex ratio) and the offspring were allowed to rematurity. For the other 39 replicates, the mother was allowed to refer a further 24 hours, then removed, and the number of eggs on the recounted: this served as a check that oviposition decisions by mothematication of the time that mothers were removed from their clutches during evaluation of

primary sex ratios and also in the other secondary sex ratio evaluation treatment. The sexual composition of all 131 broods (secondary sex ratio) was determined after the emergence of adults from their cocoons based on external morphology (males are smaller than females and do not possess stingers).

6.3.4 Data analysis

Offspring group composition data were analyzed using generalized linear modelling within the Genstat statistical package (Version 12, VSN International, Hemel Hempstead, UK). Log-linear analyses were utilized to explore influences on clutch size and male number (small integer response variables) and logistic analysis was used for factors influencing proportional response variables (proportion developmental mortality = proportion of eggs that failed to become adults, sex ratio = proportion of offspring that were male) (Crawley 1993, Wilson and Hardy 2002). Logistic Generalized Linear Mixed Modeling (Bolker et al. 2008) was used to explore sex ratio differences between sub-groups of offspring laid onto the same host. In log-linear analysis and analyses of grouped binary data, guasi-Poisson and guasi-binomial distributions of residuals, using empirically estimated scale parameters, were adopted, respectively, to take potential over- and under-dispersion into account (Crawley 1993, Wilson and Hardy 2002) we also note that these statistical models do not return exact probability estimates (Crawley 1993). The Meelis test statistic, U, was used to assess the significance of any deviation from binomiality for sex ratio and mortality data and the variance ratio, R, was used as a quantification of variance (Krackow et al. 2002).

6.4 Results

6.4.1 Clutches laid

Larger clutches were laid on larger hosts ($F_{1,183} = 31.27$, P < 0.001) but clutch size was unaffected by whether the mother belonged to the U-strain or the C-strain ($F_{1,182} = 1.35$, P = 0.246). Of the 39 mothers left with hosts after oviposition was apparently complete, one subsequently added eggs to the clutch: 5 eggs were added to an initial clutch of 6. As this suggests that only $\approx 1\%$ (5/477) eggs would have been omitted from our remaining primary and secondary sex ratio evaluations, we conclude that data on the sexual composition when mothers were removed after 1-2 days are a very close match to underlying maternal decisions and we do not consider the distinction between the two secondary sex ratio evaluation treatments further.

6.4.2 Primary sex ratio

Gel analysis indicated that six of the 55 clutches evaluated contained males only: as this indicates that the mother probably had not mated, these clutches were excluded from further sex ratio analysis (following Hardy and Cook 1995). In two mixed sex clutches DNA extraction for egg sexing was not completely successful so these data were also excluded from analysis. Consequently, data from 47 clutches were used in the analysis of primary sex ratio.

The mean sex ratio (proportion of offspring that were male) of the 47 clutches was 0.118 (+S.E. = 0.012, -S.E. = 0.011). Overall distribution of sex ratio across clutches was significantly under-dispersed (R = 0.439, Table 6.1). Overall, primary sex ratios were significantly greater in larger clutches ($F_{1,45} = 9.71$, P = 0.003, Figure 6.2A) but sex ratio was unaffected by the strain of the mother ($F_{1,44} = 0.06$, P = 0.807) or by an interaction between strain and clutch size ($F_{1,43} = 0.08$, P = 0.781). The mean number of males per clutch was 1.362 (+S.E. = 0.181, -S.E. = 0.160) and increased significantly with clutch size ($F_{1,45} = 24.80$, P < 0.001, Figure 6.2B) but was not influenced by strain (strain: $F_{1,44} = 0.03$, P = 0.862; strain × clutch size interaction: $F_{1,43} = 0.05$, P = 0.826).

In 21 clutches the mother laid eggs in spatially separate batches on the host. In the majority of these cases most eggs (8-15) were on the dorsal and lateral surfaces of the host larvae with a much smaller number (1-3) laid on the ventral surface: we term these 'major sub-clutches' and 'minor sub-clutches' respectively. Sex ratios within minor sub-clutches were significantly higher than among major sub-clutches (Logistic GLMM with host identity fitted as a random effect: $F_{1,38} = 15.53$, P < 0.001, Figure 6.3). Sex ratios of major sub-clutches increased significantly with increase in the size of the sub-clutch while those of minor sub-clutches decreased (clutch type × sub-clutch size interaction: $F_{1,38} = 8.61$, P < 0.006): eggs in the smallest minor sub-clutches were usually male.

6.4.3 Secondary sex ratio

Among the 131 broods allocated to evaluate secondary sex ratio, the mean proportion of eggs that developed to adulthood was 0.924 (+S.E. = 0.009, -S.E. = 0.011). Developmental mortality was uninfluenced by clutch size ($F_{1,129} = 0.12$, P = 0.73) but there was a weak tendency for the offspring of C-strain females to survive better when developing on larger hosts while survivorship in U-strain broods decreased slightly (Host size × strain interaction: $F_{1,127} = 7.52$, P < 0.007, Deviance explained = 0.05%). Developmental mortality was highly overdispersed across broods (R = 8.677, U = 39.2, P < 0.001) but all members failed to mature in just one of these broods.

In 17/130 replicates with surviving offspring, all eclosed adults were male, indicating maternal virginity and these were excluded from further sex ratio analysis. A significantly higher proportion of eggs survived to adulthood among these all-male broods than among the broods containing mainly females (respective means: 0.971, +S.E. = 0.012, -S.E. = 0.020; 0.923, +S.E. = 0.009, -S.E. = 0.011; $F_{1,128} = 4.67$, P = 0.033); while suggestive of sexually differential mortality, it should be noted that this distinction accounted for only 3.5% of the deviance and the *P* value, estimated from logistic analysis, is both inexact and close to the conventional significance/non-significance threshold.

The mean sex ratio of the remaining 113 broods (containing at least one female at adult eclosion) was 0.133 (S.E. ± 0.008) and the overall distribution of brood sex ratios was significantly underdispersed (R = 0.572, Table 6.2). Secondary sex ratio was not significantly affected by brood size ($F_{1,111} = 1.01$, P = 0.318, Figure 6.2C), strain ($F_{1,110} = 0.01$, P = 0.936) or by an interaction between strain and brood size ($F_{1,109} = 0.07$, P = 0.795).

To explore relationships between developmental mortality and brood sexual composition, we classified the 113 broods according to whether or not all eggs survived to adulthood. We note that sex ratio comparisons between sub-sets of data with and without mortality must be made with caution but can generate useful insights (Fiala 1980, Krackow and Neuhäuser 2008). The mortality distribution among these broods was overdispersed (R = 2.684, U = 13.9, P < 0.001), further suggesting a categorical distinction might be informative. There was no significant sex ratio difference between broods with some mortality (n = 53) and broods in which all eggs

123

survived to adulthood (n = 60; $F_{1,111} = 0.02$, P = 0.897) nor was there a significant interaction between mortality occurrence and brood size ($F_{1,110} = 2.13$, P = 0.147) but we illustrate the observed trends in these sub-sets of data on Figure 6.2C to aid the comparison of primary and secondary sex ratio patterns (see below). The same conclusions were reached when exploring mortality in terms of the number of eggs that died in each clutch rather than whether or not it occurred. These results collectively imply that *G. legneri* developmental mortality is not dependent on the primary sex ratio (Krackow and Neuhäuser 2008). The sex ratio variance of the subset of broods in which some mortality occurred was, however, greater than in the subset without mortality, such that the variance among broods with mortality was not significantly different from binomial (without mortality: R = 0.467, U = 2.5, P < 0.05; with mortality: R = 0.678, U = 1.26, P > 0.05).

In terms of number of males among the 113 broods containing at least one female at adult eclosion, there was a significant increase with brood size ($F_{1,111} = 24.60$, P < 0.001, Figure 6.2D) with no influence of strain ($F_{1,110} = 0.00$, P = 0.952) or strain × brood size interaction ($F_{1,109} = 0.00$, P=0.963). The mean number of males per brood was 1.513 (+S.E. = 0.111, -S.E. = 0.103).



Figure 6.2 Relationships between sexual composition and offspring group size at oviposition (A & B) and at adult eclosion (C & D). Fitted solid lines show the minimal adequate models from logistic (A & C) or log-linear (B & D) regressions. In panel C the dotted line shows the best fit regression line for broods in which there was some developmental mortality and the dashed line is for broods without mortality, although these illustrated trends are not significantly different from each other or from a slope of zero (see main text). Overlapping data points are slightly vertically displaced to illustrate sample sizes.



Figure 6.3 Sex ratios within major and minor sub-clutches $(\pm S.E)$. The dashed line shows the mean sex ratio (proportion of males) across the 21 clutches analyzed.

Table 6.1 Primary sexual composition of clutches laid by mated Goniozuslegneri

		Fr€	Frequencies of number of males per clutch						U
Clutch size	Frequency	0	1	2	3	4	5		
1									_
2									-
3									-
4								-	-
5								_	_
6								_	
7								-	-
8	4	2	2					0.711	-0.540
9	4	1	3					0.364	-0.972
10	8	2	6					0.309	-1.464
11	8	2	3	1	2			1.173	0.320
12	7		4	3				0.227	-1.445
13	8	1	2	5				0.431	-1.145
14	5		1	3	1			0.292	-1.072
15	1				1			-	_
16	1			1				 '	
17	0								-
18	1						1	_	_
Totals	47	8	21	13	4		1		
Approx. proportion		17%	45%	28%	9%		2%		
					Ονε	rall: R=	=0.439	, U=2.39,	<i>p</i> <0.01

		Frequ	Frequencies of number of males per brood						U
Brood size	Frequency	0	1	2	3	4	5	-	
1									
2	1		1					-	-
3								-	-
4	2	2						-	-
5									_
6	4	1	3					0.381	-0.957
7	1		1						-
8	10	4	3	3				0.960	-0.122
9	10		6	4				0.226	-1.775
10	13	6	5	2				0.875	-0.354
11	14		6	5	3			0.430	-1.544
12	13	2	2	8	1			0.541	-1.197
13	20	2	6	8	4			0.577	-1.374
14	10	1	4	3	2			0.659	-0.776
15	8		1	3	2	2		0.519	-0.947
16	3			1	1	1		0.410	-0.629
17	4	1		1	2			1.133	0.153
18								-	_
Totals	113	19	38	38	15	3			
Approx. proportion		17%	34%	34%	13%	3%			
				C)verall: A	R=0.572	2, <i>U</i> =2.87	, p<0.01	

Table 6.2 Secondary sexual composition of broods produced by matedGoniozus legneri

6.4.4 Comparison between primary and secondary sex ratios

Broods in which no mortality occurred have identical primary and secondary sexual compositions (and brood size = clutch size): with the caveat that these broods are a self-selected sub-set of secondary sex ratio data, we compared the sex ratios of the 60 broods with no mortality to those of the 47 clutches used for primary sex ratio evaluation. The significant increase in sex ratio with clutch size ($F_{1,105} = 12.27$, P < 0.001, as expected from Figure 6.2A,D) did not differ between these data sets ($F_{1,104} = 0.41$, P = 0.522) nor was there a significant interaction between data origin and clutch size ($F_{1,103} = 1.52$, P = 0.210). In this instance, primary sex ratios appear to be closely represented by the self-selected sub-set of broods without mortality, suggesting the absence of sexually differential mortality.

Heuristically combining all 113 broods used for secondary sex ratio analysis with the 47 primary sex ratio replicates indicated that sex ratio increases with offspring group size among broods with no mortality and among primary clutches but appeared to decline weakly among broods with some mortality (brood size × data sub-set interaction: $F_{2,154} = 3.24$, P = 0.042). As above, there was no significant distinction between broods with no mortality and primary replicates (aggregation of factor levels: $F_{2,156} = 0.89, P = 0.414$) but sex ratios of these were significantly different from those of broods with some mortality ($F_{1.157}$ = 5.39, P = 0.022). Although this analysis suggests that the non-significant distinction illustrated in Figure 6.2C may be biologically present, the interpretation relies on the inclusion of an outlying brood of one male and one female adult offspring (upper left hand corner of Figure 6.2C) that survived from an initial clutch of 10 eggs: repeating the analysis without this brood suggested no significant distinction between the sex ratios of the three sub-sets of data ($F_{2,155} = 0.40$, P = 0.668) and an overall increase in sex ratio with offspring group size ($F_{1,157} = 6.77$, P = 0.01). As mortality has no convincing effect on sex ratio in this analysis or in those above (beyond increasing sex ratio variance) we conclude that sexually differential mortality is absent or weak.

6.5 Discussion

Several methods have been developed to assess primary sex ratios directly. In some species maternal movements during egg-laying make it apparent which sex of egg is being laid (Cole 1981, Suzuki et al. 1984, van Dijken and Waage 1987, Strand 1989, Luck et al. 2001) and hence primary sex ratios can be assessed visually (Ode and Rosenheim 1998, Yamada and Kawamura 1999). In other species, male and female eggs are laid in, or migrate after hatching to, different locations within the host (Flanders 1950, Luck et al. 1982, Walter 1983, Espinoza et al. 2009). Other developed methods have been genetic. Dijkstra (1986), van Dijken (1991) ,van Dijken et al. (1993) and Ueno and Tanaka (1997) have identified the sexes of laid eggs through counting stained chromosomes within cells in the metaphase of mitotic division. This methods is reliant on the presence of twice as may chromosomes being present in fertilized (diploid) female eggs in comparison to unfertilized (haploid) male eggs and thus cannot distinguish females from the diploid males that are occasionally produced in some species with complimentary sex determination (CSD: Cook 1993a, 2002, Ode and Hardy 2008) and can also be difficult to apply if the tissue to be sexed has developed somatic polyploidy (Aubert 1959) and when parasitoid eggs have thick chorions (van Dijken 1991). More recently, DNA genetic markers, such as microsatellites, have been used to identify the sex of eggs in a small number of wasp species (Ratnieks and Keller 1998, Abe et al. 2009). Genetic markers have the potential to distinguish between diploid males and females under CSD as males will be homozygous for the sex allele while female are heterozygous. Furthermore, genomic DNA can be extracted from different types and ages of eggs, making genetic markers powerful and accurate tools for evaluating sex ratios in haplo-diploid organisms.

Using a genetic-marker method has allowed us to evaluate primary sex ratio patterns while avoiding the problems inherent in using a sub-set of offspring groups in which all offspring have survived (Fiala 1980, Krackow and Neuhäuser 2008). Our primary sex ratio data show that sex ratios also have significantly lower than binomial variance across offspring groups (R=0.439) and are female biased overall, but less female biased in larger groups of offspring (because the number of male eggs per clutch increases rapidly with increase in clutch size, Figure 6.2B). Using equations provided by Heimpel (1994) for optimal sex allocation under single foundress strict Local Mate Competition, we calculate that, with the observed mean developmental mortality of
7.6%, the optimal number of males per clutch will not exceed 1 until clutch sizes exceed 18 eggs. In fact, under the assumptions of these calculations male mortality would have to exceed 50% before \geq 4 males should optimally be laid in clutches of 18 eggs (the fitted regression on Figure 6.2B predicts *ca*. 4.5 males per 18 egg clutch). The observed increase number of males is thus unlikely to be due to insurance against male mortality (Green et al. 1982, Heimpel 1994, Nagelkerke and Hardy 1994) but could be due to the occurrence of non-local mating in *G. legneri* populations (further discussed by Hardy et al. 1998, 2000).

Primary sex ratio analysis also shows, for the first time, that when G. legneri mothers lay offspring in spatially discrete sub-clutches, the sex ratios of major sub-clutches are female biased while those of minor sub-clutches are male blased. Although the sequence of sex allocation during oviposition of a clutch is unknown for G. legneri, in several other gregarious species of bethylids male eggs tend to be laid last (reviewed in Hardy 1992). Such comparative evidence suggests that minor sub-clutches are laid after major-sub clutches in G. legneri. This would also accord with Lee's (1992) observation that female G. legneri females sometimes add extra eggs to a clutch (in Lee's study this occurred when some eggs had been removed). Further, the ventral surface of the host is reported to be the least frequent location for G. legneri egg deposition (Gordh et al. 1993) potentially implying that males tend to be laid in 'inferior' locations. As developing bethylids do not usually engage in aggressive interlarval competition (Mayhew and Hardy 1998), which could be reduced by physical separation and result in the less strongly competitive sex developing in an inferior location (e.g. Espinoza et al. 2009), we currently have no clear adaptive explanation for the tendency towards spatial separation between male and female offspring on some hosts. We do, however, note that as our data are weakly suggestive of lower mortality among males when developing on separate hosts from females the possibility that males in mixed sex G. legneri broods are laid spatially separately to reduce intersexual competition deserves future attention.

Our data on secondary sex ratios also show that sex ratios are female biased overall but, in contrast to data on primary sex ratios, sex ratio is unrelated to offspring group size (because the number of male eggs per broods increases insufficiently rapidly with increase in brood size; compare panels B and D of Figure 6.2): similar results have been found in previous studies on *G. legneri* (Gordh et al. 1983, Hardy et al. 1998).

We further found that sex ratio variance is precise, with a variance estimate (R=0.572) almost identical to that obtained by previous evaluation based on more than three times as many broods (R=0.56, Hardy et al. 1998).

Comparing our results for primary and secondary sex ratios indicates that developmental mortality, with a mean of 7.7% (as estimated from mixed-sex broods), obscures initially present relationships between sex ratio and offspring group size. Mortality also increased sex ratio variance (from R=0.439 at oviposition to R=0.572 at eclosion) but not so much that initially precise sex ratios would be classified as binomial on offspring maturity. Note however, that when secondary sex ratio data were separated according to whether or not any members of the brood died during development, sex ratio variances were significantly lower than binomial with no mortality and not significantly different from binomial when mortality occurred). Higher levels of mortality (ca. 57%) obscure initially precise sex ratios in the gregarious parasitoid Colpoclypeus florus (Hardy et al. 1998), in which primary sex ratios have been evaluated by cytology (Dijkstra 1986). In accord with both of these results, further within-species and cross-species evidence shows that sex ratio variance is correlated with the frequency of parasitoid developmental mortality (Hardy et al. 1998, Kapranas et al. 2011). Such empirical observations do not contradict Fiala's (1980) and Krackow and Neuhäuser's (2008) predictions that sex ratio variance will be unaffected by developmental mortality, as these authors assume that primary sex ratios are binomially distributed. In contrast, it is intuitively to be expected (Hardy et al. 1998) that initially precise sex ratios in G. legneri, C. florus and other parasitoid species will be assessed as less precise after the stochastic action of mortality.

One reason for estimating primary sex ratios directly is to evaluate potential sexually differential mortality while avoiding methodological bias (e.g. Ueno and Tanaka 1997, Abe et al. 2009). Mortality itself is often straightforward to assess in ectoparasitoids but separating this into male and female components usually is not. Our comparison of independently estimated primary and secondary sex ratios indicated little or no difference between male and female developmental mortality. Our additional comparison of mortality of all-male broods produced by virgin mothers and female-biased broods produced by mated mothers (which approximates a test for sexually differential mortality, Hardy and Cook 1995, Ueno and Tanaka 1997) suggested that males survive better than females but the distinction was very weak. We conclude,

overall, that sexually differential mortality is effectively absent: previous estimates for *G. legneri* and other species of bethylids have drawn similar conclusions (Legner and Warkentin 1988, Hardy et al. 1998), as have other studies that provide direct comparison of primary and secondary sex ratios in further parasitoid taxa (e.g. Ueno and Tanaka 1997, Abe et al. 2009) although there is less direct evidence for sexually differential mortality in some parasitoid species (reviewed in Nagelkerke and Hardy 1994).

Finally, we return to the problem that the sex ratio of surviving offspring cannot correctly be used to estimate the primary sex ratio because any sexually differential mortality will bias the sample of surviving offspring in favor of the sex with lower mortality (Fiala 1980): this has proven worrisome in the sex ratio literature either because authors are unaware of the problem (reviewed by Krackow and Neuhäuser 2008) or because they are aware but do not possess a fully valid method to assess primary sex ratios. Authors in the latter category have compared sex ratios of broods with no mortality with those of broods in which some developmental mortality occurred, along with the stated caveat that their conclusions may not strictly be valid (e.g. Morgan and Cook 1994, Hardy et al. 1998, Kapranas et al. 2011). Our data allowed us to evaluate sex ratio patterns both correctly (using a direct estimate of primary sex ratio) and, strictly, incorrectly (using sub-sets of secondary sex ratio data with and without mortality). Secondary sex ratios from broods with no mortality were similar to primary sex ratios in terms of the relationship between sex ratio and clutch size and sex ratio variance (R= 0.467 and 0.439 respectively) and comparisons between sub-sets of secondary sex ratio data with and without mortality lead to similar conclusions to comparisons between primary and secondary sex ratios. We make no claim that the concerns raised, correctly, by Fiala (1980) and Krackow and Neuhäuser (2008) are unimportant; rather we note that direct assessment of G. legneri primary sex ratios has not led us to conclusions that differ greatly from those tentatively obtained using strictly incorrect methods (Hardy et al. 1998): this situation would, however, likely be different if mortality in G. legneri were strongly differential between the sexes.

6.6 Conclusions

Independent assessment of primary and secondary sex ratios in *G. legneri* indicates that sexually developmental mortality does not differ between the sexes but does increase sex ratio variance across offspring groups between oviposition and maturity and can lead to initially present relationships between sex ratio and offspring group size being obscured. Direct assessments of primary sex ratios are desirable as these are methodologically more correct than indirect methods and can reveal new facets of sex ratio biology and may also serve to confirm tentative conclusions drawn from indirect analyses.

Chapter 7 : General Discussion and Conclusions

7.1 Summary of results

This project has investigated various aspects of metabolomic, behavioural, chemical and molecular properties of *Goniozus* species. The results of these investigations can be summarised into a number of main points.

- The metabolomic properties of hosts change with time after paralysis. Nuclear Magnetic Resonance revealed that the metabolites associated with energy, such as glucose, decreased while amino acids were liberated from proteins and ethanol, a waste product, increased (Chapter Two).
- Host age since paralysis negatively influenced parasitoid reproductive behaviour and life-history characteristics, such as progeny survivorship (Chapter Two).
- Resource value appears to influence contest outcomes: contest interactions were more often resolved in favour of wasp in possession of high-quality hosts (younger and bigger) (Chapter Two).
- Resource holding potential affects contest outcomes: the probability of winning a contest was higher for the larger contestant (Chapters Two and Three).
- Kin recognition behaviour in *Goniozus* females appears to operate via both genetically-based (phenotype matching) and environmentally-based (familiarity) cues, which revealed during contest interactions (Chapters Three, Four and Five).
- Chemical analysis revealed that various species of *Goniozus* exhibit dissimilarity in the cuticular profiles and also that the host species on which female *G*. *legneri* developed on also influenced their CHC profiles (Chapter Four). These results accord with those from kin recognition studies (Chapter Three), in that the mechanism of kin recognition is likely to be CHC profile similarity with both genetic and environmental components.

- Molecular genetic markers were developed for *G. legneri*. These can be a useful tool to address many questions of interest in the future and can be employed across closely related species as well (Chapter Five).
- The assessment of primary sex ratio, using genetic markers developed in Chapter Five, revealed that that secondary sex ratio variance is higher than primary sex ratio variance due to developmental mortality and also that relationships between sex ratio and offspring group size that are present at oviposition can be obscured by developmental mortality (Chapter Six).

Each of the aforementioned empirical chapters has their own discussion, thus in the remainder of this chapter I briefly recap the objectives of the work and suggest directions for future research.

7.2 Post-paralysis host age influence on *Goniozus nephantidis* fitness

When host quality varies, parasitoid wasps are expected to oviposit selectively in highquality hosts. Whilst the influence of resource value e.g. host age prior to attack by parasitoids has been frequently studied (King 1998, Husni & Honda 2001, He & Wang 2006), no investigation has assessed the impact of envenomated and paralysed host age on parasitoid behavioural and life-history strategies. In accordance to our expectations the host quality declined significantly with time since paralysis: this is directly reflected in parasitoid behaviour, as females in possession of younger hosts fight more aggressively to win the contests for hosts. This behaviour indicates that they value younger hosts more greatly than older hosts.

Hosts started to lose weight continuously after paralysis and metabolic profiling showed that levels of glucose and ATP decreased with time, and waste products increased with time. These nutritional changes probably make older hosts less reproductively valuable to the wasps because, for instance, glucose is considered as an important factor associated with parasitoid growth (Thompson 1979, Hu et al. 2001). Hence, the host's quality started to deteriorate and the required metabolic processes to continue their survival began to decrease.

Further studies would involve chemical manipulation of the nutritional profile of young hosts via injection or diet supplements of glucose and/or ethanol. Then the female's

fitness can be explored in terms of offspring production and mortality while reared on hosts receiving different treatments. Further, contest behaviour between females in possession of glucose-enhanced hosts or ethanol enhanced hosts *versus* control (unmanipulated) hosts can be performed. In fact, such studies have already been carried out (but are not presented in this Thesis) and show that ethanol-enhanced hosts are treated similarly to older hosts by female parasitoids, but glucose treatment has no discernable effect.

Another suggested research area is that *Goniozus nephantidis* can be reared successfully on *Corcyra cephalonica* but it cannot be reared on *Plodia interpunctella*. Thus, hosts of different species are likely to have different metabolic profiles, making them suitable hosts for some parasitoid species but not for others. Chemical profile differences and similarities between different host species can be screened through Proton NMR. This might be especially revealing for ectoparasitoids that do not have intimate immunological interactions with their hosts, because they cannot be encapsulated, but may have co-evolutionary interactions via hosts 'fighting back' via their metabolomic profiles. Thus, this might provide insight into the molecular metabolites which make some host less suitable for female parasitoids than others.

Similar to studies on host age, the technique can be employed to explore the wasp's metabolic composition during different ages but first the method needs optimization to obtain a profile of the individual wasp which might be challenging due to their small sizes.

7.3 Agonistic behaviour in association with recognition and resource value in *Goniozus legneri*

Despite the tremendous amount of research that has focussed on the influence of relatedness on animal contests, few experiments have assessed the influence of competition on aggressiveness between related individuals (e.g. West et al. 2001, Giron et al. 2004, Innocent et al. 2011). Thus, we explored the effect and basis of kin recognition among adult females of *Goniozus legneri* on contest behaviour and the mechanism involved in this recognition.

The sub-social female wasp Goniozus legneri was able to employ two mechanisms to assess relatedness for recognition behaviour. Genetically-based recognition between

relatives as well as environmentally based cues between individuals whether or not it is a relative. The previous researches usually suggested that recognition either was based on genetic components that affected mate choice decision in *Venturia canescens* (Metzger et al. 2010) or was environmental based properties for brood mate recognition in *Bracon hebetor* species (Ode et al. 1995). However, might depend on both properties in social insects such as the paper wasps (Gamboa et al. 1986b, Bura & Gamboa 1994, Gamboa 2004).

Previous studies of *G. legneri* contests have minimised variation in relatedness asymmetries between competing females (competitors were always non-sibling females from strain U) and have found effects of asymmetries in both body size and prior ownership status on aggression and on contest outcomes (Goubault et al. 2006, Bentley et al. 2009). As with prior studies, we found effects of size and ownership asymmetries on aggression and that larger contestants tend to win contests.

The evaluation of recognition behaviour cues in *G. legneri* was based on behavioural observations during female contests in the laboratory. Therefore, future investigation should direct towards assessing the role of these cues on *Goniozus* population in general and on contest interaction particularly within field environment. Hence, we can build more solid interpretation for recognition behaviour.

In addition, further studies are required to identify the possible environmental chemical cues in *G. legneri* females and whether it is individual's innate odour or the shared host odour or both. Also inspection in the laboratory can be performed to find out whether the crossed strains of *G. legneri* (U and C) can enhance wasp's efficiency and fitness such as, increasing clutch size or decreasing mortality rates in the subsequent generation.

7.4 Cuticular hydrocarbons in Goniozus sp

The main objective of this study was to explore how environmental cues impact on resource competition behaviour in parasitic wasps. In *Goniozus* species it is likely that odours are acquired from the host during development and used by interacting females as a proxy for relatedness (Chapter Three): this was presupposed because kin recognition is mediated by cuticular hydrocarbon biosynthesis in a diversity of taxa

(Carlin & Hölldobler 1986, Lahav et al. 1999, Tsutsui et al. 2003, Gamboa 2004, Howard & Blomquist 2005, Dronnet et al. 2006, El-Showk et al. 2010).

The surface chemistry profiles of *Goniozus legneri* U-strain females differ when they develop on different host species. Also, the three Investigated species of *Goniozus* have different chemical profiles even when developing on the same host species, supporting the assertion that chemical cues are used to assess relatedness. Hence, our finding might show that sister wasps growing up on different hosts 'smell' different, which is what our aforementioned experiment would suggest. However, this study was performed on a broader scale (cross-species differences rather than cross-brood differences) but in the future the same technique, or more refined versions of it, can be applied to evaluate differences between siblings and non-siblings.

Since CHCs can be used as a reliable taxonomic tool for species identification (Carlson & Yocom 1986, Uva et al. 2004, Kather & Martin 2012), an attempt to identify a species of *Goniozus* from Oman which we termed *Goniozus* sp. Indet. confirms that it was neither *G. nephantidis* nor *G. legneri*. However, because of the limited samples we received from Oman we only examined CHC profiles of few Individual females. Therefore, obtaining further samples from Oman and investigating further aspects of the biology of this putative species would be useful.

Further, it is very important to find a suitable factitious host for this unknown species so it can be used for mass rearing. Currently in Oman the wax moth *Galleria mellonella* L has been utilized. However, there are some problems with using this host in the laboratory: wax moth larvae are quite aggressive and larger larvae often kill the parasitoid rather than vice versa (I.C.W. Hardy pers. comm.). I have tried to rear a few females on *Corcyra cephalonica* Stainton but was not successful. Therefore, testing further hosts such as *Plodia interpunctella* (Hübner), *Ephestia cautella* (Walker), *Pectinophora gossypiella* (Saund.), and *Phthorimaea operculella* (Zeller) would be useful in the future to maintain the species more efficiently in culture. Later, the next potential step would be collecting samples from different *Goniozus* species to compare the hydrocarbon profile in an attempt to establish a general idea of the chemicals that correspond with species identity.

7.5 Microsatellite markers and Goniozus species

The specific aim of the study was to elucidate the genetic cues that impact on resource competition behaviour in parasitic wasps. A further aim was to develop a microsatellite marker system for bethylid wasps as, to my knowledge, there is no previous marker present for this genus and only few designed for the family Bethylidae (Carr et al. 2010). The occurrence of polymorphic primers between *Goniozus legneri* populations ('U' and 'C') provides supporting information for the recognition behaviour experiment (Chapter Three), in essence that the crossed strains are genetically different from each other.

The primers designed for *Goniozus* species can be applied in further studies such as investigations of correlates of genetic diversity of *G. legneri* populations: whether diversity is based only on geographical distance, host plant species, continuous inbreeding, genetic elements or an interaction between these factors, as found in other species (e.g. Kavallieratos et al. 2004, Stireman et al. 2006, Pannebakker et al. 2008, Phillips et al. 2008, Lozier et al. 2009, Lavandero et al. 2011). This can be achieved by collecting this species from different localities and on various host plant species.

The genomic DNA sequence enriched library for *G. legneri* microsatellites, constructed by 454 Pyrosequencing, contained inadequate fragments that restrict us to design only 24 primers to this species with ultimately six molecular markers. Thus, either an attempt to develop another library by using different sequencing, such as standard (Sanger) sequencing, though this might be expensive, or perhaps testing *G. nephantidis* primers on *G. legneri* might be worth research attention in the future. Designing primers for *G. nephantidis* and *G.* sp. Indet. may also be useful. Another option would be to try using the primers that are already designed on the other *Goniozus* species on *G.* sp.indet. as finding molecular markers for this species might further assist better understanding the species identity and phenotypic traits.

7.6 Precise sex allocation in parasitoid wasp

This study set out to evaluate offspring sex ratio at oviposition (primary sex ratio) of the parasitoid wasp Goniozus legneri (using molecular markers), compare this with the sex ratio at emergence (secondary sex ratio) and thus to test the influence of developmental mortality on the gender composition of Goniozus wasp broods. Similar comparisons have been made in only a few other species (e.g. Ueno & Tanaka 1997, Abe et al. 2009). Mortality increased sex ratio variance across offspring groups but sexual differential mortality was not observed. Further observation regarding the position of eggs on the host showed that eggs laid spatially separately, in 'minor clutches', tend to be male. It seems likely that these are also the temporally last laid eggs. The exact sequence of sex allocation during oviposition of a clutch in this species would require further observation during eggs deposition and perhaps by recording it on video tapes. Further it would be useful to use molecular markers to evaluate the relative contributions, in terms of numbers and sex ratios of eggs, of different mothers to broods in bethylid species that have a more communal breeding system, such as Scelodermus guani in which several wasps collaborate to sting the host then guard the broods while their offspring develop. These investigations would apply techniques developed in this thesis for studying sub-social Goniozus to the understanding of the biology of bethylids that exhibit more advanced degrees of social behaviour.

References

- Abbas MST, Shidi RH, Jumah S & Al-Khatry SA (2008). Utilization of *Goniozus* sp. (Hym: Bethylidae) as a bio-control agent against the lesser date moth, *Bareachedra amydaraula* (Meyrick) (Lep.: Batrachedridae) in date palm orchards in Sultanate of Oman. *Egyptian Journal of Biological Pest Control*. 18: 47-50.
- Abe J, Kamimura Y, Kondo N & Shimada M (2003). Extremely femalebiased sex ratio and lethal male-male combat in a parasitoid wasp, *Melittobia australica* (Eulophidae). *Behavioural Ecology*. 14:34–39.
- Abe J, Kamimura Y, Shimada M & West SA (2009). Extremely female biased primary sex ratio and precisely constant male production in a parasitoid wasp *Melittobia*. *Animal Behaviour*. 78: 515–523.
- Abraham RJ, Fisher J & Loftus P (1988). Introduction to NMR spectroscopy. Chichester: Jhon Wiley and Sons. Inc.
- Adams J, Rothman ED, Kerr WE & Paulino ZL (1977). Estimation of number of sex alleles and queen matings from diploid male frequencies in a population of Apis mellifera. Genetics. 86: 583-596.
- Adam P, Gütlich M, Oschkinat H, Bacher A & Eisenreich W (2005). Studies of the intermediary metabolism in cultured cells of the insect Spodoptera frugiperda using ¹³C- or ¹⁵N-labelled tracers. *BMC Biochemistry*. 6: 24.
- Aebi A, Shani T, Hansson C, Contreras-Garduno J, Mansion G & Benrey B (2008). The potential of native parasitoids for the control of Mexican bean beetles: A genetic and ecological approach. *Biological Control*. 47: 289-297.
- Akbar W, Lord JC, Nechols JR & Howard RW (2004). Diatomaceous earth increases the efficacy of *Beauveria bassiana* against *Tribolium castaneum* larvae and increases conidia attachment. *Journal of Economic Entomology*. 97: 273-280.
- Akino T, Yamamura K, Wakamura S & Yamaoka R (2004). Direct behavioral evidence for hydrocarbons as nestmate recognition cues in *Formica japonica* (Hymenoptera: Formicidae). *Applied Entomology and Zoology*. 39: 381–387.
- Alphen JJM van & Drijver RAB (1982). Host selection by Asobara tabida Ness (Braconidae: Alysiinae) a larval parasitoid of fruit inhabiting Drosophila species. Host stage selection with Drosophila melanogaster as host. Netherlands Journal of Zoology. 32: 215-231.
- Alphen JJM van & Visser ME (1990). Superparasitism as an adaptive strategy for insect parasitoids. Annual Review of Entomology. 35: 59–79.
- Althoff DM & Thompson JN (2001). Geographic structure in the searching behaviour of a specialist parasitoid: combining molecular and behavioural approaches. Journal of Evolutionary Biology. 14: 406–417.

- Anton C, Settele J & Durka W (2006). Nine polymorphic microsatellite loci for the parasitic wasp *Neotypus melanocephalus* (Hymenoptera: Ichneumonidae). *Molecular Ecology Notes*. 6: 399–402.
- Anton C, Zeisset I, Musche M, Durka W, Boomsma JJ & Settele J (2007). Population structure of a large blue butterfly and its specialist parasitoid in a fragmented landscape. *Molecular Ecology*. 16: 3828–3838.
- Antony J & Kurian C (1960). Studies on the habits and life history of *Perisierola* nephantidis Muesebeck. Indian Coconut Journal. 13: 145-153.
- Arnett AE & Louda SM (2002). Re-test of Rhinocyllus conicus host specificity and the prediction of ecological risk in biological control. *Biological Conservation*. 106: 251–257.
- Arcot SS, Wang Z, Weber JL, Deininger PL & Batzer MA (1995). Alu repeats: a source for the genesis of primate microsatellites. *Genomics*. 29: 136-144.
- Arumugam GK, Somasundaram S, Kassey VB & Ganesan S (2006). Immobilized cell reactors in mineralization of dicarboxylic acid solid waste. *Biodegradation*. 17: 559-570.
- Aruna AS & Manjunath D (2010). Reproductive performance of Nesolynx thymus (Hymenoptera: Eulophidae) as influenced by host (Musca domestica) size. BioControl. 55: 245-252.
- Askew RR & Shaw MR (1986). Parasitoid communities: their size, structure and development. In: Waage J, Greathead D, editors. Insect parasitoids. London: Academic Press. pp: 225–264.
- Asplen MK, Whitfield JB, Boer de JG & Heimpel GE (2009). Ancestral state reconstruction analysis of hymenopteran sex determination mechanisms. Journal of Evolutionary Biology. 22: 1762-1769.
- Aubert JF (1959). Biologie de quelques Ichneumonidae Pimplinae et examen critique de la théorie de Dzierzon. *Entomophaga*. 4: 75-188.
- Avise JC (1994). Molecular markers, natural history and evolution. New York: Chapman and Hall.
- Baaren J van, Landry BL & Boivin G (1999). Sex allocation and larval competition in a superparasitizing solitary egg parasitoid: competing strategies for an optimal sex ratio. Functional Ecology. 13: 66–71.
- Bagnères AG & Wicker-Thomas C (2010). Chemical taxonomy with hydrocarbons. In: Biomquist GJ, Bagnères AG, editors. Insect hydrocarbons: biology, biochemistry and chemical ecology. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. pp: 121–162.
- Bagnères AG, Clèment JL, Blum MS, Severson RF, Joulie C & Lange C (1990). Cuticular hydrocarbons and defensive compounds of *Reticulitermes flavipes* (Kollar) and *R. santonensis* (Feytaud): polymorphism and chemotaxonomy. *Journal of Chemical Ecology*. 16: 3213-3244.

- Baker DA, Loxdale HD & Edwards OR (2003). Genetic variation and founder effects in the parasitoid wasp, *Diaeretiella rapae* (M'intosh) (Hymenoptera: Braconidae: Aphidiidae), affecting its potential as a biological control agent. *Molecular Ecology*. 12: 3303–3311.
- Balas MT, Lee MH & Werren JH (1996). Distribution and fitness effects of the son-killer bacterium in Nasonia. Evolutionary Ecology. 10: 593-607.
- Barbara T, Palma-Silva C, Paggi GM, Bered F, Fay MF & Lexer C (2007). Cross-species transfer of nuclear microsatellite markers: potential and limitations. *Molecular Ecology*. 16: 3759–3767.
- Batchelor TP, Hardy ICW, Barrera JF & Pérez-Lachaud G (2005). Insect gladiators II: competitive interactions within and between bethylid parasitoid species of the coffee berry borer, *Hypothenemus hampei* (Coleoptera: Scolytidae). *Biological Control*. 33: 194-202.
- Batchelor TP, Hardy ICW & Barrera JF (2006). Interactions among bethylid parasitoid species attacking the coffee berry borer, *Hypothenemus hampei* (Coleoptera: Scolytidae). *Biological Control*. 36: 106-118.
- Behura SK (2006). Molecular marker systems in insects: current trends and future avenues. *Molecular Ecology*. 15: 3087–3113.
- Bentley T, Hull TT, Hardy ICW & Goubault M (2009). The elusive paradox: ownerintruder roles, strategies and outcomes in parasitoid contests. Behavioral Ecology. 20: 296-304.
- Benton T, Hartel T & Settele J (2011). Food security: A role for Europe. Nature. 480: 39-39.
- Beukeboom LW, Ellers J & Alphen JJM van (2000). Absence of singlelocus complementary sex determination in the braconid wasps Asobara tabida and Alysia manducator. Heredity. 84: 29–36.
- Beukeboom LW & Zwaan BJ (2005). Genetics. In: Jervis MA, editor. Insects as natural enemies: a practical perspective. Dordrecht: Springer. pp: 167–218.
- Blanckenhorn WU. 1991. Fitness consequences of food-based territoriality in water striders, *Gerris remigis. Animal Behaviour.* 42: 147-49.
- Blomquist GJ & Bagnères AG (2010). Insect hydrocarbons: biology, biochemistry and chemical ecology. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Blomquist GJ, Nelson DR, & De Renobales M (1987). Chemistry, biochemistry, and physiology of insect cuticular lipids. Archives of insect biochemistry and physiology. 6: 227-265.
- Boer de JG, Ode GP, Vet LEM, Whitfield J & Heimpel GE (2007). Diploid males sire triploid daughters and sons in the parasitoid wasp Cotesia vestalis. Heredity. 99: 288–294.

- Bogran CE, Heinz KM & Ciomperlik MA (2002). Interspecific competition among insect parasitoids: field experiments with whiteflies as hosts in cotton. *Ecology*. 83: 653-668.
- Bolker BM, Brooks ME, Clark CJ, Geange SW, Poulsen JR, Stevens MHH & White JS (2008). Generalized linear mixed models: a practical guide for ecology and evolution. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*. 24: 127-135.
- Bond J & Stockman A (2008). An integrative method for delimiting cohesion species: finding the population-species interface in a group of Californian trapdoor spiders with extreme genetic divergence and geographic structuring. Systematic Biology. 57: 628–646.
- Bossert WH & Wilson EO (1963). The analysis of olfactory communication among animals. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*. 5: 443–469.
- Bourdais D & Hance T (2009). Lack of behavioural evidence for kin avoidance in mate choice in a hymenopteran parasitoid (Hymenoptera: Braconidae). Behavioral Processes. 81: 92-94.
- Breeuwer JAJ, Stouthamer R, Barns SM, Pelletier DA, Weisberg WG & Werren JH (1992). Phylogeny of cytoplasmic incompatibility microorganisms in the parasitoid wasp genus Nasonia (Hymenoptera, Pteromalidae) based on 16S ribosomal DNA Sequences. Insect Molecular Biology. 1: 25-36.
- Briffa M & Elwood RW (2000). Cumulative or sequential assessment during hermit crab shell fights: Effects of oxygen on decision rules. *Proceedings of the Royal Society Biological Sciences Series B*. 267: 2445-2452.
- Briffa M & Sneddon LU (2007). Physiological constraints on contest behaviour. Functional Ecology. 21: 627-637.
- Brinkmann B, Klintschar M, Neuhuber F, Huhne J & Rolf B (1998). Mutation rate in human microsatellites: influence of the structure and length of the tandem repeat. American Journal of Human Genetics. 62: 1408–1415.
- Buczkowski G, Vargo EL & Silverman J. 2004. The diminutive supercolony: the Argentine ants of the southeastern United States. *Molecular Ecology*. 13: 2235-2242.
- Buford MW & Wayne RK (1993). Microsatellites and their application to genetics studies. *Current Opinions in Genetics and Development*. 3: 939-943.
- Bull JJ (1983). Evolution of sex determining mechanisms. Menlo Park. California: Benjamin/ Cummings Publishing Company. Inc.
- Bundy JG, Osborn D, Weeks JM, Lindon JC & Nicholson JK (2001). An NMR-based metabonomic approach to the investigation of coelomic fluid biochemistry in earthworms under toxic stress. Federation of European Biochemical Societies Letters. 500: 31-35.
- Bura EA & Gamboa GJ (1994). Kin recognition by social wasps: asymmetric tolerance between aunts and nieces. *Animal Behaviour.* 47: 977–979.

- Buschiazzo E & Gemmel NJ (2006). The rise, fall and renaissance of microsatellites in eukaryotic genomes. *Bioessays*. 28: 1040-1050.
- Butcher RDJ, Whitfield WGF & Hubbard SF (2000a). Single-locus complementary sex determination in *Diadegma chrysostictos* (Gmelin) (Hymenoptera: Ichneumonidae). *Heredity*. 91: 104–111.
- Butcher RDJ, Whitfield WGF & Hubbard SF (2000b). Complementary sex determination in the genus *Diadegma* (Hymenoptera: Ichneumonidae). *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*. 13: 593–606.
- Caltagirone LE & Doutt RL (1989). The history of the vedalia beetle importation to California and its impact on the development of biological control. Annual Review of Entomology. 34: 1-16.
- Carbone SS, Nieto MP & Rivera AC (2008). Egg resorption behaviour by the solitary egg parasitoid Anaphes nitens under natural conditions. Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata. 127: 191–198.
- Carlin NF & Hölldobler B (1986). The kin recognition system of carpenter ants (*Camponotus* spp.) 1. Hierarchical cues in small colonies. *Behavioral Ecology* and Sociobiology, 19: 123-134.
- Carlson DA & Yocom SR (1986). Cuticular hydrocarbons from six species of tephritid fruit flies. Archives of Insect Biochemistry and Physiology. 3: 397-412.
- Carpenter JM (1999). What do we know about chrysidoid (Hymenoptera) relationships? *Zoologica Scripta*. 28: 215 -231.
- Carr M, Young JPW & Mayhew PJ (2010). Phylogeny of bethylid wasps (Hymenoptera: Bethylidae) inferred from 28S and 16S rRNA genes. *Insect Systematics and Evolution.* 41: 55-73.

Carvalho GR (1998). Advances in molecular ecology. Amsterdam: IOS Press.

- Casale A (1991). Some notes on the parental and parasocial behaviour of Sclerodermus domesticus Latreille (Hymenoptera, Bethylidae). Ethology, Ecology & Evolution, special issue. 1:35-38.
- Caterino MS, Cho S & Sperling FAH (2000). The current state of Insect molecular systematics: a thriving tower of Babel. *Annual Review of Entomology*. **45**: 1–54.
- Chakraborty R, Kimmel M, Stivers DN, Davison LJ & Deka R (1997). Relative mutation rates at di-, tri-, and tetranucleotide microsatellite loci. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of USA*. 94: 1041–1046.
- Chamberlin ME & King ME (1998). Changes in midgut active ion transport and metabolism during the fifth instar of the tobacco hornworm (Manduca sexta). Journal of Experimental Zoology. 280: 135–141.

- Chambers GK & MacAvoy ES (2000). Microsatellites: consensus and controversy. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part B. 126: 455-476.
- Chandrika M & Shameer KS (2003). Galleria mellonella L. (Lepidoptera: Galleridae) as a new host for Goniozus nephantidis Mues. (Hymenoptera: Bethylidae). Entomon. 28: 169-172.
- Chapuis MP, Loiseau A, Michalakis Y, Lecoq M & Estoup A (2005). Characterization and PCR multiplexing of polymorphic microsatellite loci for the locust *Locusta* migratoria. Molecular Ecoogyl Notes. 5: 554–557.
- Charnov EL (1982). The theory of sex allocation. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Charnov EL, Los-Den Hartogh RL, Jones WT & Den Assem J van (1981). Sex ratio evolution in a variable environment. *Nature*. 289: 27–33.
- Charnov EL & Skinner SW (1984). Evolution of host selection and clutch size in parasitoid wasps. *Florida Entomologist*. 67: 5-21.
- Charnov EL & Skinner SW (1985). Complementary approaches to the understanding of parasitoid oviposition decisions. *Environmental Entomology*. 14: 383–391.
- Cheng RX, Ling M & Li BP (2010). Effects of aposymbiotic and symbiotic aphids on parasitoid progeny development and adult oviposition behaviour within aphid instars. *Environmental Entomology*. 39: 389-395.
- Choe JC & Crespi BJ (1997). The evolution of social behavior in insects and arachnids. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge.
- Clausen CP (1940). Entomophagous insects. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Clausen CP, King JL & Teranishi C (1927). The parasites of *Popillia japonica* in Japan and Chosen (Korea) and their introduction into the United States. U.S. Department of Agriculture. Washington. DC.
- Cleary DFR & Ginkel W van (2004). Effects of host species and size on brood size and larval mortality of the parasitoid Ageniaspis fuscicollis (Dalman) (Hymenoptera, Encyrtidae). Environmental Entomology. 33: 528-534.
- Clutton-Brock TH, Albon S D, Gibson RM & Guinnes FE (1979). The logical stag adaptive aspects of fighting in red deer (*Cervus elaphus* L.). Animal Behaviour. 27: 211-225.
- Colazza S, Aquila G, De Pasquale C, Peri E & Millar J (2007). The egg parasitoid Trissolcus basalis uses n-nonadecane, a cuticular hydrocarbon from its stink bug host Nezara viridula, to discriminate between female and male hosts. Journal of Chemical Ecology. 33: 1405-1420.
- Cole LR (1981). A visible sign of a fertilization act during oviposition by an ichneumonid wasp, *Itoplectis maculator*. *Animal Behaviour*. 29: 299-300.
- Cook JM (1993a). Sex determination in the Hymenoptera: a review of models and evidence. *Heredity*. 71: 421-435.

- Cook JM (1993b). Experimental test of sex determination in *Goniozus nephantidis*. *Heredity*. 71: 130-137.
- Cook JM (2002). Sex determination in invertebrates. In Hardy ICW, editor. Sex ratios: concepts and research methods. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. pp: 178-194.
- Cook JM (2005). Alternative mating tactics and fatal fighting in male fig wasps. In: Fellowes M, Holloway G, Rolff J, editors. Insect evolutionary ecology. Wallingford: CABI. pp: 83-110.
- Cook JM & Crozier RH (1995). Sex determination and population biology in the Hymenoptera. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*. 10: 281–286.
- Cock MJ & Perera PACR (1987). Biological control of *Opisina arenosella* (Lepidoptera: Oecophoridae). *Biocontrol News and Information*. 8: 283–310.
- Crawley JM (1993). GLIM for ecologists. Oxford: Blackwell Scientific Publishing.
- Crozier RH (1977). Evolutionary genetics of the Hymenoptera. Annual Review of Entomology. 221: 263-288.
- Dalecky A, Renucci M, Tirard A, Debout G, Roux M, Kjellberg F & Provost E (2007). Changes in composition of cuticular biochemicals of the facultatively polygynous ant *Petalomyrmex phylax* during range expansion in Cameroon with respect to social, spatial and genetic variation. *Molecular Ecology*. 16: 3778-3791.
- Dallerac R, Labeur C, Jallon JM, Knipple DC, Roelofs WL & Wicker-Thomas C (2000). A delta 9 desaturase gene with a different substrate specificity is responsible for the cuticular diene hydrocarbon polymorphism in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of USA*. 97: 9449-9454.
- Dani FR, Jones GR, Destri S, Spencer SH & Turillazzi S (2001). Deciphering the recognition signature within the cuticular chemical profile of paper wasps. *Animal Behaviour*. 62: 165-171.
- Dapporto L, Liebert AE, Starks PT & Turillazzi S (2009). The relationships between cuticular hydrocarbon composition, faunal assemblages, inter-island distance, and population genetic variation in Tuscan archipelago wasps. Biochemical Systematics and Ecology. 37: 341-348.
- Darrouzet E, Lebreton S, Gouix N, Wipf A & Bagnères AG (2010). Parasitoids modify their oviposition behavior according to the sexual origin of conspecific cuticular hydrocarbon traces. Journal of Chemical Ecology. 36: 513-521.
- David WAL (1967). The physiology of the insect integument in relation to the invasion of pathogens. In: Beament JWL, Treherne JE, editors. Insects and physiology. London: Oliver and Boyd. pp: 17-35.
- Davidson SM & Wilkinson GS (2004). Function of male song in the greater white-lined bat, Saccopteryx bilineata. Animal Behaviour. 67: 883-891.

Dawkins R (1976). The selfish gene. NewYork: Oxford University Press.

- Debach P & Rosen D (1991). Biological control by natural enemies. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Dedeine F, Vavre F, Fleury F, Loppin B, Hochberg ME & Boulétreau M (2001). Removing symbiotic Wolbachia bacteria specifically inhibits oogenesis in a parasitic wasp. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of USA. 98: 6247-6252.
- Denis D, Blatrix R & Fresneau D (2006). How an ant manages to display individual and colonial signals by using the same channel. *Journal of Chemical Ecology*. 32: 1647–1661.
- Denoth M, Frid L & Myers JH (2002). Multiple agents in biological control: improving the odds? *Biological control*. 24: 20–30.
- Dettner K & Liepert C (1994). Chemical mimicry and camouflage. Annual Review of Entomology. 39: 129-154.
- Dharmaraju E (1962). A checklist of parasites, hyperparasites and pathogen of the coconut leaf caterpillar, *Nephantis serinopa* Meyrick recorded in Ceylon and in India and their distribution in these countries. *Ceylon Coconut Quarterly*. 13: 3-4.
- Dharmaraju E (1963). Biological control of coconut leaf caterpillar (Nephantis serinopa Meyrick) in Ceylon. Bulletin of the Coconut Research Institute Ceylon. 21: 1-46.
- Dharmaraju E & Pradhan S (1977). Factors affecting the realization of the biotic potential in *Perisierola nephantidis* Musebeck and *Trichospilus puplvora* Ferrière, parasites of the coconut leaf caterpillar (*Nephantis serinopa* Meyrick). *Indian Journal of Entomology.* 38: 370–376.
- Diehl SR & Bush GL (1984). An evolutionary and applied perspective of Insect biotypes. Annual Review of Entomology. 29: 471–483.
- Dijken MJ van (1991). A cytological method to determine primary sex ratio in the solitary parasitoid *Epidinocarsis* lopezi. Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata. 60: 301-304.
- Dijken MJ van, Stratum P van & Alphen JJM van (1993). Superparasitism and sex ratio in the solitary parasitoid *Epidinocarsis lopezi*. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata*. 68: 51-58.
- Dijken MJ van & Waage JK (1987). Seif and conspecific superparasitism by the egg parasitoid *Trichogramma evanescens*. Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata. 43: 183–192.
- Dijkstra ⊔ (1986). Optimal selection and exploitation of hosts in the parasitic wasp Colpoclypeus florus (Hym.: Eulophidae). Netherlands Journal of Zoology. 36: 177-301.
- Dorsten FA van, Daykin CA, Mulder TPJ & Duynhoven JPM van (2006). Metabonomics approach to determine metabolic differences between green tea and black tea consumption. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry. 54: 6929–6938.

- Douhovnikoff V, Nerney C, Roderick GK, Newton CH & Welter SC (2006). Isolation of nine microsatellite loci in *Dolichogenidea homoeosomae* (Hymenoptera) a parasitoid of the sunflower moth *Homoeosoma electellum* (Lepidoptera). *Molecular Ecology Notes*. 6: 96–97.
- Doutt RL (1947). Polyembryony in *Copidosoma koehleri* Blanchard. *American Naturalist*. 81: 435–453.
- Doutt RL (1973). Maternal care of immature progeny by parasitoids. Annals of the Entomological Society of America. 66: 486-487.
- Downs S G & Ratnieks FLW (1999). Recognition of conspecific by honey bee guards uses non heritable cues acquired in the adult stage. *Animal Behaviour*. 58: 643-648.
- Dowton M & Austin AD (1994). Molecular phylogeny of the insect order Hymenoptera: apocritan relationships. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of* USA. 91: 9911–9915.
- Drescher J, Büthgen N, Schmitt T, Bühler J & Feldhaar H (2010). Societies drifting apart? behavioural, genetic and chemical differentiation between supercolonies in the yellow crazy ant *Anoplolepis gracilipes*. *PLoS One*. 5: 10.
- Driessen G & Hemerik L (1992). Aggregative responses of parasitoids and parasitism in populations of *Drosophila* breeding in fungi. *Oikos*. 61: 96–107.
- Dronnet S, Lohou C, Christidès JP & Bagnères AG (2006). Cuticular hydrocarbon composition reflects genetic relationship among colonies of the introduced termite *Reticulitermes santonensis* Feytaud. *Chemical Ecology*. 32:1027–1042.
- Drost YC & Cardé RT (1992). Influence of host deprivation on egg load and oviposition behaviour of *Brachymeria Intermedia*, a parasitoid of gypsy moth. *Physiological Entomology*. 17: 230-234.
- Edney EB (1977). Water balance in hand Arthropods. Berlin: Spring -Verlag.
- Eilenberg J, Hajek A & Lomer C (2001). Suggestion for unifying the terminology in biological control. *Biocontrol*. 46: 387-400.
- El Agoze M, Drezen JM, Renault S &. Périquet G (1994). Analysis of the reproductive potential of diploid males in the wasp *Diadromus pulchellus* (Hymenoptera: Ichneumonidae). *Bulletin of Entomological Research*. 84: 213-218.
- Elias J, Dorn S & Mazzi D (2010). No evidence for increased extinction proneness with decreasing effective population size in a parasitoid with complementary sex determination and fertile diploid males. *BMC Evolutionary Biology*. 10: 366.
- EL-Showk S, Zweden JS van, d'Ettorre P & Sundström L (2010). Are you my mother ? Kin recognition in the ant *Formica fusca*. Journal of Evolutionary Biology. 23:397-406.
- Ellegren H (2004). Microsatellites: Simple sequences with complex evolution. *Nature Reviews Genetics.* 5: 435-445.

- Ellers J & Jervis M (2004). Why are so few parasitoid wasps pro-ovigenic? *Evolutionary Ecology Research*. 6: 993–1002.
- Ellers J, Sevenster JG & Driessen G (2000). Egg load evolution in parasitoids. American Naturalist. 156: 650-665.
- Ellers J, Alphen JJM van & Sevenster JG (1998). A field study of size-fitness relationships in the parasitoid *Asobara tabida*. *Animal Ecology*. 67: 318–324.
- Enigl M & Schausberger P (2004). Mate choice in the predaceous mite *Phytoseiulus persimilis*: evidence of self-referent phenotype matching? *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata*. 112: 21–28.
- Engelstädter J & Hurst GDD (2007). The impact of male-killing bacteria on host evolutionary processes. *Genetics*. 175: 245–254.
- Englund G. & Olsson TI (1990). Fighting and assessment in the net-spinning caddis larva Arctopsyche ladogensis: a test of the sequential assessment game. Animal Behaviour. 39: 55-62.
- Enquist M & Jakobsson S (1986). Decision making and assessment in the fighting behavior of *Nannacara anomala* (Cichlidae, Pisces). *Ethology*. 72: 143–153.
- Enquist M & Leimar O (1987). Evolution of fighting behaviour: the effect of variation in resource value. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*. 127: 187–205.
- Enquist M & Leimer O (1990). The evolution of fatal fighting. Animal Behaviour. 39: 1-9.
- Enquist M & Leimar O (1983). Evolution of fighting behaviour: decision rules and assessment of relative strength. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*. 102: 387-410.
- Enquist M, Leimar O, Ljungberg T, Mallner Y & Segerdahl N (1990). A test of the sequential assessment game: fighting in the cichlid fish Nannacara anomala. Animal Behaviour. 40: 1–14.
- Espinosa JC, Infante F, Castillo A, Pérez J, Nieto G, Pinson EP & Vega FE (2009). The biology of *Phymastichus coffea* LaSalle (Hymenoptera: Eulophidae) under field conditions. *Biological Control*. 49: 227-233.
- Evans HE (1964). A synopsis of the American Bethylidae (Hymenoptera: Aculeata). Bulletin of the Museum of Comparative Zoology. 132: 1-122.
- Evans HE (1978). The Bethylidae of America north of Mexico. *Memoirs of the American* Entomological Institute. 27: 1-332.
- Everitt BS & Dunn G (1991). Applied multivariate data analysis. London: Edward Arnold.
- Fand BB, Gautam RD & Suroshe SS (2011). Suitability of various stages of mealybug, Phenacoccus solenopsis (Homoptera: Pseudococcidae) for development and survival of the solitary endoparasitoids, Aenasius bambawalei (Hymenoptera: Encrytidae). Biocontrol Science and Technology. 21:51-55.

- Ferguson KI & Stiling P (1996). Non-additive effects of multiple natural enemies on aphid populations. *Oecologia*. 108: 375–379.
- Fiala KL (1980). On estimating the primary sex ratio from incomplete data. American Naturalist. 115: 442-444.
- Field SA & Calbert G (1999). Don't count your eggs before they're parasitized: contest resolution and the trade-offs during patch defence in a parasitoid wasp. *Behavioral Ecology*. 10: 122-127.
- Fisher RA (1930). The genetical theory of natural selection. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Flanders SE (1965). On the sexuality and sex ratios of hymenopterous populations. American Naturalist. 99: 489-494.
- Florane CB, Bland JM, Husseneder, C & Raina AK (2004). Diet-mediated inter-colonial aggression in the formosan subterranean termite *Coptotermes formosanus*. *Journal of Chemical Ecology*. 30: 2559-2574.
- Folch J, Lees M & Sloane-Stanley GH (1957). A simple method for the isolation and purification of total lipids from animal tissues. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 226: 497-509.
- Follett PA & Duan JJ (2000). Nontarget effects of biological control. Boston. Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Frank JH (1998). How risky is biological control? Comment. Ecology. 79: 1829-1834.
- Frank SA (1998). Foundations of Social Evolution. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Fukuda E, Yoshida M, Baba M, Uesawa Y, Suzuki R, Kamo O, Tsubono K, Arifuku K, Yatsunami K & Okada Y (2011). Application to classification of mulberry leaves using multivariate analysis of proton NMR metabolomic data. *Natural Product Communications*. 6: 1621-1625.
- Gadagkar R (1985). Kin recognition in social insects and other animals. A review of recent finding and consideration of their relevance for the theory of kin selection. *Proceedings of the Indian Academy of Sciences (Animal Science)*. 94: 587-621.
- Gamboa GJ (2004). Kin recognition in eusocial wasps. Annales Zoologici Fennici. 41: 789-808.
- Gamboa GJ, Grudzien TA, Espelie KE & Bura EA (1996). Kin recognition pheromones in socialwasps: combining chemical and behavioural evidence. Animal Behaviour. 51: 625-629.
- Gamboa GJ, Reeve HK & Pfennig DW (1986a). The evolution and ontogeny of nestmate recognition in social wasps. Annual Review of Entomology. 31: 431-454.

Gamboa GJ, Reeve HK, Ferguson ID & Wacker TL (1986b). Nestmate recognition in

social wasps: the origin and acquisition of recognition odours. Animal Behaviour. 34: 685–695.

- Gammell MP & Hardy ICW (2003). Contest duration: sizing up the opposition? *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*. 18: 491–493.
- Gardner A & West SA (2007). Social evolution: the decline and fall of genetic kin recognition. *Current Biology*. 17: R810-R812.

Gardner A & West SA (2010). Greenbeards. Evolution. 64: 25-38.

- Garenaux E, Maes E, Levêque S, Brassart C & Guerardel Y (2011). Structural characterization of complex O-linked glycans from insect-derived material. *Carbohydrate Research*. 346: 1093–1104.
- Garland T & Kelly SA (2006). Phenotypic plasticity and experimental evolution. Journal of Experimental Biology. 209: 2344–2361.

Garrett R & Grisham C (1999). Biochemistry. Orlando: Saunders.

- Garrido S, Cichón L, Fernádez D, Azevedo C (2005). Primera cita de la especie Goniozus legneri (Hymenoptera: Bethylidae) en el Alto Valle de Río Negro, Patagonia Argentina. Revista del la Societad de Entomología de Argentina. 64: 14-16.
- Gartland KP, Beddell CR, Lindon JC & Nicholson JK (1991). Application of pattern recognition methods to the analysis and classification of toxicological data derived from proton nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy of urine. *Molecular Pharmacology*. 39: 629–642.
- Gaud WS (1968). "The Green Revolution: Accomplishments and Apprehensions". AgBioWorld.
- Gauld I & Bolton B (1988). The Hymenoptera. London, Oxford: British Museum (Natural History) and Oxford University Press.
- Geladi P & Kowalski BR (1986). Partial least squares regression-a tutorial. Analytica Chimica Acta. 185: 1-17.
- Gibb JOT, Holmes E, Nicholson JK & Weeks JM (1997). Proton NMR spectroscopic studies on tissue extracts of invertebrate species with pollution indicator potential. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology B-Biochemistry & Molecular Biology*, 118: 587-598.
- Gindin G, Levski S, Glazer I & Soroker V (2006). Evaluation of the entomopathogenic fungi *Metarhizium anisopliae* and *Beauveria bassiana* against the red palm weevil *Rhynchophorus ferrugineus*. *Phytoparasitica*. 34: 370-379.
- Giraud T, Pedersen JS & Keller L (2002). Evolution of supercolonies: the Argentine ants of southern Europe. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 99: 6075–6079.
- Giron D ,Dunn D, Hardy ICW & Strand MR (2004). Aggression by polyembryonic wasp soldiers correlates with kinship but not resource competition. Nature. 430:

676-679.

- Giron D & Strand MR (2004). Host Resistance and the Evolution of Kin Recognition in Polyembryonic Wasps. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B*. 271: 395-398.
- Giron D, Harvey JA, Johnson JA & Strand MR (2007). Male soldier caste larvae are non-aggressive in the polyembryonic wasp *Copidosoma floridanum*. *Biology letters*.3: 431-434.
- Godfray HCJ (1987). The evolution of clutch size in parasitic wasps. American Naturalist. 129: 221-233.
- Godfray HCJ. 1994. Parasitoids: behavioral and evolutionary ecology. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Godfray HCJ, Partridge L & Harvey PH (1991). Clutch size. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics. 22: 409–429.
- Goodisman MA, Matthews RW & Crozier RH (2001). Hierarchical genetic structure of the introduced wasp Vespula germanica in Australia. Molecular Ecology. 10: 1423-1432.
- Gordh G (1981). The phenomenom of insect hyperparasitism and its occurrence in the Insecta. In: Rosen D, editor. The role of Hyperparasitism in Biological Control: A symposium. Berkeley California: Division of Agricultural Science: University California publications. pp: 10-18.
- Gordh G (1982). A new species of *Goniozus* (Hymenoptera: Bethylidae) imported into California for the biological control of the navel orangeworm (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae). *Entomological News*. 93: 136-138.
- Gordh G & Evans HE (1976). A new species of Goniozus Imported into California from Ethiopia for the biological control of pink bollworm and some notes on the taxonomic status of *Parasierola* and *Goniozus* (Hymenoptera: Bethylidae). Proceedings of the Entomological Society of Washington. 78: 479-89.
- Gordh G & Hawkins B (1981). Goniozus emigratus (Rowher), a primary external parasite of Paramyelois transitella (Walker), and comments on bethylids attacking Lepidoptera (Hymenoptera: Bethylidae; Lepidoptera: Pyralidae). Journal of the Kansas Entomological Society. 54: 787-803.
- Gordh G, Legner EF & Caltagirone LE (1999). Biology of parasitic Hymenoptera. In: Bellows TS, Fisher TW, editors. Handbook of biological control. San Diego. California: Academic Press. pp: 355-381.
- Gordh G & Móczár L (1990). A catalog of the world Bethylidae. Memoirs of the American Entomological Institute no. 46. Gainsville: American Institute of Entomology.
- Gordh G, Woolley JB & Medeved RA (1983). Biological studies on Goniozus legneri Gordh (Hymenoptera: Bethylidae), primary external parasite of the navel orangeworm Amyelois transitella and pink bollworm Pectinophora gossypiella

(Lepidoptera: Pyralidae, Gelechiidae). Contributions of the American Entomological Institute. 20: 433-468.

- Gothilf S & Mazor M (1987). Release and recovery of imported parasites of the carob moth, Spectorbates ceratonia (Lepidoptera:Pyralidae) in Israel. Israel Journal of Entomology. 21: 19-23.
- Goubault M, Batchelor TP, Linforth RST, Taylor AJ & Hardy ICW (2006). Volatile emission by contest losers revealed by real-time chemical analysis. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B. 273: 2853-2859.
- Goubault M, Batchelor TP, Romani R, Linforth RST, Fritzsche M, Francke W & Hardy ICW (2008). Volatile chemical release by bethylid wasps: identity, phylogeny, anatomy and behaviour. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society*. 94: 837-852.
- Goubault M, Mack AFS & Hardy ICW (2007a). Encountering competitors reduces clutch size and increases offspring size in a parasitoid with female-female fighting. Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences. 274: 2571-2577.
- Goubault M, Scott D & Hardy ICW (2007b). The importance of offspring value: maternal defence in parasitoid contests. *Animal Behaviour*. 74: 437–446.
- Grafen A (1984). Natural selection, kin selection and group selection. In: Krebs JR, Davies NB, editors. Behavioural ecology, 2nd edn. Oxford: Oxford Blackwell Scientific Publications. pp: 62–84.
- Grafen A (1987). The logic of divisively asymmetric contests— respect of ownership and the desperado effect. *Animal Behaviour*. 35: 462–467.
- Greathead DJ (1986). Parasitoids in classical biological control. In: Waage J, Greathead D, editors. Insect parasitoids. 13th Symposium of Royal Entomological Society of London. London: London Academic Press. pp: 289-318.
- Greene MJ & Gordon DM (2007). Structural complexity of chemical recognition cues affects the perception of group membership in the ants Linepithema humile and Aphaenogaster cockerelli. Journal of Experimental Biology. 210: 897-905.
- Green RF, Gordh G & Hawkins BA (1982). Precise sex ratios in highly inbred parasitic wasps. American Naturalist. 120: 653–665.
- Gregory PJ & George TS (2011). Feeding nine billion: the challenge to sustainable crop production. *Journal of Experimental Botany*. 62: 5233-5239.
- Griffin AS & West SA (2002). Kin selection: fact and fiction. Trends in Ecology & Evolution. 17: 15–21.
- Griffin JL (2003). Metabonomics: NMR spectroscopy and pattern recognition analysis of body fluids and tissues for characterisation of xenobiotic toxicity and disease diagnosis. *Current Opinion in Chemical Biology*. 7: 648-654.
- Griffiths NT & Godfray HCJ (1988). Local mate competition, sex ratio and clutch size in bethylid wasps. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology*. 22: 211-217.

- Grill CP, Moore AJ & Brodie ED (1997). The genetics of phenotypic plasticity in a colonizing population of the ladybird beetle, *Harmonia axyridis*. *Heredity*. **78**: 261–269.
- Grillenberger BK, Koevoets T, Burton-Chellew MN, Sykes EM, Shuker DM & De Zande L (2008). Genetic structure of natural Nasonia vitripennis populations: validating assumptions of sex-ratio theory. Molecular Ecology. 17: 2854–2864.
- Grillet M, Dartevelle L & Ferveur JF (2006). A Drosophila male pheromone affects female sexual receptivity. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B. 273: 315–323.
- Groenenboom MAC & Hogeweg P (2002). Space and the persistence of male-killing endosymbionts in insect populations. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B.* 269: 2509–2518.
- Guerra AA, Robacker KM & Martinez S (1993). Free amino acid and protein titers in Anthonomus grandis larvae venomized by Bracon mellitor. Entomophaga. 38: 519-525.
- Guerrieri FJ, Nehring V, Jørgensen CG, Nielsen J, Galizia CG & d'Ettorre P (2009). Ants recognize foes and not friends. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences*. 276: 2461–2468.
- Hack MA, Thompson JD & Fernandes DM (1997). Fighting in males of the autumn spider, *Metellina segmentata*: the elects of relative body size, prior residency and female value on contest outcomeand duration. *Ethology*. 103: 488-498.
- Häckermann J, Rott AS & Dorn S (2007). How two different host species influence the performance of a gregarious parasitoid: host size is not equal to host quality. Journal of Animal Ecology. 76: 376-383.
- Hadley NF (1981). Cuticular lipids of terrestrial plants and arthropods: A comparison of their structure, composition and waterproofing function. *Biological Reviews*. 56: 23-47.
- Hadley NF (1984). Cuticle: ecological significance. In: Bereiter-Hahn J, Matoltsy AG, Richards KS, editors. Biology of the integument. Berlin: Springer-Verlag. pp: 685-702.
- Hajek A (2004). Natural enemies an introduction to biological control. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Hamilton WD (1963). The evolution of altruistic behavior. *The American Naturalist.* 97: 354-356.

Hamilton WD (1967). Extraordinary sex ratios. Science. 156: 477-488.

- Hamilton WD (1964a). The genetic evolution of social behaviour. II. Journal of Theoretical Biology. 7: 17-52.
- Hamilton WD (1964b). The genetic evolution of social behaviour. I. Journal of Theoretical Biology. 7: 1-16.

- Hamilton WD (1979). Wingless and fighting males in fig wasps and other insects. In: Blum MS, Blum NA, editors. Sexual selection and reproductive competition in insects. New York: Academic Press. pp: 167–220.
- Hammerstein P (1981). The role of asymmetries in animal contests. *Animal Behaviour*. 29: 193–205.
- Hancock JM (1999). Microsatellites and other simple sequences:genomic context and mutational mechanisms. In: Goldstein DB, Schlotterer C, editors. Microsatellites evolution and applications. Oxford; Oxford University Press. pp: 1-9.
- Hancock JM & Simon M (2005). Simple sequence repeats in proteins and their significance for network evolution. *Genetics*. 345: 113-118.
- Hansen BM & Salamitou S (2000). Virulence of *Bacillus thuringiensis* In: Charles JF, Delécluse A, Nielsen-Le RC, editors. Entomopathogenic bacteria: from laboratory to field application. Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Publishers. pp: 41-64.
- Hardy ICW (1992). Non-binomial sex allocation and brood sex ratio variances in the parasitoid Hymenoptera. *Oikos.* 65: 143–158.
- Hardy ICW (1994). Sex ratio and mating structure in the parasitoid Hymenoptera. *Oikos*. 69: 3-20.
- Hardy ICW (2002). Sex ratios: concepts and research methods. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Hardy ICW & Blackburn TM (1991). Brood guarding in a bethylid wasp. *Ecological Entomology*. 16: 55-62.
- Hardy ICW & Cook JM (1995). Brood sex ratio variance, developmental mortality and virginity in gregarious parasitoid wasp. *Oecologia*. 103: 162–169.
- Hardy ICW, Dijkstra LJ, Gillis JEM & Luft PA (1998). Patterns of sex ratio, virginity and developmental mortality in gregarious parasitoids. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society*. 64: 239-270.
- Hardy ICW & Field SA (1998). Logistic analysis of animal contests. Animal Behaviour. 56: 787-792.
- Hardy ICW & Goubault M (2007). Wasp fights: understanding and utilizing agonistic bethylid behaviour. *Biocontrol News and Information*. 28: 11-15
- Hardy ICW, Griffiths NT & Godfray HCJ (1992). Clutch size in a parasitoid wasp: a manipulation experiment. *Journal of Animal Ecology*. 61: 121-129.
- Hardy ICW & Mayhew PJ (1998). Sex ratio, sexual dimorphism and mating structure in bethylid wasps. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology*. 42: 383-395.
- Hardy ICW, Pedersen JB, Sejr MK & Linderoth UH (1999). Local mating, dispersal and sex ratio in a gregarious parasitoid wasp. *Ethology*. 105: 57-72.

- Hardy ICW, Stokkebo S, Bønløkke-Pedersen J & Sejr MK (2000). Insemination capacity and dispersal in relation to sex allocation decisions in Goniozus legneri (Hymenoptera: Bethylidae): why are there more males in larger broods? Ethology. 106: 1021-1032.
- Harker M, Coulson H, Fairweather I, Taylor D & Daykin CA (2006). Study of metabolite composition of eccrine sweat from healthy male and female human subjects by ¹H NMR spectroscopy. *Metabolomics*. 2: 105-112.
- Harvey JA, Harvey IF & Thompson DJ (1994). Flexible larval growth allows use of a range of host sizes by a parasitoid wasp. *Ecology*. **75**: 1420-1428.
- Harvey JA, Harvey IF & Thompson DJ (1995). The effect of host nutrition on growth and development of the parasitoid wasp *Venturia canescens*. Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata. 75: 213-220.
- Harvey JA, Wagenaar R & Bezemer TM (2009). Interactions to the fifth trophic level: secondary and tertiary parasitoid wasps show extraordinary efficiency in utilizing host resources. *Journal of Animal Ecology*. 78: 686–692.
- Haverty MI, Nelson LJ & Page M (1990). Cuticular hydrocarbons of four populations of Coptotermes formosanus Shiraki (Isoptera, Rhinotermitidae) in the United States- Similarities and origins of introductions. Journal of Chemical Ecology. 16: 1635-1647.
- Hawkins BA & Gordh G (1986). Bibliography of the world literature of the Bethylidae (Hymenoptera: Bethyloidea). *Insecta Mundi*. 1: 261-283.
- He XZ & Wang Q (2006). Host age preference in *Aphidius ervi* (Hymenoptera: Aphididae). New Zealand Plant Protection. 59: 195-201.
- Hegazi E & Khafagi W (2008). The effect of host age and superparasitism by the parasitoid, *Microplitis rufiventris* on the cellular and humoral immune response of *Spodoptera littoralis* larvae. *Journal of Invertebrate Pathology*. 98: 79-84.
- Heimpel GE (1994). Virginity and the cost of insurance in highly inbred Hymenoptera. Ecological Entomology. 19: 299–302.
- Heimpel GE & Boer de JG (2008). Sex determination in the Hymenoptera. Annual Review of Entomology. 53: 209-230.
- Heinstra PWH, Seykens D, Freriksen A & Geer BW (1990). Metabolic physiology of alcohol degradation and adaptation in *Drosophila* larvae as studied by means of carbon-13 nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy. *Insect Biochemistry*. 20: 343-348.
- Helanterä H, Lee YR, Drijfhout FP & Martin SJ (2011). Genetic diversity, colony chemical phenotype and nestmate recognition in the ant *Formica fusca*. *Behavioral Ecology*. 22: 710-716.
- Hendricks LC (1995). Almond growers reduce pesticide use in Merced field trial. *California Agriculture*, 49: 5-10.

- Henneman ML & Memmott J (2001). Infiltration of a Hawaiian community by introduced biological control agents. *Science*. 293: 1314–1316.
- Henry LM, May N, Acheampong S, Gillespie DR & Roitberg BD (2010). Host-adapted parasitoids in biological control: does source matter? *Ecological Applications*. 20: 242-250.
- Henter HJ (2003). Inbreeding depression and haplodiploidy: experimental measures in a parasitoid and comparisons across diploid and haplodiploid insect taxa. *Evolution*. 57: 1793–1803.
- Hepper PG (1986). Kin recognition : functions and mechanisms. A review. *Biological Review*. 61: 63-93.
- Hepper PG (1991). Recognizing kin: ontogeny and classification. In: Hepper PG, editor. Kin recognition. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. pp: 259-288.
- Hillerton JE, Reynolds SE & Vincent JFV (1982). On the indentation hardness of insect cuticle. *Journal of Experimental Biology*. 96: 45–52.
- Hochberg ME (1991). Intra-host interactions between a braconid endoparasitoid, Apanteles glomeratus, and a baculovirus for larvae of *Pieris brassicae*. Journal of Animal Ecology. 60:51-63.
- Hochberg ME & Ives AR (2000). Parasitoid population biology. Princeton: Princeton university Press.
- Hoffman AA & Turelli M (1997). Cytoplasic incompatibility in insects. In: O'Neill SL, Hoffman AA, Werren JH, editors. Influential passengers. New York: Oxford University Press. pp: 42–80.
- Hofstetter RW & Raffa KF (1998). Endogenous and exogenous factors affecting parasitism of gypsy moth egg masses by *Ooencyrtus kuvanae*. Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata. 88: 123-135.
- Hölldobler B (1999). Multimodal signals in ant communication. *Journal of Comparative Physiology A*. 184: 129–141.
- Hölldobler B & Michener CD (1980). Mechanisms of identification and discrimination in social Hymenoptera. In: Markl H, editor. Evolution of social behavior: hypotheses and empirical tests. Germany, Verlag Chemie: Weinheim and Deerfield. pp: 35-58.
- Holmes E, Nicholls AW, Lindon JC, Connor SC, Connelly JC, Haselden JN, Damment SJ, Spraul M, Neidig P & Nicholson JK (2000). Chemometric models for toxicity classification based on NMR spectra of biofluids. Chemical Research in Toxicology. 13: 471-478.
- Holmes E, Nicholson JK, Nicholis AW, Lindon JC, Connor SC, Polley S & Connelly J (1998). The identification of novel biomarkers of renal toxicity using automatic data reduction techniques and PCA of proton NMR spectra of urine. *Chemometrics and Intelligent Laboratory Systems Chemom.* 44: 245-255.

Holmes WG & Sherman PW (1982). The ontogeny of kin recognition in two species of

ground squirrels. American Zoologist. 22: 491-517.

- Holmes WG (2004). The early history of Hamiltonian based research on kin recognition. *Annales Zoologici Fennici*. 41: 691–711.
- Hopper KR, Roush RT & Powell W (1993). Management of genetics of biological control introductions. . Annual Review of Entomology. 38: 27–51.
- Hori Y, Demura M, Iwadate M, Ulrich AS, Niidome T, Aoyagi H & Asakura T (2001). Interaction of mastoparan with membranes studied by 1H-NMR spectroscopy in detergent micelles and by solid-state 2H-NMR and 15N-NMR spectroscopy in oriented lipid bilayers. *European Journal of Biochemistry*. 268: 302-309.
- Howard RW (1992). Comparative analysis of cuticular hydrocarbons from the ectoparasitoids Cephalonomia waterstoni and Laelius utilis (Hymenoptera: Bethylidae) and their respective hosts, *Cryptolestes ferrigineus* (Coleoptera: Cucujidae) and *Trogoderma variabile* (Coleoptera: Dermestidae). *Annals of the Entomological Society of America*. 85:317-325.
- Howard RW (1993). Cuticular hydrocarbons and chemical communication. In: Stanley-Samuelson DW, Nelson DR, editors. Insect lipids: chemistry, biochemistry and biology. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. pp: 179–226.
- Howard RW (1998). Ontogenetic, reproductive, and nutritional effects on the cuticular hydrocarbons of the host-specific ectoparasitoid *Cephalonomia tarsalis* (Hymenoptera: Bethylidae). *Annals of the Entomological Society of America*. 91: 101-112.
- Howard RW & Baker JE (2003). Cuticular hydrocarbons and wax esters of the ectoparasitoid Habrobracon hebetor: ontogenetic, reproductive, and nutritional effects. Archives of Insect Biochemistry and Physiology. 53: 1–18.
- Howard RW & Blomquist GJ (2005). Ecological, behavioral, and biochemical aspects of insect hydrocarbons. *Annual Review of Entomology*. 50: 371-393.
- Howard RW, Howard CD & Colquhoun S (1995). Ontogeneticand environmentally induced changes in cuticular hydrocarbonsof Oryzaephilus surinamensis (Coleoptera: Cucujidae). Annals of the Entomological Society of America. 88: 485-495.
- Howard RW & Infante F (1996). Cuticular hydrocarbons of the host-specific ectoparasitoid Cephalonomia stephanoderis (Hymenoptera: Bethylldae) and its host the coffee berry borer (Coleoptera: Scolytidae). Annals of the Entomological Society of America. 89: 700-709.
- Howard RW, McDaniel CA & Blomquist GJ (1978). Cuticular hydrocarbons of the eastern subterranean termite, *Reticulitermes flavipes* (Kollar). Journal of Chemical Ecology. 4: 233–245.
- Howard RW, McDaniel CA & Blomquist GJ (1980). Chemical mimicry as an integrating mech anism: Cuticular hydrocarbons of a termitophile and its host. Science. 210:431-433.

- Howard RW, Pérez-Lachaud G, Lachaud JP (2001). Cuticular hydrocarbons of Kapala sulcifacies (Hymenoptera: Eucharitidae) and its host, the ponerine ant Ectatomma ruidum (Hymenoptera: Formicidae). Annals of the Entomological Society of America. 94: 707-716.
- Howard RW & Pérez-Lachaud G (2002). Cuticular hydrocarbons of the ectoparasitic wasp *Cephalonomia hyalinipennis* (Hymenoptera: Bethylidae) and its alternative host, the stored product pest *Caulophilus oryzae* (Coleoptera: Curculionidae). Archives of Insect Biochemistry and Physiology. 50: 75–84.
- Hu JS, Gelman DB & Bell RA (2001). In vitro rearing of *Edovum puttleri*, an egg parasitoid of the Colorado potato beetle, from egg to pupal stage in artificial diets devoid of insect sources: Effects of dietary amino acid and carbohydrate levels. *BioControl*. 46: 43-60.
- Hufbauer RA, Bogdanowicz SM & Harrison RG (2004). The population genetics of a biological control introduction: mitochondrial DNA and microsatellite variation in native and introduced populations of *Aphidus ervi*, a parisitoid wasp. *Molecular Ecology*. 13: 337-348.
- Huffaker CB & Messenger PS (1976). Theory and practice of biological control. New York: Academic press.
- Huger AM, Skinner SW & Werren JH (1985). Bacterial infections associated with the son-killer trait in the parasitoid wasp Nasonia (Mormonielia) vitripennis (Hymenoptera, Pteromalidae). Journal of Invertebrate Pathology. 46: 272-280.
- Humphries EL, Hebblethwaite AJ, Batchelor TP & Hardy ICW (2006). The importance of valuing resources: host weight and contender age as determinants of parasitoid wasp contest outcomes. *Animal Behaviour*. 72: 891-898.
- Hunter MS, Nur U, Werren JH (1993). Origin of males by genome loss in an autoparasitoid wasp. *Heredity*. 70: 162–171.
- Hunter P (2007). Dig this. Biomolecular archaeology provides new insights into past civilizations, cultures and practices. *European Molecular Biology Organization Reports.* 8: 215–217.
- Huntingford FA & Turner AK (1987). Animal Conflict. New York: Chapman & Hall.
- Hurst LD (1991). The incidences and evolution of cytoplasmic male killers. *Proceedings* of the Royal Society of London B. 244: 91-99.
- Hurst LD (1993). The incidences and evolution of cytoplasmic sex ratio distorters in animals. *Biological Reviews*. 68: 121-193.
- Hurst GDD, Jiggins FM & Majerus MEN (2003). Inherited microorganisms that selectively kill male hosts: the hidden players in insect evolution? In: Bourtzis K, Miller TA, editors. Insect symbiosis. Boca Raton: CRC Press. pp: 177–197.
- Hsu YY, Earley RL & Wolf LL (2006). Modulation of aggressive behaviour by fighting experience: mechanisms and contest outcomes. *Biological Reviews*. 81: 33-74.

- Husni YK & Honda H (2001). Effects of host pupal age on host preference and host suitability in *Brachymeria lasus* (Hymenoptera:Chalciddidae). Applied Entomology and Zoology. 36: 97-102.
- Ihara F, Toyama M & Sato T (2003). Pathogenicity of *Metarhizium anisopliae* to the chestnut weevil larvae under laboratory and field conditions. *Applied Entomology and Zoology*. 38: 461-465.
- Ikura M, Kay LE & Bax A (1990). A novel approach for sequential assignment of 1H, 13C and 15N spectra of proteins: Heteronuclear tripleresonance threedimensional NMR spectroscopy. Application to calmodulin. *Biochemistry*. 29: 4659–4667.
- Innocent TM, West SA, Sanderson JL, Hyrkkanen N & Reece SE (2011). Lethal combat over limited resources: testing the importance of competitors and kin. *Behavioral Ecology*. 22: 923-931.
- Ives AR (1989). The optimal clutch size of insects when many females oviposit per patch. American Naturalist. 199: 671–687.
- Ivie GW, Bull DL, Beier RC, Pryor NW & Oertli EH (1983). Metabolic detoxification: mechanism of insect resistance to plant psoralens. *Science*. 221: 374–376.
- Jaquiery J, Vogel V & Keller L (2005). Multilevel genetic analyses of two European supercolonies of the Argentine ant, *Linepithema humile*. *Molecular Ecology*. 14: 589–598.
- Jardetzky O & Roberts GCK. 1981. NMR in molecular biology. New York: Academic Press.
- Jarne P & Lagoda PJL (1996). Microsatellites, from molecules to populations and back. Trends in Ecology and Evolution. 11: 424–429.
- Jayaratnam TJ (1941). The bethylid parasite (*Perisierola nephantidis* M.) of the coconut caterpillar (*Nephantis serinopa* Meyr.) *Tropical Agricultural Magazine of* the Ceylon Agricultural Society. 97: 115-125.
- Jennions MD & Backwell PRY (1996). Residency and size affect fight duration and outcome in the fiddler crab Uca annulipes. Biological Journal of the Linnean Society. 57: 293–306.
- Jervis MA (2005). Insects as natural enemies: a practical perspective. Dordrecht: Springer.
- Jervis MA & Copland MJW (1996). The life cycle. In: Jervis MA, Kidd NA, editors. Insect natural enemies: practical approaches to their study and evaluation. London: Chapman & Hall. pp: 63–161.
- Jervis MA & Kidd NA (1986). Host-feeding strategies in hymenopteran parasitoids. Biological Reviews. 61: 395-434.
- Jervis MA, Heimpel GE, Ferns PN, Harvey JA & Kidd NA (2001). Life-history strategies in parasitoid wasps: a comparative analysis of 'ovigeny'. Journal of Animal Ecology. 70: 442–458.

- Jutsum AR, Saunders TS & Cherrett JM (1979). Intraspecific aggression in the leafcutting ant Acromyrmex octospinosus. Animal Behaviour. 27: 839-844.
- Kankare M, Nouhuys S van & Hanski I (2005). Genetic divergence among host-specific cryptic species in Cotesaia melitaearum aggregate (Hymenoptera: Braconidae), parasitoids of checkerspot butterflies. Annals of the Entomological Society of America. 98: 382-394.
- Kapadia MN & Mittal VP (1986). Biology of Parsierola nephantidis Muesebeck and its important in control of Opisina arenosella Walker under Mahuva (Gujart State) conditions. Gujarat Agricultural University Research Journal. 12: 29-34.
- Kapranas A, Hardy ICW, Morse JG & Luck RF (2011). Parasitoid developmental mortality in the field: patterns, causes and consequences for sex ratio and virginity. *Animal Ecology*. 80: 19-203.
- Karsai I, Somogyi K & Hardy ICW (2006). Body size, host choice and sex allocation in a spider hunting pompilid wasp. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society*. 87: 285-296.
- Karst H, Fokkens RH, Haan de N, Heuver G, Hue B, Kruk C, Nibbering NMM, Piek T, Spanjer W & Tong YC (1990). β-philanthotoxin, a novel glutamatergic antagonist for insect neuromuscular transmission. *Comparative Biochemistry* and Physiology Part C: Comparative Pharmacology. 97: 317-327.
- Katabuchi M, Isagi Y & Nakashizuka T (2008). Development of 17 microsatellite markers for Ceratosolen constrictus, the pollinating fig wasp of Ficus fistulosa. *Molecular Ecology Resources*. 8: 840-842.
- Kather R & Martin SJ (2012). Cuticular hydrocarbon profiles as a taxonomic tool: advantages, limitations and technical aspects. *Physiological Entomology*. 37: 25-32.
- Kavallieratos NG, Tomanović Ž, Starý P, Athanassiou CG, Sarlis GP, Petrović O, Niketić M & Anagnou-Veroniki M (2004). A survey of aphid parasitoids (Hymenoptera: Braconidae: Aphidiinae) of Southeastern Europe and their aphid-plant associations. Applied Entomology and Zoology. 39: 527-563.
- Kazmer DJ & Luck RF (1995). Field tests of the size-fitness hypothesis in the egg parasitoid *Trichogramma pretiosum*. *Ecology*. **76**: 412–425.
- Kemp DJ & Alcock JI (2003). Lifetime resource utilization, flight physiology, and the evolution of contest competition in territorial insects. *American Naturalist*. 162: 290-301.
- Keun HC, Ebbels TM, Antti H, Bollard ME, Beckonert O, Schlotterbeck G, Senn H, Niederhauser U, Holmes E & Lindon JC (2002). Analytical reproducibility in H-1 NMR-based metabonomic urinalysis. Chemical Research of Toxicology. 15: 1380–1386.
- Kidd NA & Jervis MA (1991). Host-feeding and oviposition strategies of parasitoids in relation to host stage. *Research Population and Ecology*. 33: 13-28.

- Kidd NA & Jervis MA (2005). Population dynamics. In: Jervis MA, editor. Insects as natural enemies: a practical perspective. Dordrecht: Springer. pp: 504-523.
- King BH (1990). Sex ratio manipulation by the parasitoid wasp *Spalangia cameroni* in response to host age: A test of the host-size model. *Evolutionary Ecology*. 4: 149-156.
- King BH (1993). Sex ratio manipulation by parasitoid wasps. In: Wrench DL, Ebbert MA, editors. Evolution and diversity of sex ratio in insects and mites. New York: Chapman & Hall. pp: 418–441.
- King BH (1998). Host age response in the parasitoid wasp *Spalangia cameroni* (Hymenoptera: Pteromalidae). *Journal of Insect Behaviour*. 11: 103-110.
- Kindlmann P & Ruzicka Z (1992). Possible consequences of a specific interaction between predators and parasites of aphids. *Ecological Modelling*. 61: 253–265.
- Kharbade SB, Chandele AG & Dethe MD (1998). Bio efficacy of *Bacillus thuringiensis* (Berliner) varietal products against *Earias vitella* (Fabricius) on okra. *Pestology*. 22: 8-10.
- Kloda JM, Dean PDG, MacDonald DM & Mayes S (2004). Isolation and characterisation of microsatellite loci in Ononis repens, Leguminosae. Molecular Ecology Notes. 4: 596-598.
- Koidsumi K (1957). Antifungal action of cuticular lipids in insects. Journal of insect physiology. 1: 40-51.
- Kokko H, Lopez-Sepulcre A & Morrell LJ (2006). From hawks and doves to selfconsistent games of territorial behaviour. *American Naturalist*. 167: 901–912.
- Kraaijeveld AR & Godfray HC (2009). Evolution of host resistance and parasitoid counter-resistance. Advances in Parasitology. 70: 257–280.
- Krackow S, Meelis E & Hardy ICW (2002). Analysis of sex ratio variances and sequences of sex allocation. In: Hardy ICW, editor. Sex ratios: concepts and research methods. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. pp: 112–131.
- Krackow S & Neuhäuser M (2008). Insights from complete-incomplete brood sex-ratio disparity. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology*. 62: 469-477.
- Lacey LA, Frutos R, Kaya HK & Vail P (2001). Insect pathogen as biological control agents: do they have a future? *Biological control*. 21: 230-248.
- Lack D (1947). The significance of clutch size. Ibis. 89: 302–352.
- Lahav S, Soroker V, Meer RK vander & Hefetz A (1999). Direct behavloral evidence for hydrocarbons as ant recognition discriminators. *Naturwissenschaften*. 86:246-249.
- Lavandero B & Dominguez M (2010). Isolation and characterization of nine microsatellite loci from Aphelinus mali (Hymenoptera: Aphelinidae), a parasitoid of Eriosoma lanigerum (Hemiptera: Aphididae). Insect Science. 17: 549-552.

- Lavandero B, Figueroa CC, Franck P & Mendez A (2011). Estimating gene flow between refuges and crops: a case study of the biological control of *Eriosoma lanigerum* by *Aphelinus mali* in apple orchards. *PLoS ONE* 6:11.
- Lee HJ (1992). Ovipositional mechanism of an ecto-parasitoid, *Goniozus legneri* Gordh (Hymenoptera: Bethylidae). *Chinese Journal of Entomology*. 12: 193-199.
- Legner EF & Gordh G (1992). Lower navel orangeworm (Lepidopters, Phycitidae) population densities following establishment of *Goniozus legneri* (Hymenoptera, Bethylidae) in California. *Journal of Economic Entomology*. 85: 2153 -2160.
- Legner EF & Silveira-Guido A (1983). Establishment of *Goniozus emigratus* and *Goniozus legneri* (Hym: Bethylidae) on navel orangeworm, *Amyelois transitella* (Lep: Phycitidae) in California and biological control potential. *Entomophaga*. 28: 97-106.
- Legner EF & Warkentin RW (1988). Parasitization of *Goniozus legneri* (Hymenoptera: Bethylidae) at increasing parasite and host *Amyelois transitella* (Lepldoptera: Phycitidae) densities. *Annals of the Entomological Society of America*. 81: 774-776.
- Lehmann T, Besanky NJ, Hawley WA, Fahey TG, Kamau L & Collins FH (1997). Microgeographic structure of *Anopheles gambiae* in western Kenya based on mtDNA and microsatellite loci. *Molecular Ecology*. 6: 243–253.
- Leimar O & Enquist M (1984). Effects of asymmetries in owner intruder conflicts. Journal of Theoretical Biology. 111: 475–491.
- Leimar O, Austad SN & Enquist M (1991). A test of the sequential assessment game fighting in the bowl and doily spider *Frontinella pyramitela*. *Evolution*. 45: 862–874.
- Lenoir A, d'Ettorre P, Errard C & Hefetz A (2001). Chemical ecology and social parasitism in ants. *Annual Review of Entomology*. 46: 573-599.
- Lenteren JC van, Babendreier D, Bigler F, Burgio G, Hokkanen HMT, Kuske S, Loomans AJM, Menzler- Hokkanen I, Rijn PCJ van, Thomas MB, Tommasini MG & Zeng QQ (2003). Environmental risk assessment of exotic natural enemies used in inundative biological control. *BioControl*. 48: 3–38.
- Lenz EM, Hagele BF, Wilson ID & Simpson SJ (2001). High resolution H-1 NMR spectroscopic studies of the composition of the haemolymph of crowd- and solitary-reared nymphs of the desert locust, Schistocerca gregaria. Insect biochemistry and molecular biology. 32: 51-6.
- Liang D & Silverman J (2000). 'You are what you eat': diet modifies cuticular hydrocarbons and nestmate recognition in the Argentine ant Linepithema humile. Naturwissenschaften. 87: 412–416.
- Liebert AE, Sumana A & Starks PT (2005). Diploid males and their triploid offspring in the paper wasp *Polistes dominulus*. *Biology letters*. 1: 200-203.
- Ligout S & Porter H (2003). Social discrimination in lambs: the role of indirect familiarization and methods of assessment. *Animal Behaviour*. 65: 1109-1115.

- Lihoreau M, Zimmer C & Rivault C (2007). Kin recognition and incest avoidance in a group-living insect. *Behavioral Ecology*. 18: 880–887.
- Lindon JC, Nicholson JK, Holmes E, Antti H, Bollard ME, Keun H, Beckonert O, Ebbels TM, Reily MD & Robertson D (2003). Contemporary issues in toxicology the role of metabonomics in toxicology and its evaluation by the COMET project. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*. 187: 137–146.
- Lindström K & Pampoulie C (2005). Effects of resource holding potential and resource value on tenure at nest sites in sand gobies. *Behavioral Ecology*. 16: 70–74.
- Lizé A, Carval D, Cortesero A M, Fournet S & Poinsot D (2006). Kin discrimination and altruism in the larvae of a parasitoid insect. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B*. 273: 2381-2386.
- Lizé A, Cortesero AM, Atlan A & Poinsot D (2007). Kin recognition in Aleochara bilineata could support the kinship theory of genomic imprinting. Genetics. 175: 1735-1740.
- Lizé A, Khidr SK & Hardy ICW (2012). Two components of kin recognition influence parasitoid aggression in resource competition. *Animal Behaviour*. 83: 793-799.
- Lockey KH (1988). Lipids of the insect cuticle: Origin, composition and function. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology - Part B. 89: 595-645.
- Lockey KH (1991). Insect hydrocarbon classes: implications for chemotaxonomy. Insect Biochemistry. 21: 91–97.
- Lo Giudice D, Riedel M, Rostás M, Peri E & Colazza S (2011). Host sex discrimination by an egg parasitoid on *Brassica* leaves. *Journal of Chemical Ecology*. 37: 622-628.
- López OP, Hénaut Y, Cancino J, Lambin M, Cruz-López L & Rojas JC (2009). Is host size an indicator of quality in the mass-reared parasitoid Diachasmimorpha longicaudata (Hymenoptera, Braconidae)? Florida Entomologist. 92: 441-449.
- Lorenzi MC, Bagnères AG, Clément JL & Turillazzi S (1997). *Polistes biglumis bimaculatus* epicuticular hydrocarbons and nestmate recognition (Hymenoptera, Vespidae). *Insectes Sociaux*. 44: 123-138.
- Louda SM, Pemberton RW, Johnson MT & Follett PA (2003). Non-target effects: the Achilles' heel of biological control? Retrospective analyses to reduce risk associated with biocontrol introductions. Annual Review of Entomology. 48: 365-396.
- Loxdale HD & Lushai G (1998). Molecular markers in Entomology. Bulletin of Entomological Research. 88: 577-600.
- Lozier JD, Mills NJ & Roderick GK (2006). Di- and trinucleotide repeat microsatellites for the parasitoid wasp, *Aphidius transcaspicus*. *Molecular Ecology Notes*. 6: 27–29.
- Lozier JD, Roderick GK & Mills NJ (2009). Molecular markers reveal strong geographic, but not host associated, genetic differentiation in *Aphidius transcaspicus*, a
parasitoid of the aphid genus *Hyalopterus*. *Bulletin of Entomological Research*. 99: 83–96.

- Lucas C, Pho DB, Fresneau D, Jallon JM (2005). Role of cuticular hydrocarbons in the chemical recognition between ant species in the *Pachycondyla villosa* species complex. *Journal of Insect Physiology*. 51: 1148–1157.
- Lucas JA (2011). Advances in plant disease and pest management. Journal of Agricultural Science. 149: 91-114.
- Luck RF (1990). Evaluation of natural enemies for biological control: A behavioral approach. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*. 5: 196-199.
- Luck RF, Janssen JM, Pinto JD & Oatman ER (2001). Precise sex allocation, local mate competition, and sex ratio shifts in the parasitoid wasp *Trichogramma pretiosum*. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology. 49: 311-321.
- Luck RF, Podoler H & Kfir R (1982). Host selection and egg allocation behaviour by Aphytis melinus and A. lingnanensis: a comparison of two facultatively gregarious parasitoids. Ecological Entomology. 7: 397-408.
- Luikart G, England PR, Tallmon D, Jordan S & Taberlet P (2003). The power and promise of population genomics: from genotyping to genome typing. *Nature Reviews Genetics*. 4: 981–994.
- Lyla KR, Beevi SP & Venkatesan T (2006). Field evaluation of *Goniozus nephantidis* (Muesebeck) against coconut black-headed caterpillar in Kerala using different release techniques. *Journal of Biological Control.* 20: 33-36.
- Mackauer M, Sequeira R & Otto M (1997). Growth and development in parasitoid wasps: adaptation to variable host resources. In: Dettner K, Bauer G, W Volki W, editors. Vertical food web interactions evolutionary patterns and driving forces. Berlin: Springer-Verlag. pp: 191–203.
- Mangel M, Rosenheim JA & Adler FR (1994). Clutch size, offspring performance, and intergenerational fitness. *Behavioral Ecology*. 5: 412-417.
- Marris GC & Casperd J (1996). The relationship between conspecific superparasitism and the outcome of vitro contests staged between different larval instars of the solitary endoparasitoid Venturia canescens. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology. 39: 61–69.
- Martin SJ & Drijfhout FP (2009). A review of ant cuticular hydrocarbons. Journal of Chemical Ecology. 35: 1151–1161.
- Martin SJ, Vitikainen E, Helantera H & Drijfhout FP (2008). Chemical basis of nestmate discrimination in the ant *Formica exsecta*. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*. 275: 1271–1278.
- Martins WS, Lucas DCS, Fabricio de Souza KN & Bertioli DJ (2009). WebSat. A web software for microsatellite marker development. Bioinformation 3: 282-283. Source code available at http://wsmartins.net/ websat/.

- Mason AC (1996). Territoriality and the function of song in the primitive acoustic insect *Cyphoderris monstrosa* (Orthoptera: Haglidae). *Animal Behaviour.* 51: 211-224.
- Mason PG & Huber JT (2001). Biological control programmes in Canada, 1981-2000. Wallingford: CABI publishing.
- Massart DL, Vandeginste BMG, Deming SN, Michotte Y & Kaufman L (1988). Chemometrics a textbook. Amsterdam: Elsevier.
- Mateo Leach I, Pannebakker BA, Schneider MV, Driessen G, Zande L van de & Beukeboom LW (2009). Thelytoky in Hymenoptera with Venturia canescens and Leptopilina clavipes as case studies. In: Schön I, Dijk P van, Martens K, editors. Lost sex: the evolutionary biology of parathenogenesis. Dordrecht: Springer Science. pp: 347-377.
- Mateo JM & Johnston RE (2003). Kin recognition by self-referent phenotype matching: weighing the evidence. Animal Cognition. 6: 73–76.
- Mateo JM (2004). Recognition systems and biological organization: the perception component of social recognition. *Annales Zoologici Fennici*. 41: 729–745.
- Mateo Leach I, Pannebakker BA, Schneider MV, Driessen G, Zande L van de & Beukeboom LW (2009). Thelytoky in Hymenoptera with Venturia canescens and Leptopilina clavipes as case studies. In: Schön I, Dijk P van, Martens K, editors. Lost sex: the evolutionary biology of parathenogenesis. Dordrecht: Springer Science. pp: 347-377.
- Matsumoto T, Itioka T, Nishida T & Kaneko S (2003). Is one parasitoid enough? A test comparing one with a pair of parasitoid species in the biological control of arrowhead scales. *Population Ecology*. 45: 61–66.
- Mayhew PJ & Godfray HCJ (1997). Mixed sex allocation strategies in a parasitoid wasp. Oecologia. 110: 218-221.
- Mayhew PJ & Hardy ICW (1998). Nonsiblicidal behavior and the evolution of clutch size in bethylid wasps. *American Naturalist*. 151: 409–424.
- Maynard Smith J (1982). Evolution and theory of games. Cambridge. Massachusetts: Cambridge University Press.
- Maynard Smith J & Parker GA (1976). The logic of asymmetric contests. Animal Behaviour. 24: 159–175.
- Maynard Smith J & Price GR (1973). Logic of animal conflict. Nature. 246: 15-18.
- Mazzi D, Hatt F, Hein S & Dorn S (2011). Ladies last: diel rhythmicity of adult emergence in a parasitoid with complementary sex determination. *Physiological Entomology*. 36: 47–53.
- McCoy KD, Boulinier T, Tirard C & Michalakis Y (2001). Host specificity of a generalist parasite: genetic evidence of sympatric host races in seabird tick Ixodes uriae. Journal of Evolutionary Biology. 14: 395-405.

- McCoy ED & Frank JH (2010). How should the risk associated with the introduction of biologicalcontrol agents be estimated? *Agricultural and Forest Entomology*. 12: 1–8.
- McEvoy PB (1996). Host specificity and biological pest control. *BioScience*. 46: 401-405.
- McEvoy PB & Coombs EM (1999). A parsimonious approach to biological control of plant invaders. *Ecological Applications*. 9: 387–401.
- Meer RK vander (1986). Chemical taxonomy as a tool for separating Solenopsis sp. In: Lofgren CS, Meer RK vander, editors. Fire ants and leaf-cutting ants: biology and management. Boulder: Westview Press. pp: 316-326.
- Meer RK vander, Jouvenaz DP & Wojcik DP (1989). Chemical mimicry in a parasitoid (Hymenoptera: Eucharitidae) of fire ants (Hymenoptera: Formicidae). Journal of Chemical Ecology. 15: 2247-2261.
- Meer RK vander & Wojcik DP (1982). Chemical mimicry in the myrmecophilous beetle Myrmecaphodius excavaticollis. Science. 218: 806-808.
- Memmott J (2000). Food webs as a tool for studying nontarget effects in biological control. In: Follett PA, Duan JJ, editors. Nontarget effects of biological control Boston, Massachusetts :Kluwer Academic Publishers. pp: 147–163.
- Menken SBJ (1981). Host races and sympatric speciation in small ermine moths, Yponomeutidae. Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata. 30: 280–292.
- Mesterton-Gibbons M (1992). Ecotypic variation in the asymmetric hawk-dove game: when is bourgeois an evolutionary stable strategy? *Evolutionary Ecology*. 6: 198–222.
- Metzger M, Bernstein C, Hoffmeister TS & Desouhant E (2010). Does kin recognition and sib-mating avoidance limit the risk of genetic incompatibility in a parasitic wasp? *PLoS ONE*, 5, e13505.
- Mikheyev AS, VO T, Wee B, Singer MC & Parmesan C (2010). Rapid microsatellite isolation from a butterfly by de novo transcriptome sequencing: Performance and a comparison with AFLP-derived distances. *PLoS ONE*. 5: e11212.
- Miranda MMM, Picaneo M, Zanuncio JC, Bacci L & Silva EM (2005). Impact of integrated pest management on the population of leafminers, fruit borers, and natural enemies in tomato. *Ciência Rural*. 35: 204 208.
- Mock DW & Parker GA (1997). The evolution of sibling rivalry. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Mohamad R, Monge JP & Goubault M (2010). Can subjective resource value affect aggressiveness and contest outcome in parasitoid wasps? Animal Behaviour. 80: 629-636.
- Mohan C & Shameer KS (2003). Galleria mellonella L. (Lepidoptera: Galleridae) as a new host for Goniozus nephantidis Mues. (Hymenoptera: Bethylidae). Entomon. 28: 169-172.

- Molbo D, Machado CA, Sevenster JG, Keller L & Herre EA (2003). Cryptic species of fig-pollinating wasps: implications for the evolution of the fig-wasp mutualism, sex allocation, and precision of adaptation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 100: 5867-5872.
- Moretti R & Calvitti M (2008). Intrinsic competition between the parasitoids Eretmocerus mundus and Encarsia formosa in Bemisia tabaci. Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata. 129: 44-53.
- Morgan DJW & Cook JM (1994). Extremely precise sex ratios in small clutches of a bethylid wasp. *Oikos*. 71: 423-430.
- Moriwaki N, Matsushita K, Nishina M & Kono Y (2003). High concentrations of trehalose in aphid hemolymph. *Applied Entomology and Zoology*. 38: 241–248.
- Moura S, Ultramari MA, de Paula DML, Yonamine M & Pinto E (2009). 1H NMR determination of b-N-methylamino-L-alanine (L-BMAA) in environmental and biological samples. *Toxicon*. 53: 578-583.
- Murphy ST & Moore D (1990). Biological control of Coffee berry borer, Hypothenemus hampei (Ferrari) (Coleoptera: Scolytidae): Previous programmes and possibilities for the future. Biological News and Information. 11: 107-117.
- Murray MG (1987). The closed environment of the fig receptacle and its influence on male conflict in the Old World fig wasp, *Philotrypesis pilosa*. *Animal Behaviour*. 35: 488–506.
- Myers JH, Higgins C & Kovacs E (1989). How many insect species are necessary for the biological control of insects? *Environmental Entomology*. 18: 541–547.
- Naito T & Suzuki H (1991). Sex determination in the sawfly, Athalia rosae ruficornis (Hymenoptera): occurrence of triploid males. *Heredity*. 82: 101–104.
- Nagelkerke CJ (1996). Discrete clutch sizes, local mate competition, and the evolution of precise sex allocation. *Theoretical Population Biology*. 49: 314-343.
- Nagelkerke CJ & Hardy ICW (1994). The influence of developmental mortality on optimal sex allocation under local mate competition. *Behavioral Ecology*, 5: 401-411.
- Nakamatsu Y & Tanaka T (2004). Venom of *Euplectrus* separatae causes hyperlipidemia by lysis of host fat body cells. *Journal of Insect Physiology*. 50:267-275.
- Napoleon ME & King BH (1999). Offspring sex ratio response to host size in the parasitoid wasp Spalangia endius. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology. 46: 325-332.
- Nash DR, Als TD, Maile R, Jones GR & Boomsma JJ (2008). A mosaic of chemical coevolution in a large blue butterfly. *Science*. 319: 88–90.
- Nehring V, Evison SEF, Santorelli LA, d'Ettorre P & Hughes WHO (2010). Kininformative recognition cues in ants. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*. 278: 1942–1948.

- Netting JF & Hunter MS (2000). Ovicide in the whitefly parasitoid, *Encarsia formosa*. *Animal Behaviour*. 60: 217–226.
- Newey P (2011). Not one odour but two: A new model for nestmate recognition. Journal of Theoretical Biology. 270: 7-12.
- Nicholls JA, Fuentes-Utrilla P, Hayward A, Melika G, Csóka G, Nieves-Aldrey J-L, Pujade-Villar J, Tavakoli M, Schönrogge K & Stone GN (2010). Community impacts of anthropogenic disturbance: natural enemies exploit multiple routes in pursuit of invading herbivore hosts. *BMC Evolutionary Biology*. 10: 322.
- Nicolas G & Sillans D (1989). Immediate and latent effects of carbon dioxide on insects. Annual Review of Entomology. 43: 97-116.
- Nur U, Werren JH, Eickbush DG, Burke WD & Eickbush TH (1988). A 'selfish' Bchromosome that enhances its transmission by eliminating the paternal genome. Science. 240: 512–514.
- Nyabuga F, Loxdale H, Heckel DG & Weisser WW (2010). Spatial population dynamics of a specialist aphid parasitoid, *Lysiphlebus hirticornis* Mackauer (Hymenoptera: Braconidae: Aphidiinae): evidence for philopatry and restricted dispersal. *Heredity*. 105: 433-442.
- Ode PJ (2006). Plant chemistry and natural enemy fitness: effects on herbivore and natural enemy interactions. *Annual Review of Entomology*. 51: 163–185.
- Ode PJ, Antolin MF & Strand MR (1995). Brood-mateavoidance in the parasitic wasp Bracon hebetor Say. Animal Behaviour. 49: 1239–1248.
- Ode PJ, Antolin MF & Strand MR (1998). Differential dispersal and female- biased sex allocation in a parasitic wasp. *Ecological Entomology*. 23: 314-318.
- Ode PJ & Hardy ICW (2008). Parasitoid sex ratios and biological control. In: Wajnberg E, Bernstein C, Alphen JJM van, editors. Behavioral ecology of insect parasitoids: from theoretical approaches to field applications. Oxford: Blackwell Publishing. pp: 253-291.
- Ode PJ & Heinz KM (2002). Host-size dependent sex ratio theory and improving massreared parasitoid sex ratios. *Biological Control*. 24: 31-41.
- Ode PJ & Hunter MS (2002). Sex ratios of parasitic Hymenoptera with unusual lifehistories. In: Hardy ICW, editor. Sex ratios: concepts and research methods. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. pp: 218–234.
- Ode PJ & Rosenheim JA (1998). Sex allocation and the evolutionary transition between solitary and gregarious parasitoid development. *American Naturalist*. 152: 757-761.
- Ode PJ & Strand MR (1995). Progeny and sex allocation of the polyembryonic wasp Copidosoma floridanum. Animal Ecology. 64: 213-224.
- Otto M & Mackauer M (1998). The developmental strategy of an idiobiont ectoparasitoid, *Dendrocerus carpenteri*: influence of variations in host quality on offspring growth and fitness. *Oecologia*. 117: 353–364.

- Ozaki M, Wada-Katsumata A, Fujikawa K, Iwasaki M, Yokohari F, Satoji Y, Nisimura T & Yamaoka R (2005). Ant nestmate and nonnestmate discrimination by a chemosensory sensillum. Science. 309: 311–314.
- Pannebakker BA, Garrido NRT, Zwaan BJ & Alphen JJM van (2008). Geographic variation in host-selection behaviour in the *Drosophila* parasitoid *Leptopilina* clavipes. Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata. 127: 48-54.
- Pannebakker BA, Niehuis O, Hedley A, Gadau J & Shuker DM (2010). The distribution of microsatellites in the Nasonia parasitoid wasp genome. Insect Molecular Biology. 19: 91–98.
- Parker GA (1974). Assessment strategy and the evolution of fighting behaviour. Journal of Theoretical Biology. 47: 223-243.
- Parker GA & Begon M (1986). Optimal egg size and clutch size: effects of environmental and maternal phenotype. *American Naturalist*. 128: 573–592.
- Parkinson NM & Weaver RJ (1999). Noxious components of venom from pupa-specific parasitoid *Pimpla hypochondriaca*. Journal of Invertebrate Pathology. 73: 74-83.
- Payne RJH (1998). Gradually escalating fights and displays: The cumulative assessment model. *Animal Behaviour*. 56: 651–662.
- Payne RJH & Pagel M (1997). Why do animals repeat displays? Animal Behaviour. 54: 109–119.
- Pedersen BS & Mills NJ (2004). Single vs. multiple introduction in biological control: the roles of parasitoid efficiency, antagonism and niche overlap. Applied Ecology. 41: 973–984.
- Pemberton JM, Slate J, Bancroft DR and Barrett JA (1995). Non-amplifying alleles at microsatellite loci: a caution for parentage and population studies. *Molecular Ecology*. 4: 249-252.
- Perera PACR, Hassell MP & Godfray HCJ (1988). Population dynamics of the coconut caterpillar, Opisina arenosella Walker (Lepidoptera: Xyloryctidae), in Sri Lanka. Bulletin of Entomological Research. 78: 479-492.
- Perdereau E, Dedeine F, Christidès JP & Bagnères AG (2010). Variations in worker cuticular hydrocarbons and soldier isoprenoid defensive secretilons within and among introduced and native populations of the subterranean termite, *Reticulitermes flavipes*. Journal of Chemical Ecology. 36: 1189-1198.
- Pérez-Lachaud G, Batchelor TP & Hardy ICW (2004). Wasp eat wasp: facultative hyperparasitism and intra-guild predation by bethylid wasps. *Biological Control*. 30: 149-155.
- Pérez-Lachaud G & Hardy ICW (2001). Alternative hosts for bethylid parasitoids of the coffee berry borer, *Hypothenemus hampel* (Coleoptera: Scolytidae). *Biological Control*. 22: 265-277.

- Peter C & David BV (1991). Observation on the oviposition behaviour of Goniozus sensorious (Hymenoptera: Bethylidae) a parasite of Diaphania Indica (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae). Entomophaga. 36: 403-407.
- Petersen G & Hardy ICW (1996). The importance of being larger parasitoid intruderowner contests and their implications for clutch size. *Animal Behaviour*. 51: 1363-1373.
- Petters RM & Mettus RV (1980). Decreased diploid male viability in the parasitic wasp Bracon hebetor. Heredity. 71: 353-356.
- Pfennig DW, Reeve HK & Shellman JS (1983). Learned component of nestmate discrimination in workers of a social wasp, *Polistes fuscatus* (Hymenoptera: Vespidae). *Animal Behaviour*. 31: 412–416.
- Pfennig DW & Sherman PW (1995). Kin recognition. Scientific American. 272: 98-103.
- Phalaraksh C, Reynolds S T, Wilson I D, Lenz E M, Nicholson J K & Lindon J C (2008). A metabonomic analysis of insect development: ¹H-NMRspectroscopic characterization of changes in the composition of the haemolymph of larvae and pupae of the tobacco hornworm, *Manduca sexta*. *Science Asla*. 34: 279-286.
- Phillips CB, Vink CJ, Blanchet A & Hoelmer KA (2008). Hosts are more important than destinations: what genetic variation in *Microctonus aethiopoides* (Hymenoptera: Braconidae) means for foreign exploration for natural enemies. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution*. 49: 467-476.
- Pimentel D, Andow D, Dyson-Hudson R, Gallahan D, Jacobson S, Irish M, Kroop S, Moss A, Schreiner I, Shepard M, Thompson T & Vinzant B (1980). Environmental and social costs of pesticides: a preliminary assessment. Oikos. 34: 126–140.
- Polaszek A & Krombein KV (1994). The genera of Bethylinae (Hymenoptera, Bethylidae). Journal of Hymenopteran Research. 3: 91-105.
- Prenter J, Elwood RW & Taylor PW (2006). Self-assessment by males during energetically costly contests over precopula females in amphipods. Animal Behaviour. 72: 861–868.
- Pusey A & Wolf M (1996). Inbreeding avoidance in animals. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*. 11: 201-206.
- Queller DC (1994). Genetic relatedness in viscous populations. Evolutionary Ecology. 8: 70-73.
- Queller DC, Strassmann JE & Hughes CR (1993). Microsatellites and kinship. Trends in Ecology and Evolution. 8: 285-288.
- Quicke DLJ (1997). Parasitic wasps. London: Chapman and Hall.
- Quinn GP & Keough MJ (2002). Experimental design and data analysis for biologists. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

- Rahbé Y, Digilio MC, Febvay G, Guillaud J, Fanti P & Pennacchio F (2002). Metabolic and symbiotic interactions in amino acid pools of the pea aphid, Acyrthosiphon pisum, parasitized by the braconid Aphidius ervi. Journal of Insect Physiology. 48: 507-516.
- Rani PU, Kumari SI, Sriramakrishna T & Sudhakar TR (2006). Kairomones extracted from rice yellow stem borer and their influence on egg parasitization by *Trichogramma japonicum* Ashmead. *Journal of chemical ecology*. 33: 59-73.
- Rassmann K, Schlötterer C & Tautz D (1991). Isolation of simplesequence loci for use in polymerase chain reaction-based DNA fingerprinting. *Electrophoresis*. 12: 113-118.
- Ratnieks FLW (1991). The evolution of genetic cue diversity in social Hymenoptera. American Naturalist. 137: 202-226.
- Ratnieks FLW & Keller L (1998). Queen control of egg fertilization in the honey bee. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology. 44: 57–61.
- Reece SE, Shuker DM, Pen I, Duncan AB, Choudhary A, Batchelor CM & West SA (2004). Kin discrimination and sex ratios in a parasitoid wasp. Journal of *Evolutionary Biology*. 17: 208-216.
- Remadevi OK, Mohamed UVK & Abdurahiman UC (1981). Some aspects of the biology of Parasierola *nephantidis* Muesebeck (Hymenoptera, Bethylidae) a larvai parasitoid of *Nephantis serinopa* Meyrick (Lepidoptera, Xylorictidae). Polskie Pismo Entomologiczne. 51: 597–604.
- Renison D, Boersma D & Martella MB (2002). Winning and losing: causes for variability in outcome of fights in male *Magellanic penguins* (Spheniscus megelanicus). *Behavioral Ecology*. 13: 462-466.
- Reynolds ST (1987). The Cuticle, growth and moulting in insects: the essential background to the action of acylurea insecticides. *Pesticide Science*. 20: 131-146.
- Rivero A & West SA (2002). The physiological costs of being small in a parasitic wasp. Evolutionary Ecology Research. 4: 407–420.
- Rivers DB (2004). Evaluation of host responses as means to assess ectoparasitic pteromalid wasp's potential for controlling manure-breeding flies. Biological Control. 30: 181-192.
- Rivers DB & Denlinger DL (1994). Redirection of metabolism in the flesh fly, Sarcophaga bullata, following envenomation by the ectoparasitoid Nasonia vitripennis and correlation of metabolomic effects with the diapause status of the host. Journal of Insect Physiology. 40: 207-215.
- Rivers DB & Denlinger DL (1995). Fecundity and development of the ectoparasitic wasp Nasonia vitripennis are dependent on host quality. Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata. 76: 15-24.
- Rivers DB, Hink WF & Denlinger DL (1993). Toxicity of the venom from Nasonia vitripennis (Hymenoptera: Pteromalidae) toward fly hosts, nontarget insects,

different developmental stages, and cultured insect cells. *Toxicon*. 31: 755-765.

- Robertson DG (2005). Metabonomics in toxicology: a review. *Toxicological Sciences*. 85: 809–822.
- Robertson DG, Watkins PB & Reily MD (2011). Metabolomics in Toxicology: Preclinical and Clinical Applications. *Toxicological Sciences*. 120: S146–S170.
- Ronald P (2011). Plant Genetics, Sustainable Agriculture and Global Food Security. *Genetics*. 188:11-20.
- Ronquist F (1999). Phylogeny of the Hymenoptera (Insecta): the state of the art. *Zoologica Scripta*. 28: 3-11.
- Rosenheim JA, Limburg DD & Colfer RG (1999). Impact of generalist predators on a biological control agent, *Chrysoperla carnea*: direct observations. *Ecological Applications*. 9: 409-417.
- Ross NM & Gamboa GJ (1981). Nestmate discrimination in social wasps (*Polistes metricus*, Hymenoptera: Vespidae). *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology*. 9: 163-165.
- Ross KG, Vargo EL, Keller L & Trager JC (1993). Effect of a founder event on variation in the genetic sex-determining system of the fire ant *Solenopsis invicta*. *Genetics*. 135: 843–854.
- Rousset F, Bouchon D, Pintureau B, Juchault P & Solignac M (1992). Wolbachia endosymbionts responsible for various alterations of sexuality in arthropods. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B. 250: 91-98.
- Rozen S & Skaletsky H (2000). Primer3 on the www for general users and for biologist programmers. Methods in molecular biology. 132: 365-386. Source code available at http://frodo.wi.mit.edu/primer3/.
- Ruf D, Mazzi D & Dorn S (2010). No kin discrimination in female mate choice of a parasitoid with complementary sex determination. *Behavioral Ecology*. 21: 1301-1307.
- Ruiz-Montoya L, Nunez-Farfan J & Vargas J (2003). Host-associated genetic structure of Mexican populations of the cabbage aphid *Brevicoryne brassicae* L. (Homoptera: Aphididae). *Heredity*. 91: 415–421.
- Ruther J, Döring M & Steiner S (2011). Cuticular hydrocarbons as contact sex pheromone in the parasitoid *Dibrachys cavus*. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata*. 140: 59–68.
- Saidemberg DM, da Silva-Filho LC, Tognoli LM, Tormena CF & Palma MS (2010). Polybioside, a neuroactive compound from the venom of the social wasp Polybia paulista. Journal of Natural Products. 73: 527-31.
- Salt G (1961). Competition among insect parasitoids. In: Milthorpe FL, editor. Mechanism in biology competition. Symposia of the Society for Experimental Biology, XV. London: Academic Press. pp: 96–119.

- Sambrook J, Fritsch EF & Maniatis T (1989). Molecular Cloning: A Laboratory Manual, 2nd Edition. New York: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press.
- Sands CJ, Coen M, Maher AD, Ebbels TMD, Holmes E, Lindon JC & Nicholoson JK (2009). Statistical total correlation spectroscopy editing of ¹H NMR spectra of biofluids: Application to drug metabolite profiling identification and enhanced information recovery. *Analytical Chemistry*. 81: 6458-6466.
- Schausberger P (2007). Kin recognition by juvenile predatory mites: prior association or phenotype matching? *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology*. 62: 119–125.
- Schmidt JM (1991). The role of physical factors in tritrophic interactions . *Redia*. 74: 43-93.
- Schuelke M (2000). An economic method for the fluorescent labelling of PCR fragments. *Nature Biotechnology*. 18: 233-234.
- Scott Rc, Schuldiner O & Neufeld TP (2004). Role and regulation of starvation-induced autophagy in the *Drosophila* fat body. *Developmental Cell*. 7: 167-178.
- Segoli M, Keasar T, Harari A R & Bouskila A (2009a). Limited kin discrimination abilities mediate tolerance toward relatives in polyembryonic parasitoid wasps. Behavioral Ecology. 20: 1262-1267.
- Segoli M, Harari AR, Bouskila A & Keasar T (2009b). Brood size in a polyembryonic parasitoid wasp is affected by relatedness among competing larvae. Behavioral *Ecology*. 20: 761-767.
- Selkoe KA & Toonen RJ (2006). Microsatellites for ecologists: A practical guide to using and evaluating microsatellite markers. *Ecology Letters*. 9: 615–629.
- Sforca ML, Oyama Junior S, Canduri F, Lorenzi CCB, Pertinhez TA, Konno K, Souza BM, Palma MS, Ruggiero Neto J, Azevedo Junior WF & Spisni A (2004). How Cterminal carboxyamidation alters the biological activity of peptides from the venom of the eumenine solitary wasp. *Biochemistry*. 43: 5608-5617.
- Shelimann JS & Gamboa GJ (1982). Nestmate discrimination in social wasps: the role of exposure to nest and nestmates (*Polistes fuscatus*, Hymenoptera: Vespidae). *Behavioural Ecology and Sociobiology*. 11: 51–53.
- Shields WM (1993). The natural and unnatural history of inbreeding and outbreeding. In: Thornhill NW, editor. The natural history of inbreeding and outbreeding theoretical and empirical perspectives. Chicago: the University of Chicago Press. pp: 143–169.
- Sigmund K (1993). Games of Life: Explorations in ecology, evolution and behaviour. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Simberloff D (1992). Conservation of pristine habitats and unintended effects of biological control. In: Kauffman WC, Nechols JE, editors. Selection criteria and ecological consequences of importing natural enemies. *Entomological Society of America*. Lanham. Maryland. pp: 103-117.

Singer TL (1998). Roles of hydrocarbons in the recognition systems of insects.

American Zoologist. 38: 394-405.

- Singer TL & Espelie KE (1992). Social wasps use nest paper hydrocarbons for nestmate recognition. *Animal Behaviour*. 44: 63-68.
- Singer TL & Espelie KE (1996). Nest surface hydrocarbons facilitate nestmate recognition for the social wasp, *Polistes metricus* Say (Hymenoptera: Vespidae). *Journal of Insect Behavior*. 9: 857–870.
- Skinner SW (1982). Maternally inherited sex ratio in the parasitoid wasp Nasonia vitripennis. Science. 215: 1133-1134.
- Skinner SW (1985). Clutch size as an optimal foraging problem for insects. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology*. 17: 231–238.
- Skinner SW, Dennis PA & Quistad GB (1990). Partial characterization of toxins from *Goniozus legneri* (Hymenoptera: Bethylidae). *Journal Economic Entomology*. 83: 733-736.
- Smith BH & Breed MD (1995). The chemical basis for nestmate recognition and mate discrimination in social insects. In: Carde RT, Bell WJ, editors. Chemical ecology of insects. New York: Chapman & Hall. pp: 287-317.
- Smith CC & Fretwell SD (1974). The optimal balance between size and number of offspring. *American Naturalist*. 108: 499–506.
- Smith DR, Hardy ICW & Gammell MP (2011). Power rangers: no improvement in the statistical power of analyses published in *Animal Behaviour*. *Animal Behaviour*. 81: 347-352.
- Smith GS, Allison JCS & Pammenter NW (1994). Bio-assay study of response by parasitoid to frass and feeding substrates of its host, the stalk borer Eldana saccharina . Annals of Applied Biology. 125: 439-446.
- Smith HS (1929). Multiple parasitism; its relation to the biological control of insect pests. *Bulletin of Entomological Research*. 20: 141-149.
- Smith RH & Shaw MR (1980). Haplodiploid sex ratios and the mutation rate. *Nature*. 287: 728–729.
- Snyder GB, Finke DL & Synder WE (2008). Predator biodiversity strengthens aphid suppression across single- and multiple-species prey communities. *Biological Control*. 44: 52–60.
- Snyder WE & Ives AR (2001). Generalist predators disrupt biological control by a specialist parasitoid. *Ecology*. 82: 705–716.
- Snyder WE, Snyder GB, Finke GL & Straub CS (2006). Predator biodiversity strengthens herbivore suppression. *Ecology Letters*. 9: 789-796.
- Sorg M (1988). Zur Phylogenie und Systematik der Bethylidae (Insecta: Hymenoptera: Chrysidoidea). Sonderveröff entlichungen des Geologisches Institut der Universität zu Köln. Sonderveröffentlichungen. 63: 1-146.

- Soroker V, Fresneau D & Hefetz A (1998). Formation of colony odor in ponerine ant Pachycondyla apicalis. Journal of Chemical Ecology. 24:1077-1090.
- Sousa JM & Spence RS (2001). Host age and parasitism by *Tiphodytes gerriphagus* (Hymenoptera:Scelionidae), an egg parasitoid of water striders (Heteroptera:Gerridae). *Annals of Entomological society of America* .94: 681-685.

Stearns SC (1992). The evolution of life histories. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

- Steffan SA, Daane KM & Mahr DL (2001). ¹⁵N-enrichment of plant tissue to mark phytophagous insects, associated parasitoids, and flower-visiting entomophaga. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata*. 98: 173-180.
- Steiner S, Hermann N & Ruther J (2006). Characterization of a female-produced courtship pheromone in the parasitoid *Nasonia vitripennis*. *Journal of Chemical Ecology*. 32: 1687 -1702.
- Stiling P & Simberloff D (1999). The frequency and strength of nontarget effects of invertebrate biological control agents of plant pests and weeds. In: Follett PA, Duan JJ, editors. Nontarget effects of biological control. Boston: Kluwer Academic Publishers. PP: 31–43.
- Stireman JO, Nason JD, Heard S & Seehawer JM (2006). Cascading host-associated genetic differentiation in parasitoids of phytophagous insects. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B*. 273: 523–530.
- Stokkebo S & Hardy ICW (2000). The importance of being gravid: egg load and contest outcome in a parasitoid wasp. *Animal Behaviour*. 59: 1111-1118.
- Stouthamer R, Breeuwer JAJ, Luck RF & Werren JH (1993). Molecular identifcation of microorganisms associated with parthenogenesis. *Nature*. 361: 66-68.
- Stouthamer R & Kazmer DJ (1994). Cytogenetics of microbe-associated parthenogenesis and its consequences for gene flow in *Trichogramma* wasps. *Heredity*. 73: 317-327.
- Stouthamer R, Luck RF & Hamilton WD (1990). Antiobiotics cause parthenogenetic *Trichogramma* (Hymenoptera: Trichogrammatidae) to revert to sex. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of USA*. 87: 2424-2427.
- Stouthamer R, Luck RF & Werren JH (1992). Genetics of sex determination and improvement of biological control using parasitoids. *Environmental Entomology*. 21: 427-435.
- Stouthamer R, Breeuwer JAJ & Hurst GDD (1999). Wolbachia pipientis: microbial manipulator of arthropod reproduction. Annual Review of Microbiology. 53: 71–102.
- Stouthamer R, Tilborg M van, de Jong J H, Nunney L & Luck RF (2001). Selfish element maintains sex in natural populations of a parasitoid wasp. *Proceedings* of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences. 268: 617–622.

- Strand MR (1989). Oviposition behavior and progeny allocation of the polyembryonic wasp *Copidosoma floridanum* (Hymenoptera: Encyrtidae). *Journal of Insect Behavior*. 2: 355–370.
- Strand MR & Casas J (2008). Parasitoid and host nutritional physiology in behavioral ecology. In: Wajnberg E, Bernstein C, Alphen JJM van, editors. Behavioral ecology of insect parasitoids: from theoretical approaches to field applications. Oxford: Blackwell Publishing. pp: 113-128.
- Stuart-Fox D (2006). Testing game theory models: fighting ability and decision rules in chameleon contests. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences*. 273: 1555–1561.
- Subaharan K & Ravindran P (2009). Leaf eating caterpillar a menace to coconut cultivation. *Indian Coconut Journal*. 11: 2-3.
- Sullivan DJ (1987). Insect hyperparasitism. Annual Review of Entomology. 32: 49-70.
- Sullivan BT (2002). Evidence for a sex pheromone in bark beetle parasitoid *Roptrocerus xylophagorum. Journal of Chemical Ecology.* 28: 1045-1063.
- Sumner LW, Mendes P & Dixon RA (2003). Plant metabolomics: Large-scale phytochemistry in the functional genomics era. *Phtyochemistry*. 62: 817–836.
- Sunnucks P (2000). Efficient genetic markers for population biology. *Trends in Ecology* and Evolution. 15: 199–203.
- Suzuki Y, Tsuji H & Sasakawa M (1984). Sex allocation and effects of superparasitism on secondary sex ratios in the gregarious parasitoid, *Trichogramma chilonis* (Hymenoptera: Trichogrammatidae). *Animal Behaviour*. 32: 478–484.
- Syvertsen TC, Jackson LL, Blomquist GJ & Vinson SB (1995). Alkadienes mediating courtship in the parasitoid *Cardiochiles nigriceps* (Hymenoptera: Braconidae). *Chemical Ecology*, 21: 1971-1989.
- Takasu K & Lewis WJ (1995). Importance of adult food sources to host searching of the larval parasitoid *Microplitis croceipes*. *Biological Control*. 5: 25–30.
- Tautz D (1989). Hypervariability of simple sequences as a general source for polymorphic DNA markers. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 17: 6463–6471.
- Tautz D. & Renz M (1984). Simple sequences are ubiquitous repetitive components of eukaryotic genomes. *Nucleic Acids Research*. 12: 4127-4138.
- Taylor PD (1981). Intra-sex and inter-sex sibling interactions as sex determinants. *Nature*. 291: 64–66.
- Taylor PD (1992). Altruism in viscous populations—an inclusive fitness model. Evolutionary Ecology. 6: 352-356.
- Taylor PW, Hasson O & Clark DL (2001). Initiation and resolution of jumping spider contests: Roles for size, proximity, and early detection of rivals. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology*. 50: 403–413.

- Taylor PW & Elwood RW (2003). The mismeasure of animal contests. Animal Behaviour. 65: 1195-1202.
- Teague CR, Dhabhar FS, Barton RH, Beckwith-Hall B, Powell J, Cobain M, Singer B, McEwen BS, Lindon JC, Nicholson JK & Holmes E (2007). Metabonomic studies on the physiological effects of acute and chronic psychological stress in Sprague-Dawley rats. *Journal of proteome research*. 6: 2080-2093.
- Thiel A & Hoffmeister TS (2009). Decision-making dynamics in parasitoids of Drosophila. Advances in Parasitology. 70: 45–66.
- Thomas MB & Willis AJ (1998). Biocontrol risky but necessary? *Trends in Ecology and Evolution.* 13: 325-329.
- Thomas ML & Simmons LW (2008). Cuticular hydrocarbons are heritable in the cricket *Teleogryllus oceanicus. Journal of Evolutionary Biology.* 21: 801-806.
- Thompson JN (1994). The coevolutionary process. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Thompson SN (1979). Effect of dietary glucose on invivo fatty-acid metabolism and invitro synthetase-activity in the insect parasite, *Exeristes roborator* (Fabricius). *Insect Biochemistry*. 9: 645-651.
- Thompson SN (1981). Brachymeria lasus: culture in vitro of a chalcid insect parasite. Experimental Parasitology. 52: 414-418.
- Thompson SN (1990). NMR spectroscopy: its basis, biological application and use in studies of insect metabolism. *Insect Biochemistry*. 20: 223-237.
- Thompson SN (2001). Parasitism enhances the induction of glucogenesis by the insect, *Manduca sexta* L. *International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology*. 33: 163-173.
- Thompson SN & Dahlman DL (1998). Aberrant nutritional regulation of carbohydrate synthesis by parasitized *Manduca sexta*. Journal of Insect Physiology. 44: 745-753.
- Toth G, Gaspari Z & Jurka J (2000). Microsatellites in different eukaryotic genomes: survey and analysis. *Genome Research*. 10: 967-981.
- Tram U, Fredrick K, Werren JH & Sullivan W (2006). Paternal chromosome segregation during the first mitotic division determines *Wolbachia*-induced cytoplasmic incompatibility phenotype. *Journal of Cell Science*. 119: 3655-3663.
- Trindl A, Heinze J & d'Ettorre P (2004). Isolation and characterization of five microsatellite loci in the ponerine ant *Pachycondyla inversa* (Hymenoptera, Formicidae). *Molecular Ecoogyl Notes*. 4: 583-585.
- Trivedi A, Kaushik P, Pandey A (2010). Identification and metabolite profiling of Sitophilus oryzae L. by 1D and 2D NMR Spectroscopy. Bulletin of Entomological Research. 100: 287-296.

- Tsutsui ND, Suarez AV & Grosberg RK (2003). Genetic diversity, asymmetrical aggression, and cooperation in a widespread invasive species. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA*. 100: 1078–1083.
- Tudge C (1998). Neanderthals, bandits and farmers: how agriculture really began: Yale university press.
- Turlings TC, Loughrin JH, McCall PJ, Roese US, Lewis WJ & Tumlinson JH (1995). How caterpillar-damaged plants protect themselves by attracting parasitic wasps. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of USA*. 92: 4164-4168.
- Ueno T (2004). Offspring performance in the pupal parasitoid Pimpla (=Coccygomimus) luctuosa (Hymenoptera:Ichneumonidae) as influenced by host age and size. Journal of Faculty of Agriculture Kyushu University. 49: 321-329.
- Ueno T & Tanaka T (1997). Comparison between primary and secondary sex ratios in parasitoid wasps using a method for observing chromosomes. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata*. 82: 105–108.
- Ugelvig LV, Drijfhout FP, Kronauer DJC, Boomsma JJ, Pedersen JS & Cremer S (2008). The introduction history of invasive garden ants in Europe: integrating genetic, chemical and behavioural approaches. *BMC Biology*. 6: 11.
- Unruh TR, Gordh G & Gonzalez D (1984). Electrophoretic studies on parasitic Hymenoptera and implications for biological control. *International Congress of Entomology Proceedings*. 17: 705.
- Uva P, Clément JL & Bagnères AG (2004). Colonial and geographical variations in agonistic behaviour, cuticular hydrocarbons and mtDNA of Italian populations of *Reticulitermes lucifugus* (Isoptera, Rhinotermitidae). *Insect Sociaux*, 51:163-170.
- Vanlerberghe-Masutti F & Chavigny P (1997). Characterization of a microsatellite locus in the parasitoid wasp *Aphelinus abdominalis* (Hymenoptera: Aphelinidae). *Bulletin of Entomological Research*. 87: 313–318.
- Venkatesan T, Jalali SK, Murthy KS, Rabindra RJ & Rao NS (2004). Comparative life table studies of *Goniozus nephantidis* (Muesbeck) (Hymenoptera: Bethylldae) on three lepidopteran insect pests. *Annals of Plant Protection Sciences*. 12: 5-8.
- Venkatesan T, Jalali SK & Srinivasamurthy K (2009). Competitive interactions between Goniozus nephantidis and Bracon brevicornis, parasitoids of the coconut pest Opisina arenosella. International Journal of Pest Management. 55: 257-263.
- Venkatesan T, Jalali SK, Srinivasmurthy K, Rabindra RJ & Dasan CB (2007). Economics of production of Goniozus nephantidis (Muesebeck), an important parasitoid of coconut black-headed caterpillar, Opisina arenosella (Walker) for bio-factories. Journal of Biological Control. 21: 53-58.

- Vet LEM, Datema A, Janssen A & Snellen H (1994). Clutch size in a larval-pupal endoparasitoid: consequences for fitness. *Journal of Animal Ecology*. 63: 807–815.
- Vidal R, Penaloza C, Urzua R & Toro JE (2009). Screening of ESTs from *Mytilus* for the detection of SSR markers in *Mytilus californianus*. *Molecular Ecology Resources*. 9: 1409-1411.

Vinson SB (1991). Chemical signals used by parasitoids. Redia. 74: 15-42.

- Vinson SB, Pennacchio F & Consoli FL (2001). The parasitoid-host endocrine interaction from a nutritional perspective. In: Edwards JP, RJ Weaver RJ, editors. Endocrine interactions of insect parasites and pathogens. Oxford: BIOS Scientific Publishers. pp: 187-206.
- Vogler AP & Desalle R (1993). Phylogeographic patterns in coastal North American tiger beetles (*Cicindela dorsalis* Say) inferred from mitochondrial DNA sequences. *Evolution*. 47: 1192-1202.
- Waage JK (2001). Indirect ecological effects of biological control: the challenge and the opportunity. In: Wajnberg E, Scott JK, Quimby PC, editors. Evaluating indirect ecological effects of biological control. Wallingford: CABI Publishing. pp: 1-12.
- Waage JK & Godfray HCJ (1985). Reproductive strategies and population ecology of insect parasitoids. In: Sibley RM, Smith RH, editors. Behavioural ecology: ecological consequences of adaptive behaviour. Oxford: Blackwell Scientific Publications. pp: 449–470.
- Wajnberg E, Bernstein C & Alphen JJM van (2008). Behavioral ecology of insect parasitoids: from theoretical approaches to field applications. Oxford: Blackwell Publishing.
- Wajnberg E & Hassan SA (1994). Biological control with egg parasitoids. Wallingford: CABI publishing.
- Waldman B (1987). Mechanisms of kin recognition. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*. 128: 159-185.
- Waldman B (1988). The ecology of kin recognition. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics. 19: 543–571.
- Walter GH (1983). Differences in host relationships between male and female heteronomous parasitoids (Aphelinidae: Chalcidoidea): a review of host location, oviposition and pre-imaginal physiology and morphology. Journal of the Entomological Society of Southern Africa. 46: 261-282.
- Wang XG & Liu SS (2002). Effects of host age on the performance of *Diadromus* collaris, a pupal parasitoid of *Plutella xylostella*. *Biocontrol*. 47: 293–307.
- Warton DI & Hui FKC (2011). The arcsine is asinine: the analysis of proportions in ecology. *Ecology*. 92: 3-10.

- Watt KEF (1965). Community stability and the strategy of biological control. *Canadian Entomologist.* 97: 887–895.
- Wells MS (1988). Effects of body size and resource value on fighting behaviour in a jumping spider. *Animal Behaviour*. 36: 321–326.
- Wen B & Brower JH (1995). Competition between Anisopteromalus calandrae and Choetospila elegans (Hymenoptera: Pteromalidae) at different parasitoid densities on immature rice weevils (Coleoptera: Curculionidae) in wheat. Biological Control. 5: 151–157.
- Werren JH, Nur U & Eickbush D (1987). An extrachromosomal factor which causes loss of paternal chromosomes. *Nature*. 327: 75-76.
- Werren JH & O'Neill SL (1997). The evolution of heritable symbionts. In: O'Neill SL, Hoffman AA, Werren JH, editors. Influential passengers. New York: Oxford University Press. pp: 1–41.
- Werren JH & Stouthamer R (2003). PSR (paternal sex ratio) chromosomes: the ultimate selfish genetic elements. *Genetica*. 117: 85-101.
- West SA (2009). Sex allocation. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- West SA, Flanagan KE & Godfray HCJ (1996). The relationship between parasitoid size and fitness in the field, a study of Achrysocharoides zwoelferi (Hymenoptera: Eulophidae). Journal of Animal Ecology. 65: 631–639.
- West SA, Murray MG, Machado CA, Griffin AS & Herre EA (2001). Testing Hamilton's rule with competition between relatives. *Nature*. 409: 510-513.
- West SA, Pen I & Griffin AS (2002). Cooperation and competition between relatives. Science. 296: 72-75.
- Whiting PW (1939). Sex determination and reproductive economy in Habrobracon. *Genetics*. 28: 365-382.
- Whiting PW (1943). Multiple alleles in complementary sex determination of Habrobracon. *Genetics*. 28: 365–382.
- Whiting AR (1961). Genetics of Habrobracon. Advances in Genetics. 10: 333-406.
- Whittaker JC, Harbord RM, Boxall N, Mackay I, Dawson G & Sibly RM (2003). Likelihood-based estimation of microsatellite mutation rates. *Genetics*. 164: 781–787.
- Widarto HT, Meijden Ed van der, Lefeber AWM, Erkelens C, Kim HK, Choi YH & Verpoorte R (2006). Metabolomic differentiation of *Brassica rapa* following herbivory by different insect instars using two dimensional nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy. *Chemical Ecology*. 32: 2417-2428.
- Wilby A, Villareal SC, Lan LP, Heong KL & Thomas MB (2005). Functional benefits of predator species diversity depend on prey identity. *Ecological Entomology*. 30: 497-501.

- Wilgenburg E van, Driessen G & Beukeboom L (2006). Single locus complementary sex determination in Hymenoptera: an 'unintelligent' design? *Frontiers in Zoology*. 3: 1-15.
- Wilgenburg E van, Felden A, Choe DH, Sulc R, Luo J, Shea KJ, Elgar MA & Tsutsul ND (2012). Learning and discrimination of cuticular hydrocarbons in a social insect. *Biology Letters*. 8: 17–20.
- Wilson K & Hardy ICW (2002). Statistical analysis of sex ratios: an introduction. In: Hardy ICW, editor. Sex ratios: concepts and research methods. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. pp: 48-92.
- Wilson EO (1975). Sociobiology: The New Synthesis. Cambridge. Massachusetts: Harvard University Press.
- Wilson K (1994). Evolution of clutch size in insects. II. A test of static optimality models using the beetle, *Callosobruchus maculates* (Coleoptera: Bruchidae). *Journal of Evolutionary Bioogyl.* 7: 365-386.
- Wilson K & Lessells CM (1994). Evolution of clutch size in insects.1. A review of static optimality models. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*. 7: 339–363.
- Wright EJ & Kerr JD (1988). Host/parasitoid interactions and relative suitabilities of two host species for the soft scale parasitoid *Encrytus saliens*. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata*. 48: 51-59.
- Wu Z, Hopper KR, Ode PJ, Fuester RW, Chen J & Heimpel GE (2003). Complementary sex determination in hymenopteran parasitoids and its implications for biological control. *Entomologia Sinica*. 10: 81–93.
- Wu Z, Hopper KR, O'Neil RJ, Voegtlin DJ, Prokrym DR & Heimpel GE (2004). Reproductive compatibility and genetic variation between two strains of Aphelinus albipodus (Hymenoptera: Aphelinidae), a parasitoid of the soybean aphid, Aphis glycines (Homoptera: Aphididae). Biological Control. 31: 311– 319.
- Xu X, Peng M, Fang Z & Xu X (2000). The direction of microsatellite mutations is dependent upon allele length. *Nature Genetics*. 24: 396-399.
- Yamada YY & Kawamura M (1999). Sex identification of eggs of a dryinid parasitoid, Haplogonatopus atratus, based on oviposition behaviour. Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata. 93: 321–324.
- Yazgan S (1972). A chemically defined synthetic diet and larval nutritional requirements of the endoparasitoid *Itoplectis conquisitor* (Hymenoptera). *Journal of Insect Physiology*, 18: 2123-2141.
- Zane L, Bargelloni L & Patarnello T (2002). Strategies for microsatellite isolation: a review. *Molecular Ecology*. 11: 1-16.
- Zaviezo T & Mills N (2000). Factors influencing the evolution of clutch size in a gregarious insect parasitoid. *Journal of Animal Ecology*. 69: 1047-1057.

- Zaviezo T, Romero A, Castro D & Wagner A (2007). First record of *Goniozus legneri* (Hymenoptera: Bethylidae) in Chile. *Ciencia e Investigación Agraria*. 34: 49-52.
- Zavodna M, Arens PFP, Vosman B, Dijk PJ van & Damme JMM van (2002). Development and characterization of microsatellite markers for Liporrhopalum tentacularis Grandi, the pollinator fig wasp of Ficus montana Blume. Molecular Ecology Notes. 2: 569–571.
- Zavodna M, Arens P, Dijk PJ van, Partomihardjo T, vosman B & Damme JM van (2005). Pollinating fig wasps: genetic consequences of island recolonization. Journal of Evolutionary Biology. 18: 1234–1243.
- Zeigler RS & Mohanty S (2010). Support for international agricultural research: current status and future challenges. *New Biotechnology*. 27: 565-572.
- Zhou Y, Gu H & Dorn S (2005). Polymorphic microsatellite loci in the parasitic wasp *Cotesia glomerata* (Hymenoptera: Braconidae). *Molecular Ecology Notes.* 5: 475–477.
- Zhou Y, Gu H & Dorn S (2006). Single-locus sex determination in the parasitoid wasp Cotesia glomerata (Hymenoptera: Braconidae). Heredity. 96: 487–492.
- Zink RM (2002). Methods in comparative phylogeography, and their application to studying evolution in the North American Aridlands. *Integrative and Comparative Biology*. 42: 953-959.
- Zygouridis NE, Augustinos AA, Zalom FG & Mathiopoulos KD (2009). Analysis of olive fly invasion in California based on microsatellite markers. *Heredity*. 102: 402-412.